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COMPANY HISTORY
NAEIF=

In 1977, the family of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late founder and chairman of the Group,
acquired the equity interest of Hong Kong Resort Company Limited (“Hong Kong
Resort”) which is the registered owner and developer of Discovery Bay on Lantau
Island. The shares of Hong Kong Resort and the other Group company currently
named HKR Properties Limited were once listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited in 1987 and in 1988 and 1989 respectively. During the years 1988 and
1989, the Group underwent a series of reorganisation and scheme of arrangement
and formed HKR International Limited (“the Company”) in May 1989 as its new listed
holding company carrying on principally real estate development and other related

businesses. Today, the Company is a constituent of the Hang Seng Composite Index
Series under the stock code of 480.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
FERERE

MAY & H

Chelsea Residence in
Shanghai was launched
for strata-title sale and was
snapped up by buyers.

TEEBREE_REHBHE
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Le Bleu Deux in Tung
Chung was completed. The
524-unit project was sold
out at an average price of
HK$5,982 per square foot
GFA.
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The Sentosa Resort & Spa in Singapore
won the “Best Asia Pacific Hotel” and
the “Best Hotel, Singapore (5 Stars)” in
the “Asia Pacific Commercial Property
Awards 2009”.

i A #7103 #The Sentosa Resort
& Spaft [Asia Pacific Commercial
Property Awards 2009] A& 15 [ Best
Asia Pacific Hotell 1 [Best Hotel,
Singapore (5 Stars) | FIIBZLZE ©
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JULY €A

The Sukhothai Residences in Bangkok won the “Best
High-rise Development, Thailand (5 Stars)”, “Best Interior
Design, Thailand (5 Stars)” and “Best Asia Pacific High-
rise Development” in the “Asia Pacific Residential Property
Awards 2009”.

RS The Sukhothai Residences?E [Asia Pacific
Residential Property Awards 2009 |F ES =I5 A 4#E - 1%
[ Best High-rise Development, Thailand (5 Stars)] * [ Best
Interior Design, Thailand (5 Stars)| }z [Best Asia Pacific
High-rise Development ] °
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The Group entered into an agreement to purchase a 94-
unit apartment building and an attached building for vehicle
parking spaces in Akasaka of Tokyo for investment purpose.
The transaction was completed in May 2010.
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Resettlement works of the
Dazhongli project in Jingan
district of Shanghai were
basically completed while

: " 4 historical building within

the site was successfully
relocated.
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The up-market lifestyle
shopping centre in Yi
Pak of Discovery Bay
has begun to serve the
community.
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The Group’s healthcare subsidiary GenRx Holdings Limited disposed of
Arrail Dental, its Mainland dental operation, for a profit of HK$74.4 million.

SEETNE2ERRERBOMNEQRRNERRE - HEEAMITH
XTS5 AHN 744058 T
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

FERE

| have pleasure in presenting the Annual Report
of HKR International Limited (“the Group”) for
the Financial Year 2009/2010 (“the year”).

Markets around the world have yet to fully
recover from the financial tsunami though
there are signs of recovery. With lingering
uncertainties, the year presented both
opportunities and challenges to the Group. And
we managed to ride the tide of change and
achieved solid progress.

FINANCIALS

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year was HK$1,841.4 million and earnings
per share were HK$1.36, compared to a loss of
HK$224.1 million and loss per share of HK17
cents in 2008/2009. Turnover for the year
was HK$1,839.8 million, 29% lower than the
HK$2,593.7 million in the previous year. As
of 31 March 2010, the net asset value of the
Group stood at HK$11,634.8 million (HK$8.6
per share), up 20% from last year's HK$9,698.4
million (HK$7.2 per share).

The Board of Directors has recommended a final
dividend of HK12 cents per share for the year.
Together with the interim dividend of HK6 cents

per share, the total dividend amounted to HK18
cents per share for the year. In 2008/2009, the
Group did not declare any dividend.

SOLID PROGRESS

During the year, we bolstered our operations
across Asia, reinforced our leading positions in
various sectors, and strengthened our business
presence in new markets.

Hong Kong remains our core market. Following
the successful launch of Le Bleu Deux in Tung
Chung in 2008, the Group has focused on the
development of Discovery Bay and has continued
to add values to this evolving flagship project.

A new up-market lifestyle shopping centre in
Yi Pak of Discovery Bay has started serving
the community since March 2010, bringing
a refreshing shopping experience and added
convenience to residents and visitors. We
have also proposed a strictly controlled taxi
service for Discovery Bay to further enhance its
accessibility. While the community continues to
mature, evolve and thrive, construction works of
Phase 14 of Discovery Bay are underway. Sales
launch of the three mid-rise blocks is planned for
early 2011.



Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
Chairman
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The Group has full confidence in the economy
of Mainland China. In Shanghai, our world-class
mixed-use commercial project in Dazhongli
of the Jingan district (“Dazhongli project”)
achieved several key milestones during the year.
Resettlement works were basically completed
and a historical building within the site was
successfully relocated. General foundation works
are planned to commence in early 2011. The
Dazhongli project, expected to be completed in
phases from 2014 onward, would enable the
Group to share the long-term growth of Shanghai
and the Mainland market.

Meanwhile, Chelsea Residence, formerly
the Group’s wholly-owned deluxe serviced
apartments in Shanghai, attracted keen market
response when it was offered for strata-title sale
in May 2009 and was almost sold out.

In Thailand, construction works of the ultra-
luxury 41-storey Sukhothai Residences in
Bangkok were progressing well. This new
landmark project is targeted for completion in
2011.

Across Asia, the Group’s hotels, serviced
apartments and spas continued to welcome
international guests despite a drop in patronage
due to Thailand’s political situation and the
outbreak of human swine influenza. And their
unparalleled services and exceptional facilities
also earned them international and regional
accolades.

We also see opportunities in Japan. Apart from
the DIA Palace Il in Sapporo purchased in
2008, in March 2010, the Group entered into an
agreement to acquire an apartment building and
an attached building of parking spaces in Akasaka
of Tokyo for investment purpose. The transaction
was completed in May 2010 and the Group is
establishing a stronger foothold in Japan.

During the year, the Group’s wholly-owned
healthcare subsidiary GenRx Holdings Limited
(“GenRx") continued to increase its turnover.
GenRx will seek to maintain its leading position
in the premium healthcare and dental service
sectors in Asia.

OUTLOOK

With market sentiment improving, liquidity
easing and the local property market reviving,
the Group will develop and launch new projects
in a dynamic, yet meticulous, manner so as
to create values and maximise returns for our
shareholders. In the meantime, we will also
try our best to raise efficiency, control costs,
leverage on our core competence and brand
equity, and strategically make entrance to new
markets, with a view to exploring and capturing
new opportunities in the Mainland and other
Asian markets.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank
all our Board Directors for their wise counsel
over the years, our business partners for their
unfailing support, all shareholders for their trust
in the Group, and all staff for their dedication
and hard work. With a tradition of business
prudence and novelty, an increasingly diverse
and international operations and an expanding
market presence across Asia, the Group is well-
positioned to take advantage of an eventual
global recovery and reach new highs!

QuectpeeAA——

CHA Mou Sing Payson

Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 June 2010
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Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

BERERESAEESRKRTE




ANNUAL REPORT 2009/2010 4F

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

The Financial Year 2009/2010 is an eventful
and rewarding year as we accomplished key
milestones for various projects. Focusing on our
core strength, we continuously enhanced our
operations, products, services, as well as assets
across Asia, delivering quality and creating
values for our customers and shareholders.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The property market in Hong Kong has picked
up again since 2009. With the brands of “HKR
International Limited” and “Hong Kong Resort”
being seen as a seal of quality, most of the
Group’s remaining units in Chianti, Phase 13 of
Discovery Bay, and Le Bleu Deux, Phase 4 of
Coastal Skyline in Tung Chung, were snapped
up by buyers during the year. The 530-unit
development of Chianti was almost sold out at an
average price of HK$6,452 per square foot GFA
while the 524-unit Le Bleu Deux was sold out at
HK$5,982 per square foot GFA.

The Group is gearing up for the sales launch of
Phase 14 of Discovery Bay, planned for early
2011. The project comprises three mid-rise
blocks with a size of about 168,000 square feet
GFA and will bring about 160 new homes to
Discovery Bay.

BEEAKIERE
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The up-market lifestyle shopping centre in Yi Pak
has served the community since March 2010
and marked a new chapter in the development
of Discovery Bay. With new and trendy shopping
and dining outlets, complemented by a nearby
community hall and a transport interchange, the
shopping centre would provide a new oceanfront
rendezvous for residents and visitors.

Evolution of Discovery Bay continued as we
applied to the Government for the introduction
of a strictly controlled taxi service. If approved,
the proposal would make Discovery Bay, already
served by 24-hour ferry and bus services, even
more accessible. Meanwhile, construction and
interior fitting-out works for the conference
and resort hotel in Discovery Bay has resumed
and are targeted for completion in late 2011.
The Group is now closely monitoring market
development with a view to commencing the
hotel business in Discovery Bay.

In June 2010, the unique and innovative
development of Discovery Bay won Hong
Kong Resort Company Limited, the Group’s
50%-owned subsidiary, “CAPITAL The Best
Developer Awards — Urban Design & Master
Planning”.

The Group achieved encouraging results in
Mainland China during the year. Resettlement
works of the Dazhongli project were basically
completed and we target to secure the Land Title
Certificates after clearance of the site. A historical
building within the site was also relocated and
general foundation works of the Dazhongli
project are planned to commence in early 2011.
This world-class mixed-use commercial project
comprising large-scale offices, hotels, and retail

facilities is scheduled to be completed in phases
from 2014 onward, allowing the Group to benefit
from the long-term growth of the Mainland
economy.

Chelsea Residence, formerly the Group’s
wholly-owned deluxe serviced apartments in
Shanghai, was launched for strata-title sales
in May 2009. With its supreme location and
unbeatable quality, Chelsea Residence attracted
enthusiastic market response with 110 of its
116 units (about 95%) sold already, at an
average price of RMB57,723 per square metre
GFA (approximately HK$6,100 per square foot
GFA). Together with the 115 car parking spaces
sold, Chelsea Residence fetched a total of
about RMB1.18 billion (approximately HK$1.34
billion).

In Thailand, construction works of The
Sukhothai Residences, an ultra-luxury 41-storey
condominium tower, were progressing well. So
far, 139 out of the 196 units available have been
sold at an average price of Thai Baht 226,493
per square metre (approximately HK$5,100 per
square foot) and the remaining units would be
launched when the project completes in 2011.

The remarkable building and design quality of
The Sukhothai Residences has not only set new
standards for the industry, but also won the
project a number of prestigious awards such as
the “Best Asia Pacific High-rise Development”
in the “Asia Pacific Residential Property Awards
2009".

In Singapore, Beaufort on Nassim, the luxury
low-rise development completed in 2008, was
also sold out. It was given the Certificate of
Statutory Completion in April 2009.
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The Group continued to explore and capture
new opportunities and growth potential in
Japan. DIA Palace Il in Sapporo, a 39-unit en
bloc residential building acquired by the Group
in 2008, recorded an average occupancy
rate of 96% during the year and generated
a stable recurrent rental income. In March
2010, the Group entered into an agreement
to purchase a 94-unit apartment building and
an attached building for 54 vehicle parking
spaces in Akasaka of Tokyo. With the transaction
completed in May 2010, the property will be held
for investment purpose.

Despite recording lower occupancy rates due
to the political instability in Thailand and the
outbreak of human swine influenza during the
year, our hotels in Asia, including The Sukhothai
hotel and Siri Sathorn serviced residences in
Bangkok and The Sentosa Resort & Spa in
Singapore, continued to deliver outstanding
services to our guests from around the world
and won regional and international acclaims.
For example, The Sukhothai hotel was cited for
excellence as a “Top 25 Hotel in Asia” by the
on-line travel magazine SmartTravelAsia.Com in
2009.

Business of the Group’s wholly-owned
healthcare subsidiary GenRx Holdings Limited
(“GenRx") continued to improve with higher
turnover at HK$412 million. Taking advantage
of the increased awareness of and demand for
premium private healthcare services in Hong
Kong, Mainland China and Southeast Asia, we
are confident that GenRx will sustain its business
growth.

PROSPECTS

The Financial Year 2009/2010 is a year of
achievements. We made good progress in all
our key projects. While the international markets
have remained fragile, we are optimistic about
a global recovery in the long term and have
every confidence in the growth momentum in
Mainland China as well as in Hong Kong. With
strong land banks in Hong Kong, Shanghai and
Bangkok, the Group will vigilantly and diligently
work towards sustaining growth, creating values
and increasing returns for all our shareholders.

With our sound financials, prudent tradition and
forward-thinking vision, complemented by the
insightful leadership of our Board of Directors
and the team work of all staff, we are executing
our growth strategy with vigour and precision.
We are confident that the Group will be among
the first to reap the fruits of a rebound in all the
markets in which we operate.

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2010
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OPERATIONS REVIEW
HONG KONG
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sion of the new shopping centre ingéPak

SRS

REAL ESTATE

DISCOVERY BAY
Yi Pak

Chianti, Phase 13 of Discovery Bay comprising
530 units, was almost sold out at an average
price of HK$6,452 per square foot GFA. During
the year, 21 units were sold.

Riding on the success of Chianti, Phase 14 of
Discovery Bay is planned for sales launch in
early 2011. Construction works of the three mid-
rise blocks with a size of about 168,000 square
feet GFA were well on schedule and the project
is expected to be completed by the end of
2010. With the Group’s track record in property
development and lifestyle creation, we are
confident that the project would be well-received
by the market.

The up-market lifestyle shopping centre in Yi

Pak, with a size of about 201,000 square feet
GFA, has begun to serve the community since
March 2010 with a number of popular brands
and services, some of them completely new to
the community. The tenant mix will be further
diversified and a wide range of products and
services will be made available as more shops
are expected to open soon.

Meanwhile, construction and interior fitting-out
works for the conference and resort hotel in Yi
Pak has resumed as the hospitality market has
shown positive signs of recovery. The project is
targeted for completion by the end of 2011.

In recognition of the unique planning and
comprehensive development of Discovery
Bay, CAPITAL Magazine presented “CAPITAL
The Best Developer Awards — Urban Design &
Master Planning” to Hong Kong Resort Company
Limited, the Group’s 50%-owned subsidiary in
June 2010.
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D Deck, Discovery Bay

160

[D Deck |

DB Plaza

D Deck, the largest oceanfront alfresco dining
hotspot in Hong Kong, continued to be a
vibrant gourmet paradise for locals and visitors
alike. About 20 thematic restaurants along the
waterfront promenade connecting Tai Pak Beach
offer delectable choices of international menu.
Since its opening, D Deck has become a popular
dining destination with its patronage increasing
steadily. It was also selected as one of the 14
Major Food Districts in Hong Kong by the Hong
Kong Tourism Board in early 2010. The Group
will continue to promote D Deck as a unique
venue offering superb dining experience unlike
anywhere else in the city.

DB Plaza, together with D Deck, achieved an
average occupancy rate of 93% during the year
and generated a stable rental income for the
Group.

The Bounty

The Bounty, the only European tall ship in Hong
Kong, has become an icon of local waters since
she was made available for charter in 2008.
Residing in Discovery Bay, The Bounty was
chartered by international firms, professional
groups and associations as well as individuals
for a wide range of functions during the vyear,
including large-scale international conferences,
corporate entertainment, team-building activities
and private theme parties etc.
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Discovery Bay Services

In response to the demand of Discovery Bay
residents for added transportation convenience
and flexibility, Hong Kong Resort Company
Limited applied to the Transport Department
in late 2009 for the introduction of a strictly
controlled taxi service for Discovery Bay. The
proposed taxi service, if approved, will offer
residents and visitors a more flexible and timely
transportation option, especially in emergency
situations.

During the year, the patronage of bus and ferry
services in Discovery Bay remained stable while
the four Clubs in Discovery Bay recorded a slight
increase in turnover. The Group’s subsidiaries
will continue to deliver professional property
management, transportation and club services to
the residents of Discovery Bay.

The Group has a 50% interest in Discovery Bay.

COASTAL SKYLINE, TUNG CHUNG
Le Bleu Deux

The only waterfront low-density mid-rise residential
development in Tung Chung, Le Bleu Deux, the last
phase of Coastal Skyline, has received encouraging
response from the market since its sales launch.
All 524 units were sold, with the last one taken up
in April 2010, at an average price of HK$5,982
per square foot GFA. This exceptional six-block
development was completed in June 2009.

The show flats of this quality development also
clinched a number of awards during the year.
Le Bleu Spa Villa, a specialty unit show flat, won
the “Platinum Award” of “2010 ADEX Awards for
Design Excellence” sponsored by Design Journal
in April 2010 and the “Best Interior Design Hong
Kong Award” in the “Asia Pacific Residential
Property Awards 2009” in May 2009. Another
typical unit show flat was awarded the “First Prize”

in both the Interior Design Competition of the
“International Design Awards” in May 2010 and the
Sample House/Room category of “2009 G-Magic
Cube Award” organised by the China Building
Decoration Association in November 2009.
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The Group has a 31% interest in the Coastal
Skyline project.

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT

The Group’s long-term commercial and industrial
property investment portfolio continued to record
high occupancy rates and bring in stable rental
revenue. During the year, the Group’s wholly-
owned West Gate Tower in Cheung Sha Wan,
CDW Building in Tsuen Wan and Joyce Building
in Wong Chuk Hang attained average occupancy
rates of 93%, 91% and 100% respectively. The
50%-owned Discovery Park Shopping Centre in
Tsuen Wan also recorded an average occupancy
rate of 91%. The Group will continue to enhance
its investment portfolio and seek to generate
more profits through strategic acquisitions and
disposals.

HANISON

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited
(“Hanison”), the Group’s 49%-owned associated

CDW-Building, Tsuen Wan

company engaging primarily in construction
business, interior and renovation business,
supply and installation of building materials, and
property investment and development, delivered
a steady performance. The consolidated turnover
during the year was HK$886.9 million, 51%
lower than last year's HK$1,828.5 million.
However, Hanison managed to turn around the
overall financial results from a loss of HK$59.4
million last year to a profit of HK$111 million
this year. This favourable result was mainly
attributable to the gain on change in fair value
of investment properties and recognition of
profit from sales of certain units of One LaSalle,
a b0%-owned luxury low-rise residential
development in Kowloon Tong. While overall
market conditions remain competitive, Hanison
will continue to control cost, strengthen its
core businesses to sustain growth and identify
businesses with good potential for acquisition
and development.
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REAL ESTATE

DAZHONGLI PROJECT IN JINGAN
DISTRICT, SHANGHAI

Over the years, the Group has spent a lot of
efforts in the resettlement works in Dazhongli
of the Jingan district in Shanghai (“Dazhongli
project”). The Financial Year 2009/2010 saw
significant progress made in the project, with
resettlement works basically completed in March
2010. The Land Title Certificates are targeted to
be granted within 2010 after site clearance.

Meanwhile, relocation of a historical building
within the site was also successfully completed
in March 2010. After the historical building was
moved to its new location on Weihai Road, it will
command a strategic location and become a
gateway building to the project. Fitting-out works
will be carried out in the next stage to restore

the building’s original appearance while at the
same time giving it new glory. General foundation
works of the Dazhongli project are planned to
commence in early 2011.

Located in the heart of Shanghai, the Dazhongli
project enjoys superb accessibility and will
benefit greatly from the upgrade and re-
development of the Jingan district as well as
Nanjing West Road. With a planned gross floor
area of approximately 323,000 square metres,
the Dazhongli project will be developed into
a world class project comprising large-scale
offices, hotels and retail facilities. The project is
scheduled for completion in phases from 2014
onward.

The Dazhongli project is jointly developed by the
Group and Swire Properties Limited. The Group
has a 50% interest in the project.
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CHELSEA RESIDENCE, SHANGHAI

With its excellent location in the prestigious
Huashan Road residential area and panoramic
views of the legendary Ding Xiang Garden,
Chelsea Residence, formerly the Group’s wholly-
owned deluxe serviced apartments in Shanghai,
was snapped up by buyers when it was launched
for strata-title sale in May 2009. As at 31 March
2010, 110 units, representing 95% of all 116
units, were sold at an average of RMB57,723
per square metre GFA (approximately HK$6,100
per square foot GFA). Together with the 115 car
parking spaces sold, the project generated a
revenue of about RMB1.18 billion (approximately
HK$1.34 billion). Renovation and upgrading
works of Chelsea Residence commenced in
August 2009 and are targeted for completion in
the third quarter of 2010.

The exceptional designs of the show flats of
Chelsea Residence also won recognition from

[
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the industry. In November 2009, two show
flats, namely Vista and Premier, were awarded
the “Successful Design Awards” in the “2009
China’s Most Successful Design Awards” jointly
organised by the Shanghai International Creative
Industry Week Organizing Committee, Shanghai
Industrial Design Association and Shanghai
Creative Industry Association; and the “First
Prizes” in the Sample House/Room category of
the “2009 G-Magic Cube Award” organised by
the China Building Decoration Association.

THE EXCHANGE, TIANJIN

The Exchange, the Group’s 15%-owned
investment property in Tianjin, comprises two
office towers, a retail mall and a hotel with a
total GFA of over 152,000 square metres. The
Exchange generated a stable rental income
during the year and the average occupancy rates
of the office towers, the retail mall and the hotel
were 75%, 99%, and 58% respectively.
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The Sukhothai Residences Gallery, Bangkok
24 The Sukhothai Residences & & &8

REAL ESTATE

Despite the political uncertainties in Thailand,
construction works of The Sukhothai Residences,
the Group’s high-end freehold development in
Bangkok, progressed well on schedule during the
year. This ultra luxury 41-storey condominium
tower is targeted for completion in 2011.

As at 31 March 2010, 139 units of The
Sukhothai Residences were sold, representing
approximately 71% of the 196 units available,
at an average price of Thai Baht 226,493 per
square metre (approximately HK$5,100 per
square foot). The remaining units are planned for
sales launch after completion of the project.

With its outstanding architectural design and
exceptional building quality, The Sukhothai
Residences received international recognition
and a number of prestigious awards during the
year. In July 2009, The Sukhothai Residences
won the “Best High-rise Development, Thailand
(b Stars)”, “Best Interior Design, Thailand
(5 Stars)” and “Best Asia Pacific High-rise
Development” in the world-renowned “Asia
Pacific Residential Property Awards 2009”.

In November 2009, the project also landed
the “Best Interior Design” and the “Best
Development Website” awards in the “Thailand
Property Awards 2009”.

In Singapore, the last two remaining units of
the luxury low-rise development Beaufort on
Nassim were sold at an average price of S$2,300
(approximately HK$12,610) per square foot
during the year. The project was given the
Certificate of Statutory Completion in April 2009.

To further enhance and diversify its investment
portfolio in Asia, the Group entered into an
agreement in March 2010 to acquire a 94-unit
apartment building and an attached building with
54 parking spaces in Akasaka of Tokyo, Japan.
The transaction was completed in May 2010.
Located at the prime district of Akasaka with
close proximity to metro stations, the property
will be held for investment purpose and is
expected to generate a steady rental income for
the Group. Meanwhile, DIA Palace Il, a 39-unit
en bloc residential building in Sapporo acquired
by the Group in 2008, also achieved an average
occupancy rate of 96% during the year and
brought in a stable recurrent income.
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The Group will continue to explore new projects
and investment opportunities in various Asian
markets, with a view to strengthening its
presence in the region and adding value to its
investment portfolio.

HOSPITALITY

The Financial Year 2009/2010 saw a significant
drop in international travel to Asia, both for
business and pleasure, due to the political
instability in Thailand and the outbreak of human
swine influenza.

Arrivals in Thailand declined drastically and
The Sukhothai hotel and Siri Sathorn serviced
residences in Bangkok recorded average
occupancy rates that were lower than last year.

Despite the difficult operating environment,
The Sukhothai hotel continued to win regional
and international recognition with its impressive
services and facilities. In August 2009, it was
voted by readers of the on-line travel magazine
SmartTravelAsia.Com as one of the hotels on the
“Top 25 List — Business Hotels” and the “Top
25 List — Leisure Hotels”. It was also named
by Conde Nast Traveler US magazine as one
of the “Top 100 Asia Hotels” in the “Readers’
Choice Awards” and one of the top hotels on the
“Gold List — The World’s Best Places to Stay” in
November 2009 and January 2010 respectively.
Leveraging on the brand equity of The Sukhothai
hotel, the Group would step up marketing and
promotional efforts to attract patronage when the
local situations stabilise.
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* The Sukhothai hotel, Bangkok
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The Sentosa Resort & Spa, Singapore
#7038 The Sentosa Resort & Spa

In Singapore, business of The Sentosa Resort &
Spa started to pick up in the second half of the
year. Its occupancy rate went up further in early
2010 as tourist arrivals surged after the opening
of two integrated resorts in Marina Bay and
Sentosa Island.

The Sentosa Resort & Spa was also given a
number of awards. In July 2009, it won the
prestigious titles of the “Best Asia Pacific Hotel”
and the “Best Hotel, Singapore (5 Stars)” in
the “Asia Pacific Commercial Property Awards
2009”. Spa Botanica, Singapore’s first garden
destination spa, was voted the “Best Spa in
Singapore” in the “Time Out Singapore Best

of Awards 2010” by readers in March 2010. It
also landed the “Bazaar Spa Awards 2010” in
the Most Relaxing Experience — Beaufort Touch
category and the Best Girls’ Day Out Spa -
Spa Glow category as well as the “Expat Living
Reader Awards 2009 Health & Beauty” in the
Spa category in February 2010.

To upkeep and enhance our branding in the
international hospitality scene, the Group’s
hotels, spas, and serviced apartments will
continue to deliver the highest standards of
comforts, services, and unique experiences to
customers and stand ready to take advantage of
an eventual rebound of global economy.
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ImagingMed Diagnostic Centre of GenRx
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HEALTHCARE

GenRx Holdings Limited (“GenRx”), the Group’s
wholly-owned subsidiary specialising in premium
healthcare services, continued to perform well
during the year. Turnover increased to HK$412
million, up 17% from the previous year.

With its top-notch medical staff and state-of-
the-art facilities, the business of GenRx has
been growing steadily with the number of
patients/customers increasing over the years.
GenRx is currently operating in major cities
across Asia, namely Hong Kong, Shanghai,
Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Macau and Manila.
Its comprehensive service network comprises
cancer centres, dental clinics, diabetic and
cardiovascular centres and multi-specialty
outpatient centres affiliated with ambulatory
hospitals.

During the year, GenRx sold all its shares in
Arrail Dental group which operates multiple
dental clinics in Mainland China. The disposal
brought a profit of HK$74.4 million.

SANITARYWARE

The effect of the global financial crisis was felt
across the building industry. Not only were
new developments stagnant in countries like
Australia, renovation markets in the UK and the
US also contracted due to volatility in real estate
value. Nevertheless, Imperial Bathroom Products
Limited, the Group’s sanitaryware unit, managed
to grow its business in its core market, Australia,
resulting in a successful year. Growth in the US
was also encouraging.
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SECURITIES INVESTMENT

During the financial year, the Group has
monetised part of the securities investments
for a total amount of HK$833.5 million which
was subsequently deployed to repay part of the
bank loans. The investment in securities has
contributed a net profit of HK$89.2 million to
the Group. As of 31 March 2010, the Group
maintained a balanced portfolio comprising debt
instruments, hedge funds, listed securities and
private equities valued at a total of HK$404.9
million.

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group cares about the community in which
we operate. Being a responsible corporate
citizen, the Group pursued a number of
initiatives to extend our love and care to the
needy.

In January 2010, the Group’s corporate volunteer

team HKR Care & Share organised Discoverer
Trip @ Discovery Bay and brought a group of
children suffering from chronic diseases and
their family members to Discovery Bay. The
children were given an opportunity to play
outdoors in the serene environment of Discovery
Bay after a long period of hospitalisation.

In the same month, following the 7.3 magnitude
earthquake that hit Haiti, the Group also
organised a fund raising campaign in support of
the Red Cross' relief operation in Haiti.

In November 2009, the Group participated in the
Job Shadowing Programme, organised by Junior
Achievement Hong Kong, as a host company
for secondary students in order to help develop
leaders of the new generation. The Group also
took part in a series of job fairs organised by the
Labour Department and the Hong Kong Young
Women’s Christian Association during the year.
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Hong Kang

Arts Festival
ih 3L FER N, d0i0

valery Gergiev w me
Mariinsky Orchestra
B A m G B AR

Performance of Valery Gergiev and
the Mariinsky Orchestra sponsored by the Group
EEEBIRAKRE ST L@ AR R

To help raise the public’s interest in arts and
culture, and to bring world-class performances
to Hong Kong, the Group sponsored the
Programme Opening Performance of Valery
Gergiev and the Mariinsky Orchestra at the 38th
Hong Kong Arts Festival in March 2010.

In recognition of our continued contribution
to the community, the Hong Kong Council of
Social Service awarded the Group the “Caring
Company” logo for the fifth consecutive year.
The Social Welfare Department also awarded the
Group the “Gold Award for Volunteer Service” in
December 2009.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had a
total of 3,257 employees in Hong Kong and
overseas. To sustain its long term growth and
competitiveness, the Group has identified three
priorities in human resources management:

Job fair
e

sharpening performance, developing talents and
strengthening employee relations.

During the year, the Group put in tremendous
efforts in promoting a performance-driven
culture. The Performance Management
System (PMS) was revamped and a structured
process in planning, reviewing and appraising
staff performance was established. A series
of in-house workshops on key management
skills, such as objective setting, coaching
and performance appraisal, were designed
and organised for senior staff to uplift their
competencies in people management. The
enhanced PMS process will be introduced to
other overseas business units gradually to align
business goals across the Group.

The Group is dedicated to identifying, developing
and retaining key talents. The first Talent Review
and Succession Planning meeting at Group level
was completed during the year and tailored-
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made development opportunities including

executive education at prestigious business
schools were provided to high potential staff.
This process will be rolled out to second-tier
management staff and others in the coming years
to ensure leadership continuity.

To foster and upkeep an engaged and energetic
workforce, the Group organised various employee
relations activities such as health talks and
seminars, annual dinner and staff outing, etc.
to strengthen the bond between colleagues.
Meanwhile, human resources related policies and
procedures have been continuously reviewed and
improved to cope with operational changes and
new legal requirements, if any.

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

The Group continued to enhance its com-
petitiveness and operational efficiency by

upgrading the existing information technology
systems.

The Group introduced a new commitment
control and contractors pre-qualification workflow
system to automate the approval cycle which
aimed to facilitate status tracking, eliminate
paper flow and ensure that funding requests
were processed in a timely manner. This
workflow system is expected to be extended to
cover the tendering procedure.

Upgrade of the Property Sales System with new
design and logic running on a new platform was
completed. The system is now ready for the
upcoming sales launch of the Group’s properties.
Meanwhile, the Architect Instruction Approval
System was also reengineered with additional
workflow and logic to handle various approval
requirements and procedures more effectively.



S
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREEEEABZER

DIRECTORS

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson

JP, DSSc (Hons) (Aged 67)

Mr CHA was appointed executive director in 1989, the deputy
chairman in September 2001 and the chairman of the Company on
15 May 2007. Since 1995, he has been the managing director of
HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company and is now in
charge of its operations and management. He has also been serving
as director of a number of other subsidiaries of the Group since its
inception in 1977 and has over 40 years experience in property
development. Mr CHA is the chairman and non-executive director
of the Company’s associated corporation, Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited, and an independent non-executive director of New
World Development Company Limited, both of them are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He is
an independent non-executive director of Eagle Asset Management
(CP) Limited, manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust
which is listed on the Stock Exchange, an independent non-executive
director of Hong Kong International Theme Parks Limited, owner and
operator of Hong Kong Disneyland Resort, the chairman of Mingly
Corporation (“Mingly”) and a director of Asia Television Limited
(“ATV”). Mingly and ATV are both under the control of members of
the Cha Family. Mr CHA is also a committee member of the Eleventh
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). He is a brother of Ms WONG CHA May
Lung Madeline, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor and Mr CHA Mou Daid
Johnson who are also directors of the Company. Mr CHA is also a
director of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited, CDW Holdings Limited and
LBJ Regents Limited, all of them are substantial shareholders of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQO”) and
together whose interests in the Company represent the substantial
interests of the Cha Family in the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor

BA, MBA (Aged 60)

Mr CHA was appointed executive director in 1989, the managing
director in September 2001 and the deputy chairman of the
Company on 15 May 2007. He was also appointed the joint
managing director of HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd in 1996 and has been
serving as director of a number of other subsidiaries of the Group
with the earliest appointment back to 1978. Mr CHA is responsible
for the overall and day-to-day management of the Group. He has
been involved in textile manufacturing and real estate businesses for
over 30 years. He is an independent non-executive director of SOHO
China Limited, an alternate independent non-executive director
of New World Development Company Limited, both companies
are listed on the Stock Exchange, and a director of United Nigeria
Textiles PLC which is listed on the Lagos Stock Exchange. Mr CHA
is also a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Committee of Zhejiang Province. He ceased to be a council member
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in March 2010. Mr CHA is
a brother of Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, Mr CHA Mou Sing
Payson and Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson who are also directors of the
Company.

Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming
BSc, MBA, MAcc, MICE, Ml Struct.E, CPA (Aged 68)

Mr CHEUNG was appointed executive director of the Company in
September 2001. He is also the resident director of HKR Asia-Pacific
Pte Ltd in Singapore and director of a number of other subsidiaries of
the Group. Mr CHEUNG has been serving in the Group since 1995
and is the head of the South East Asia business unit responsible
for the management of the Company’s hospitality subsidiaries and
related investments in the Asia Pacific region. He is a member of
the Institution of Structural Engineers and the Institution of Civil
Engineers in the United Kingdom and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia.

Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham
FCPA (Aged 64)

Mr CHUNG was appointed executive director of the Company in
1994 and is also director of a number of other subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr CHUNG has been serving in the Group since 1978 and
is the head of finance office responsible for oversight of the Group’s
finance and treasury, accounting, tax functions and information
technology department. He is a certified public accountant
(practising), a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He has over 35 years experience
in financial management and property development in Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREEEEAEBZEE

Mr TANG Moon Wah
BA (Arch Studlies), BArch (Aged 56)

Mr TANG was appointed executive director of the Company
in December 2004 and is also director of a number of other
subsidiaries of the Group. He has been serving in the Group since
1985 and is the head of China business unit and head of projects
responsible for project management of real estate development
in Hong Kong and the PRC and for oversight of master planning,
conceptual and major designs and technical advice on acquisitions.
Mr TANG has over 30 years extensive experience in property
development. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Architects since 1981, Authorised Person since 1982 and Registered
Architect since 1991.

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI

GBS, CVO, OBE, JP (Aged 71)

Mr ARCULLI was appointed director in 1989 and has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since 1993
before he was re-designated as non-executive director in June
2005. He is the senior partner of King & Wood. Mr ARCULLI is the
independent non-executive chairman of Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited, an independent non-executive director of Hang
Lung Properties Limited and SCMP Group Limited, and a non-
executive director of Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited, Hutchison
Harbour Ring Limited, Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited, Sino Land
Company Limited and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited, all of them
are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-
executive director of Shanghai Century Acquisition Corporation, listed
on the New York Stock Exchange, from 2005 to 2008. Mr ARCULLI
is currently a non-official member of the Executive Council of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“HKSAR Government”), a member of the board of directors of The
Community Chest of Hong Kong, a member of the Consultation Panel
and a board member of the West Kowloon Cultural District Authority.
He also holds directorships in other public and private companies in
Hong Kong and overseas.

BA (Arch Studies), BArch (77 175i%)
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson

BA, MBA (Aged 58)

Mr CHA was appointed director in 1989 and re-designated as non-
executive director of the Company in December 2004. He has
been serving as director of a number of other subsidiaries of the
Group with the earliest appointment back to 1978. Mr CHA is also
a non-executive director of Hanison Construction Holdings Limited,
an associated corporation of the Company listed on the Stock
Exchange, an independent non-executive director of Shanghai
Commercial Bank Limited and director/non-executive director of a
number of other public and private companies in Hong Kong and
China including ATV, and is actively participating in many non-
profit making organisations. Mr CHA has over 30 years investment
management experience in Silicon Valley and Asia. He is a brother of
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson and
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor who are also directors of the Company. Mr
CHA is also a director of LBJ Regents Limited which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company under Part XV of the SFO and whose
interest in the Company forms part of the interests of the Cha Family
in the Company.

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
BSSc, JP (Aged 62)

Mr CHEUNG was appointed independent non-executive director in
January 2006 and re-designated as non-executive director of the
Company on 4 December 2008. He was the chief executive of Hong
Kong Telecom from 1994 to 2000. Mr CHEUNG is an independent
non-executive director of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited and
Taikang Life Insurance Co. Ltd., the former is listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr CHEUNG is also the chairman of the board of directors
of HKU School of Professional and Continuing Education. He ceased
to be the chairman of ATV in December 2009.
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EEREEEEAEBZEE

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline

(Aged 70)

Ms WONG was appointed director in 1989 and re-designated as
non-executive director of the Company in December 2004. She has
been serving as director of a number of other subsidiaries of the
Group since its inception in 1977. Ms WONG is also director of a
number of other public and private companies in Hong Kong and
overseas, including Hon Kwok Land Investment Company, Limited
and Chinney Investments, Limited which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and United Nigeria Textiles PLC which is listed on the
Lagos Stock Exchange. Ms WONG is a sister of Mr CHA Mou Sing
Payson, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor and Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
who are also directors of the Company. Ms WONG is also director
of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited, CDW Holdings Limited and LBJ
Regents Limited, all of them are substantial shareholders of the
Company under Part XV of the SFO and together whose interests in
the Company represent the substantial interests of the Cha Family in
the Company.

Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry
GBS, BA, MBA, DBA (Hons), LLD (Hons) (Aged 63)

Dr CHENG was appointed director in 1989 and re-designated
as independent non-executive director of the Company in 1993.
Dr CHENG is the managing director of New World Development
Company Limited, chairman and managing director of New World
China Land Limited, chairman of NWS Holdings Limited, chairman
and non-executive director of New World Department Store China
Limited, chairman of International Entertainment Corporation and
non-executive director of Lifestyle International Holdings Limited,
all of them are listed on the Stock Exchange. He resigned as the
chairman and executive director of Taifook Securities Group Limited,
which is listed on the Stock Exchange, in January 2010. Dr CHENG
is also director of a number of private companies in Hong Kong and
overseas. He is the chairman of the advisory council for The Better
Hong Kong Foundation and standing committee member of the
Eleventh Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the
PRC. In 2001, Dr CHENG was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by
the HKSAR Government.
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Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
GBS, SBS, OBE, JP, DBA (Hons) (Aged 62)

Dr CHEUNG was appointed independent non-executive director of
the Company in September 2004. He is a fellow member of both the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Dr CHEUNG is
an independent non-executive director of Hang Seng Bank Limited,
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and HSBC Holdings plc
(“HSBC"), all of them are listed on the Stock Exchange with HSBC
also being dual listed in the London Stock Exchange. He resigned as
an independent non-executive director of Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited, which is listed on the Stock Exchange, in December 2009.
Dr CHEUNG is currently a non-official member of the Executive
Council of the HKSAR Government. He is also the chairman of
Airport Authority Hong Kong, chairman of the supervisory committee
of Tracker Fund of Hong Kong, chairman of the council of The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology and member of the
Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. Dr CHEUNG was awarded the
Gold Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government in 2008.

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
FCIH (Aged 63)

Ms HO was re-designated as an independent non-executive director
of the Company with effect from 10 April 2010. Prior to her latest
re-designation, Ms HO was appointed an executive director of the
Company in 1994 and re-designated as non-executive director on 10
April 2008 upon her retirement of all executive roles in the Group.
Ms HO is a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Housing,
Asian Pacific Branch, and has over 35 years experience in property
development, investment and management. She is currently a
member of the executive committee and chairman of remuneration
committee of the Hong Kong Housing Society.
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EEREEEEAEBZEE

Dr QIN Xiao
PhD Econ. (Aged 63)

Dr QIN is the chairman and non-executive director of China
Merchants Bank Co., Ltd (“CMB”) and independent non-executive
director of China Telecom Corporation Limited (“CTC”), both of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange. CMB and CTC are dual
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the New York Stock
Exchange respectively. He is also the chairman of China Merchants
Group. Dr QIN is a member of the Eleventh Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of the PRC and honorary chairman
of Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association, guest professor at
the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University
and the Graduate School of the People’'s Bank of China. Before
joining China Merchants Group, he served as president and vice
chairman of China International Trust and Investment Corporation
(“CITIC™), and chairman of CITIC Industrial Bank. He was a deputy
to the Ninth National People’s Congress of the PRC, an advisor on
the Foreign Currency Policy of the State Administration of Foreign
Exchange, and a member of Toyota International Advisory Board. He
also served as chairman of APEC Business Advisory Council for the
Year 2001. Dr QIN is the author of several papers and books in the
fields of economics and management. He received a PhD degree in
economics from University of Cambridge.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr CHAN Chi Ming

BSc (Aged 53)

Mr CHAN joined the Group in 1980. He is the head of Hong Kong
business unit and head of development and marketing responsible
for oversight of the Discovery Bay operations in transport, club and
city management services, property investment and development,
sales, marketing, leasing and management of real estate in Hong
Kong, Japan and Pearl River Delta. He is director of a number
of subsidiaries of the Group and has over 25 years experience in
property development, sales and marketing of real estate.

Mr Rolando P GOSIENGFIAO

MBA (Aged 60)

Mr GOSIENGFIAO joined the Group in 2000. Prior to his retirement
of all executive roles from the Group with effect from 20 April
2010, he was the head of healthcare and sanitaryware business
unit responsible for oversight of GenRx Healthcare group and the
Imperial Bathroom Products group and also director of a number
of other subsidiaries of the Group. Mr GOSIENGFIAO has over 20
years experience in investment banking, hotels and entrepreneurial
businesses.
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The directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of HKR International
Limited (the “Company”) are pleased to announce the audited final
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in
note 43 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 224 to
237.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 107.

The Directors have recommended the declaration of a final dividend
of HK12 cents (2009: Nil) per share for the year ended 31 March
2010 to shareholders whose names appear on the registers of
members of the Company on 12 August 2010. The proposed final
dividend together with the interim dividend of HK6 cents (2009: Nil)
per share makes a total dividend of HK18 cents (2009: Nil) per share
for the year. The proposed final dividend will be paid on 2 September
2010 following approval at the 2010 annual general meeting
(“AGM”) of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be
closed from 10 August 2010 to 12 August 2010, both days inclusive.
During the period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 August 2010.
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RESERVES

The Group has transferred a total of HK$1,255.3 million representing
the unrealised net fair value gain on investment properties from
accumulated profits to investment property revaluation reserve of
which HK$1,008.4 million related to net fair value change during the
year.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 111 to 113.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements on page 206.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were
set out on pages 52 and 53.

Dr QIN Xiao was appointed as an independent non-executive director
with effect from the conclusion of the board meeting held on 22 July
2009.

On 25 September 2009, Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson was appointed
as an alternate director to Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson and the
representative of Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline for the purpose
of attending and voting on their behalf at the board meeting of the
Company held on 25 September 2009. Both appointments had
expired upon conclusion of the Company’s board meeting on 25
September 2009.

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta was re-designated from non-executive
director to independent non-executive director on 10 April 2010.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles”) and the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), Mr CHA Mou Sing
Payson, Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson, Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming, Mr
CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham and Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta shall retire
by rotation at this year’'s AGM. All the retiring Directors, being eligible,
have offered themselves for re-election. Other remaining Directors
will continue in office.
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None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors of the Company were not appointed for a specific term but
their respective terms of office are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance with
the Articles. The rotation article sets up a mechanism to ensure all
Directors shall retire and offer for re-election at least once every three
years.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has made an
annual or initial confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive directors meet the independence guidelines set out in
the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance therewith.

The Directors’ and Senior Management’s biographical details are set
out on pages 54 to 60.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 165 and 166.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the Company
were as follows:

(1) The Company

Long positions in shares of HK$0.25 each

ESRKRM - HEARORES
Z e

RZE—ZTF=A=1+—H EERAAQF
EEITHRABREESEBZBHMEATREAR
Al BB (E & R BHEHEXVED)
2By - ARG REHF - BEREBES
GBI 352 B AR B E 2 B ftim sk
RIEA R BIFTERM 2 SR AIKT 8 10 Frat_E
MEITAERETES R HMIZESTA([1Z
PRI ) BRIE AR B R AT 2 A oA
BT

4l

(1) &ARQT
FAFAREE 0.25 BITIR (1702 4F B

Number of Ordinary Shares
EERYE
Approximate
Percentage
of Issued
Share Capital
Name of Personal Family  Corporate Other e
Director Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Total RAZHA
ESER L) AR RkEs  ARER  HttEs By Bk
CHA Mou Sing Beneficial owner, interests 2,352,860 - 2,624,600 666,333,673 671,311,133 49.72
Payson of a controlled corporation (Note a) (Note b)
EE and beneficiary of (FfEa) (F3Eb)
discretionary trusts
ERBEAA
X EERR
REBEFAXEA
CHA Mou Zing Beneficiary of discretionary - - - 666,333,673 666,333,673 49.35
Victor trusts (Note b)
B BEEEXEA (7T D)
CHA Mou Daid Beneficiary of discretionary - - - 674,118,665 674,118,665 49,92
Johnson trusts (Note b)
BikE HEEFEXEA (FzED)



ANNUAL REPORT 2009/2010 %

65

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEEWRE
Number of Ordinary Shares
EERYE
Approximate
Percentage
of Issued
Share Capital
Name of Personal Family  Corporate Other HERT
Director Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Total RAZHA
EZEB 54 BAESE FkEz  AFEE  HtER By At
WONG CHA May Founder and/or beneficiary - - - 673,521,815 673,521,815 49.88
Lung Madeline of discretionary trusts (Notes b & ¢)
FEXE BiEEFAIL AR 3 (FEEb Rc)
Z@mA
Ronald Joseph Beneficiary of a trust 241,472 - - - 241,472 0.02
ARCULLI EREXEA
B
CHUNG Sam Tin Beneficial owner 315,084 - - - 315,084 0.02
Abraham ERBBEA
#E0H
HO Pak Ching Beneficial owner 85,600 - - - 85,600 0.01
Loretta EEHEEA
fa
TANG Moon Wah  Beneficial owner 135,200 - - - 135,200 0.01

HRE

Notes:

EaBBA

(a) The shares were held by Accomplished Investments Limited, a
corporation 100% owned by Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson.

(b) The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary
trusts and were held directly and/or indirectly by corporate
trustees namely, CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited and LBJ Regents
Limited, of which the relevant directors were among the members
of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries. Please refer to the
paragraph headed “Substantial Shareholders” below for further
details of the numbers of shares held by the aforesaid corporate

trustees.

(c) The director was, under a discretionary trust of which CCM Trust
(Cayman) Limited was the trustee, the founder and member of
a class of discretionary beneficiaries comprising the late Dr CHA
Chi Ming’s issue. Such trust was deemed to be interested in
41,052,631 shares.

(c)

ZERD T BREREBELAEZERE LD
aJ Accomplished Investments Limited %

Ho

ZEROBRETTARBBETT RS
% /&CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited &
LBJ Regents Limited Z &A@ L AE#
kSRS - BRAESERRER
mA o Bl LMUABEZEAPTRERMDE
BE—FHE  F2HTXIEER
=3

HR#E—IE CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited
REFTAZBIEET  ZEZRWIEE
2B AREFZBEZEA(BE
EMEERE L ZEM) - ZETHER
AIEA 41,052,631 BRA% {7 2 iz -
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(2) Associated Corporation — Hanison Construction (2) MHEEE
Holdings Limited 7l

FAFREEO0.10BTIRIDZ 4B

HERZERAERD

Long positions in shares of HK$0.10 each

Number of Ordinary Shares

EBRYE
Approximate
Percentage
of Issued
Share
Capital
Name of Personal Family  Corporate Other HERTHRA
Director Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Total ZH4
ESEH 54 BAERZ  FkER  ARER  HeEx By At
CHA Mou Sing Beneficial owner, interests of 459,541 - 512,616 104,263,263 105,235,420 23.74
Payson a controlled corporation (Note a) (Note b)
T and beneficiary of (ff3Ea) (F¥3ED)
discretionary trusts
EHEEA
REEEER R
BEEEXEA
CHA Mou Zing Beneficiary of discretionary - - - 104,263,263 104,263,263 23.52
Victor trusts (Note b)
B BiEEIXEA (FizEb)
CHA Mou Daid Beneficiary of discretionary - - - 105,783,769 105,783,769 23.87
Johnson trusts (Note b)
e BEEIXEA (Fi5Eb)
WONG CHA May Beneficiary of discretionary - - - 105,667,195 105,667,195 23.84
Lung Madeline trusts (Note b)
TEXE BEEEXEA (FizEb)
Ronald Joseph Beneficiary of a trust 47,162 - - - 47,162 0.01
ARCULLI EREXEA
BEE
CHUNG Sam Tin Beneficial owner 52,745 - - 52,745 0.01
Abraham ERBEAA
#ELH
HO Pak Ching Beneficial owner 10,628 - - - 10,628 0.002
Loretta BRlBA

(G



Notes:

(@) The shares were held by Accomplished Investments Limited, a
corporation 100% owned by Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson.

(b) The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary
trusts and were held directly and/or indirectly by corporate
trustees namely, CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited and LBJ Regents
Limited, of which the relevant directors were among the members
of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

Save as disclosed above and for certain directors holding non-
beneficial interests in the share capital of some of the subsidiaries
of the Company as nominee shareholders, as at 31 March 2010,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, the interests of the Directors in businesses which
competed or were likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to
the Listing Rules were set out as follows:

(1) The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI is an independent
non-executive director of Hang Lung Properties Limited (“Hang
Lung”) and also the non-executive director of Hutchison
Harbour Ring Limited (“Hutchison”), Sino Hotels (Holdings)
Limited (“Sino Hotels”), Sino Land Company Limited (“Sino
Land”) and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited (“TST”). The
businesses of Hang Lung, Hutchison, Sino Hotels, Sino Land
and TST involve at least some if not all of property investment,
property development, property management, treasury
investment and hotel management and ownership. Hang Lung,
Hutchison, Sino Hotels, Sino Land and TST are listed on the
Stock Exchange.
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(2

4)

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson is the non-executive chairman
of Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”),
an associated corporation of the Company. He is also an
independent non-executive director of New World Development
Company Limited (“New World”), and Eagle Asset Management
(CP) Limited (“Eagle Asset”), manager of Champion Real Estate
Investment Trust (“Champion”). The businesses of Hanison,
New World, Eagle Asset and Champion involve at least some if
not all of property investment, property development, property
management, treasury investment and hotel management and
ownership. Hanison, New World and Champion are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor is an independent non-executive
director of SOHO China Limited (“SOHO”) and the alternate
to Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson, an independent non-executive
director of New World. The businesses of SOHO and New World
involve at least some if not all of property investment, property
development, property management and hotel management
and ownership. SOHO and New World are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson is a non-executive director
of Hanison whose group’s businesses consist of property
investment, property development and property management.
Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange.

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline is a director of Chinney
Investments, Limited (“Chinney”) and Hon Kwok Land
Investment Company, Limited (“Hon Kwok”) whose groups’
businesses consist of property development and property
investment. Chinney and Hon Kwok are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Save for the independent non-executive directors and save as

disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in any business

apart from the Group’s businesses which competed or was likely

to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the

Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The Company has adopted the 2002 Scheme on 3 January 2002,
which was effected on 18 January 2002, under which options may
be granted, inter alia, to Directors. Details of the 2002 Scheme are
set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” below and
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements on page 207.

There was no grant to, and no exercise by, the Directors of any
options under the 2002 Scheme during the year.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2010, the following persons (other than a director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Company’s shares of HK$0.25 each

FERR

R-Z—ZF=A=+—R  REARTHE
B G0 336 BT AT E 2 BRMAE
8 THAL(EBRART2ZBHIRA
BRoN) RAR A Z I 1A RAABIIR D P A
ZHESHABIT

RALGEREE 0.25 BT iR 172 IFE
Approximate

Percentage of
Issued Share

Number of Capital

Name of Shareholder Capacity Ordinary Shares HERITREZ

REEHE 514 ZEREE BABEDE

CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Trustee and interests of a 594,733,375 44.05
controlled corporation (Note a)
RTARZ I AE R (Mf5Ea)

CDW Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 72,405,057 5.36
EmlEAA (Note b)
(M97ED)

LBJ Regents Limited Trustee 86,573,432 6.41
ZFEA (Note c)
(Ff5EC)

Invesco Hong Kong Limited Investment manager/advisor of 81,480,578 6.03
SIEREBEBRAT] various accounts (Note d)
BEKIR ZERP 2 B (MF7Eq)



Notes:

(a)

The 594,733,375 shares in which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited was
interested or deemed to be interested (including the 72,405,057 shares
held indirectly through its 52.24% owned subsidiary namely, CDW
Holdings Limited) were shares held by it as corporate trustee of certain
discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary
beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming'’s issue.

CDW Holdings Limited is 52.24% owned by CCM Trust (Cayman)
Limited. By virtue of the SFO, CDW Holdings Limited is a controlled
corporation of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited and the 72,405,057
shares held by CDW Holdings Limited therefore formed part of the
594,733,375 shares in which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited was
interested or deemed to be interested.

The 86,573,432 shares were held by LBJ Regents Limited as corporate
trustee for certain discretionary trusts, of which members of the classes
of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's
issue.

The long position interest in 81,480,578 shares were held by Invesco
Hong Kong Limited as investment manager and/or advisor of various
accounts.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, no other interests or

short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company

were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s existing share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”)
was adopted on 3 January 2002 and came into effect on 18 January
2002. Particulars of the 2002 Scheme as required to be disclosed
under the Listing Rules are set out below:

(1) Summary of the 2002 Scheme

(@)

Purpose

The purpose is to provide the participants who have been
granted options under the 2002 Scheme to subscribe
for ordinary shares in the Company with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to
encourage the participants to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Participants

All directors (including independent non-executive
directors), full-time employees and consultants of the
Company, its subsidiaries and/or its associated companies
are eligible to participate in the 2002 Scheme.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

A maximum number of 115,737,802 shares of the
Company may be issued upon exercise of all options
granted or to be granted under the 2002 Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares of the Company issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant (including both exercised and unexercised
options) under the 2002 Scheme or any other share option
scheme (if any) adopted by the Company in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of
the Company.
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Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company, or
any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules), would result in the shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted to such person in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of the grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such grant of option shall be subject to prior approval of
the shareholders of the Company who are not connected
persons of the Company as defined in the Listing Rules.

Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the date
on which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board
(or the relevant committee thereof) may specify at the time
of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board (or the
relevant committee thereof) must specify the minimum
period(s), if any, for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and amount
payable upon acceptance

The offer of the grant of an option (of which the date of
grant must be a Stock Exchange business day) must be
accepted within 14 days from the date on which the offer
letter is delivered to the participant and a consideration of
HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.
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(h)y Basis of determining the subscription price of an
option

The subscription price of an option shall be no less than
the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(i) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five Stock
Exchange business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
date of grant.

() Remaining life

The 2002 Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on
3 January 2012 unless otherwise terminated in accordance
with the terms of the 2002 Scheme.

(2) Details of options granted and available for grant

No option was granted under the 2002 Scheme since its
inception. The total number of shares in the Company available
for grant of options under the 2002 Scheme is 115,737,802
shares which represents 8.57% of the issued share capital of
the Company at the date of this annual report (i.e. 23 June
2010).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Particulars of the convertible bonds are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 203 to 205.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group entered into
the following transactions which constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(1) Participation Agreement

Pursuant to the limited liability company agreement of BC
Investment LLC (“BC Investment”), a company incorporated
in Anguilla with limited liability, dated 7 February 2007 (the
“Participation Agreement”), entered into between Broad Base
International Limited (“Broad Base”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and Cagen Holdings Limited (“Cagen”), for a
term of 3 years effective on 1 April 2007, Cagen was appointed
as manager of the funds contributed to BC Investment by Broad
Base including the retained portfolio of a fund in the original
amount of US$100.0 million placed by Broad Base with Cagen
in 1994 (hereinafter referred to as the “Broad Base Fund”) and
shall receive for each semi-annual period carried interest and
for each annual period incentive carried interest.

Substantial beneficial interests in both the Company and
Cagen are under certain discretionary trusts of which the
issue of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late chairman of the Company
including four directors of the Company are, amongst others,
their discretionary beneficiaries. As a result, Cagen constitutes
a connected person of the Company (as defined in the
Listing Rules) and the transactions contemplated under the
Participation Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Participation Agreement, the terms thereof, the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the caps on the amounts payable
to Cagen were approved by an ordinary resolution passed by the
independent shareholders of the Company (as defined in the
Listing Rules) at an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) held
on 21 March 2007.

Fees payable to Cagen attributable to the Broad Base Fund are
capped at US$5.0 million per annum throughout the term of the
Participation Agreement.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009/2010 % 7 5

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEEHRE
HEBRERS
RBE-F-FF=A=+—RALTEN

$¢ILTTLAT§<% HERZIRE LT
RAE MARBRARRZFEHRERS

(1) SEEHZE
RIEARNADARZ2EMN B 2R 3 Broad

Base International Limited ([Broad
Base]) i Cagen Holdings Limited
([Cagen)) R=ZFZT+HF=_A+tRHF]
VH-ZETLFMA—HRER K
B A=%2BC Investment LLC([BC
Investment] - —%%f%ﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁii
ZERAR) BEREEAA (20
ek ]) - CagentZ(t /& Broad Base
JEABC Investment 2 & E (BIE—%H
Broad Base /A — LU 222 FCagen
RAEEA1000ABEEXTZREES
#4 (LA T#8 4 [Broad Base Fundl))
ZEBRA - Ao RIEFFEMAKER—X
M R G — IR SRR AR o

KAFINCagenZ T EEHZELZHE
FREELREE  MEREFEERIE
T2 (AR BREAQRINEES) R
RZEFETHBEERAZHEXRA &
CagenBHARR ZBAEALT(FEER
EWRAD - MBR2ERGRRETZ
RGN BRRE 2 FFEBER S °

2 - HIgK - BETHR#IT 2R
5 LARJERF Cagen 2 &8 FRIHE
R-EEF=A-+—HETZEE
BRAAE LESARRBIRE (EE
B EMHERAD AT @RER A BOE ©

R2EHEFERNMCagent 2
Broad Base Fund fE{57IB 2 FIR AT
F50BBETT



v

6 HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &8 H 2 BB &= [ AR A A

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

In June 2008, Broad Base served a notice to Cagen to expedite
the exit programme, for full redemption and liquidation of all
the investments in the Broad Base Fund. Broad Base entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Cagan on 25 January
2010 to sell its remaining interests in the Broad Base Fund
(the “Disposal”) to Cagen. Please refer to the paragraphs
headed “Connected Transaction” below for further details of the
transaction. The appointment of Cagen as the manager under
the Participation Agreement expired on 31 March 2010 and the
Participation Agreement was mutually terminated by both Cagen
and Broad Base upon completion of the Disposal on 9 June
2010.

For the year from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010, no carried
interest (2009: HK$9.0 million) was paid or payable by Broad
Base to Cagen and no incentive carried interest (2009: Nil) was
paid or payable by Broad Base to Cagen under the Participation
Agreement.

Details of the securities assets of the Broad Base Fund as at 31
March 2010 are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 182 to 188.

2007 Construction and Renovation Services
Framework Agreement

The Company and Hanison Construction Holdings Limited
(“Hanison”) entered into the Construction and Renovation
Services Framework Agreement dated 30 January 2007 (the
“2007 Agreement”) which governs the outline terms upon
which members of the Group and Hanison and its subsidiaries
(the “Hanison Group”) propose to engage in the various
construction projects (the “Construction Transactions”) and
various interior and renovation projects (the “Renovation
Transactions”) during the three financial years ended 31 March
2010, subject to annual caps set out below.
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By virtue of the issue of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late chairman of
the Company, including four directors of the Company being
discretionary beneficiaries of certain discretionary trusts of
which the trustees are the substantial shareholders of both
the Company and Hanison, Hanison constitutes a connected
person (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, and
the Construction Transactions and Renovation Transactions
conducted between members of the Group and members of the
Hanison Group constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The 2007 Agreement, the terms thereof, the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the annual caps on the total
values of the Construction Transactions and the Renovation
Transactions (as set out below) were approved by an ordinary
resolution passed by the independent shareholders of the
Company at an EGM held on 21 March 2007.

Annual caps:

the total value of the Construction Transactions shall not
exceed the following:

1 April 2007 — 31 March 2008 HK$450 million
1 April 2008 — 31 March 2009 HK$450 million
1 April 2009 — 31 March 2010 HK$450 million

the total value of the Renovation Transactions shall not
exceed the following:

1 April 2007 — 31 March 2008 HK$20 million
1 April 2008 — 31 March 2009 HK$20 million
1 April 2009 — 31 March 2010 HK$20 million
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For the year from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010,
the aggregate transaction value in respect of each of
the Construction Transactions and the Renovation
Transactions under the 2007 Agreement amounted to
HK$147.2 million (2009: HK$230.7 million) and HK$0.1
million (2009: HK$0.6 million) respectively.

(8) Annual Confirmation

In accordance with rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the
Directors (including the independent non-executive directors of
the Company) have noted that no carried interest and incentive
interest was paid or payable by Broad Base to Cagen and have
reviewed and approved the continuing connected transactions
described in (1) and (2) above (collectively the “Continuing
Connected Transactions”) and confirmed that the Continuing
Connected Transactions were carried out in accordance with
the following principles:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms or terms no less favourable
than terms available to (or from) independent third parties;

(c) in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements
governing the Continuing Connected Transactions; and

(d) on a fair and reasonable basis and in the interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

In accordance with rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the independent auditor of the Company to perform
certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the Continuing
Connected Transactions. The independent auditor of the
Company has reported the factual findings on those procedures
to the Board that:

(@) the Continuing Connected Transactions have received the
approval of the Board;
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(b)

(c)

(e)

the Continuing Connected Transactions were carried out
in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements
governing the Continuing Connected Transactions;

for the year ended 31 March 2010, there was no carried
interest and incentive carried interest paid or payable by
Broad Base to Cagen under the Participation Agreement;

for the year ended 31 March 2010, the aggregate
amount paid and payable by the Group in respect of the
Construction Transactions did not exceed the annual cap
of HK$450.0 million; and

for the year ended 31 March 2010, the aggregate
amount paid and payable by the Group in respect of the
Renovation Transactions did not exceed the annual cap of
HK$20.0 million.

2010 Construction and Renovation Services
Framework Agreement

In view of the expiry of the 2007 Agreement on 31 March 2010,
the Company and Hanison entered into a new Construction and

Renovation Services Framework Agreement dated 20 January
2010 (the “2010 Agreement”) which governs the outline terms

upon which members of the Group and members of Hanison

Group propose to engage in the Construction Transactions and

the Renovation Transactions during the three financial years
ending 31 March 2013 which total values shall be subject to the
following annual caps:

Annual caps:

the total value of the Construction Transactions in terms of
revenue recognition shall not exceed the following:

1 April 2010 — 31 March 2011 HK$600 million
1 April 2011 — 31 March 2012 HK$400 million
1 April 2012 — 31 March 2013 HK$400 million
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the total value of the Renovation Transactions in terms of
revenue recognition shall not exceed the following:

1 April 2010 — 31 March 2011 HK$50 million
1 April 2011 — 31 March 2012 HK$50 million
1 April 2012 — 31 March 2013 HK$50 million

The Directors are of the opinion that the 2010 Agreement represents
business that is in the ordinary and usual course for the Company
and reflect normal commercial terms that are arm’s length and are
fair and reasonable so far as its shareholders are concerned and are
in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The 2010 Agreement, the terms thereof, the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the annual caps on the total values
of Construction Transactions and Renovation Transactions (as set
out above) were approved by an ordinary resolution passed by
the independent shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary
general meeting held on 9 March 2010.

In the event that the total value of the Construction Transactions
and the Renovation Transactions exceeds the relevant annual
cap amounts set out above for any year, such transactions will be
subject to review are re-approval by independent shareholders of
the Company at the next following AGM or at EGM convened for the
purpose.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 25 January 2010, Broad Base, as vendor, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
with Cagen, as purchaser, in relation to the sale of its interests in
BC Investment (the “Broad Base Interest”) comprising a nominal
equity interest in 50% of the membership interest equity capital of
BC Investment and Broad Base’s asset account in BC Investment
comprising Broad Base’s indirect interests in a portfolio of ten
independently-managed hedge funds and one independent private
company investment, valued at approximately US$18.5 million
(approximately HK$144.3 million) as at 30 November 2009.
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Cagen is a company that is ultimately under the control of trustees
of certain discretionary trusts of which members of the classes
of discretionary beneficiaries are, among others, directors of the
Company and members of the Cha Family which, in turn, collectively
hold a total equity interest of 50.83% in the Company. Cagen is
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the sale of the Broad Base Interests by Broad
Base to Cagen constitutes a connected transaction for the Company
which, because of its size, is subject to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders approval requirements of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The consideration paid by Cagen to Broad Base for the Broad Base
Interest comprises:

(i) US$500 (approximately HK$3,900) for Broad Base’s nominal
equity interest in 50% of the membership equity capital of BC
Investment;

(i) approximately US$1.2 million (approximately HK$9.2 million)
for Broad Base's attributable interest in the above-mentioned
private company investment (reflecting Broad Base’s cost of
investment); and

(iii) the sum that is equal to the net asset values, as at 31 December
2009, of the above-mentioned hedge fund interests attributable
to Broad Base.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Sale and Purchase
Agreement reflect normal commercial terms that are arm’s length
and are fair and reasonable so far as its shareholders are concerned
and are in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

Completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement is conditional upon:

(i)  the transaction being approved by the independent shareholders
of the Company in a general meeting; and
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(ii) the parties receiving the information on the net asset values of
the above-mentioned hedge funds as at 31 December 2009
and such information substantiating that the values of such
interests have not changed by more than 20% below or above
the values as at 30 November 2009, representing the date to
which the latest financial information is available prior to the
date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

The Sale and Purchase Agreement, the terms thereof and the
transactions contemplated hereunder were approved by an ordinary
resolution passed by the independent shareholders of the Company
at an EGM held on 9 March 2010.

Save as the waiver signed on 4 June 2010, Broad Base had received
information on the net asset values of the above-mentioned hedge
funds as at 31 December 2009 substantiating that the values of such
interests had not changed by more than 20% below or above the
values as at 30 November 2009.

Accordingly, the Sale and Purchase Agreement was completed on 9
June 2010.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE 13.21 OF
CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligation set out in rule 13.21 of
Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the details of the
loan agreement with covenants relating to specific performance on
the controlling shareholders of the Company as at 31 March 2010
pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There exists no reporting obligation
by the Company under rules 13.17 and 13.19 of the Listing Rules
accordingly.

(i) SHREBE@LBEFEESR_ZTZTN
F+—A=+—HZEBEEFEZER "
MEMER A EE LERZSEEZE
BEPHRETELBRER_ZTAN
F+—A=1+H(AEEH=HPmA
BiRESIHVBEN BE) 2EBE
20% AT A L o

BEWE 2GR HETHETZRS

HER-ZT—ZTF= ﬂhE%TZ%%%ﬂ
RELEGARBBILRRAEBRERT
B o

BRAR—ZZE—ZEFNANBERTNREE
4N+ Broad Base B EIBH Lt ¥HmE SR
ZETNFFTZA=+—BZEEFEZE
B mMABEREE LEREZSEECE
BEEPREEVEBOARBR_STNLF+—
A=Z+HZEE20% AT L -

At - BE 3
}:‘YO

ZACRN T -TFRANAE

EENERGHN KR

B EXWEEES  ARRREAATHE AT
BETVESNETERARAREAEARE
@ MR 48 B AR F E AE MBS R DA £
ZEAIEREH

FHRAFE13ZFE 132112
T—rnﬁﬁ *EE

BIEEMRANFE13EF 1321 GRERETZ
BT W2EBRE13.181 THAR-ZT—
TF=A=1+—HBNBERRAFIERRRER
THEEEREZERBEMNFS - RIELE
MRANE 131718 &% FE13.191& » AR RIWA
AEZEERBENFEMEKAMEE -



The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into on 18
September 2007 (the “Loan Agreement”) for a transferable revolving
credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,500.0 million
with final maturity date falling five years after the date of the Loan
Agreement.

The Loan Agreement provides that the existing individual shareholder
of the Company holding the single largest shareholding (direct or
indirect) in the Company on the date of the Loan Agreement together
with his associate(s) shall be the Company’s single largest beneficial
shareholder at any time until the final maturity date and/or so long as
the loan remains outstanding.

As at the date of the Loan Agreement, CCM Trust (Cayman)
Limited, LBJ Regents Limited and CDW Holdings Limited (all being
substantial shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the SFO), Mingly Asia Capital Limited (not being a substantial
shareholder within the meaning of the SFO) and Mr CHA Mou Sing
Payson, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor, Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
and Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline (all being Directors of
the Company) together had an aggregate interest in 686,284,267
shares in the Company, representing approximately 50.83% of the
issued share capital of the Company and collectively treated as a
single controlling shareholder of the Company under the term “Cha
Family”.

The aforesaid obligation continued to exist as at 31 March 2010.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE 13.22 OF
CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rule 13.22 of Chapter 13 of
the Listing Rules, the following are the details of financial assistance
and guarantees given for facilities granted to affiliated companies of
the Company as at 31 March 2010 pursuant to rule 13.16 thereof.

(1) As at 31 March 2010, the Group advanced to Tung Chung
Station Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL”) an
aggregate amount of HK$965.7 million.
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TCSDCL is engaged in the development of Tung Chung Station
Package Il Project in Lantau Island, Hong Kong in which the
Group has 31% interest. The advances were provided by
the Group in the form of subordinated shareholders’ loans in
proportion to the Group’s shareholding interest in TCSDCL, for
the purpose of funding the working capital requirements of
TCSDCL. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing
and have no fixed terms of repayments.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group advanced to Dazhongli
Properties Limited and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli Group”) an
aggregate amount of HK$3,935.1 million.

Dazhongli Group is engaged in the development of certain
properties in Jingan District, Shanghai, the PRC in which the
Group has 50% interest. The advances were provided by the
Group in the form of shareholder’s capital and shareholders’
loans in proportion to the Group’s shareholding interest in
Dazhongli Group, for the purpose of financing the development
expenditure of Dazhongli Group. The advances are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayments.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group also advanced to several
affiliated companies an aggregate amount of HK$21.0 million.

As at 31 March 2010, the aggregate amount of advances provided

to and guarantees given for these affiliated companies by the Group
amounted to HK$4,921.8 million and represented 42% of the
consolidated net tangible assets of the Group of HK$11,634.8 million
and 27% of consolidated total assets of the Group of HK$18,106.5
million as at 31 March 2010.

A combined balance sheet of these affiliated companies and the

Group’s attributable interest in these affiliated companies as at 31
March 2010 are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 176 to 181.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

On 26 April 2010, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the zero
coupon convertible bonds due 2010 in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$1,410.0 million (the “Bonds”), the Company has
fully redeemed the Bonds in the outstanding principal amount of
HK$647.0 million at 128.948% including the accrued interest in an
aggregate redemption amount of HK$834.2 million in cash upon
maturity. The redeemed outstanding Bonds were cancelled upon the
redemption and the de-listing of the Bonds from the Stock Exchange
took effect automatically on 26 April 2010.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the
Group’s five largest customers.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the investment properties and property, plant
and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in notes
14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements respectively on
pages 168 to 173.
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER
DEVELOPMENT, SALE AND
INVESTMENT PURPOSES

Details of changes in properties held for/under development
purposes of the Group during the year are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 192 and 193.

A summary of major properties held for/under development, sale and
investment purposes is set out on pages 244 to 250.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$2.0 million (2009: approximately
HK$6.9 million).

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2010, the total number of employees of the Group
in Hong Kong and overseas was 3,257 (2009: 3,417). The Group
has always regarded human resources as one of the most important
assets. We aim to provide a quality work environment that attracts,
retains and develops the right people and to build a talented
workforce with capabilities and commitment to support our business
growth. For key initiatives during the year, please refer to pages 48 to
51.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements on page 223.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of
the Cayman Islands.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the percentage of
the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds
25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 88 to 100.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 243. This summary
does not form part of the consolidated financial statements.

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2010 has
been reviewed by the audit committee established in compliance
with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the relevant provisions of the
CG Code.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the AGM of the Company to re-
appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, being eligible and offering
themselves for re-appointment, as the independent auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
REREEE

CHA Mou Zing Victor

Deputy Chairman & Managing Director
Bl F/EHE BT

EREL

Hong Kong, 23 June 2010
8 _T-FEFXAZT=H
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or the
“Directors”) is pleased to present its corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 March 2010.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices as a core element towards success and it has
been the Company’s policy to manage the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) in accordance with
appropriate regulatory standards and practices on good corporate
governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has applied the principles
and complied with the code provisions of the Code of Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) during the year ended 31 March 2010, save for the
deviations with considered reasons stated in the following relevant
paragraphs.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (including amendments as effected from time
to time) as its own code of conduct to regulate securities transactions
by directors of the Company (the “Model Code”). All Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010 (both days
inclusive).

The Model Code has been extended to and has become equally
applicable to dealings in the securities of the Company by members
of senior management and relevant employees who are likely in
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to
the Company.

A revised Model Code has been adopted by the Company to comply
with the new requirements set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules effective from 1 January 2009.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

Save as disclosed below, the Company has at all time during the
year ended 31 March 2010 maintained a balanced board with
strong independent element. The Board currently comprises thirteen
directors with eight non-executive directors (“NED”), four of whom
are independent. The members of the Board as at 31 March 2010
and up to the date of this report were set out on pages 52 and 53.
Each Director possesses skills and experience appropriate to the
business of the Group and particulars of the Directors and Senior
Management are duly set out in the paragraph headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 54 to 60.

During the period from 4 December 2008 to 21 July 2009, the
Company was unable to comply with the requirements of rules
3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules, code provision B.1.1 of the CG
Code and the respective terms of reference of the audit committee
and remuneration committee of the Company as it had only two
independent non-executive directors (“INEDs”) and the composition
of both the audit committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company was rendered below the requirement of the majority of the
members of each committee should be INEDs.

Immediately after the appointment of Dr QIN Xiao as an INED and
member of the audit committee and member of the remuneration
committee of the Company with effect from the conclusion of the
board meeting of the Company held on 22 July 2009, the Company
had fully complied with the requirements of rules 3.10(1) and
3.21 of the Listing Rules, code provision B.1.1 of the CG Code and
the respective terms of reference of the audit committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company.
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On 25 September 2009, Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson was appointed
as an alternate director to Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson and the
representative of Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline for the purpose
of attending and voting on their behalf at the board meeting of the
Company held on 25 September 2009. Both appointments had
expired upon conclusion of the Company’s board meeting on 25
September 2009.

On 10 April 2010, Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta was re-designated from
NED to INED of the Company.

During the year under review, the Company has met the requirement
of rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules with at least one of the INEDs
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Each of the INEDs has provided to the Company an annual/initial
confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considers that all of them continue to be
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines set out in
the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

Save for Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor, Mr
CHA Mou Daid Johnson and Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
who are family members, all other Directors have no relationship with
each other.
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Board and Committee Meetings and Attendances

During the year under review, four board meetings were held and
fourteen sets of written resolutions were passed by certain board
committees. The audit committee of the Company held two meetings
while the remuneration committee of the Company held one meeting
and exchanged four rounds of electronic communication during
the year. The agenda and accompanying board papers were sent
to all Directors or committee members at least 3 days (or such
other period as agreed) before the intended dates of the meetings.
Directors’ attendance in the board meetings, audit committee and
remuneration committee meetings are set out below:
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Remuneration

Audit Committee

Board Committee  Meeting/Circulated

Meeting Meeting Communications

Name of Directors EExg EREEE FMZEES
EEEB 23 =k 28 EHER
The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI* EEEEE" 3/4 2/2 -
Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson ERELA 2/4 - -
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor* B 4/4 - 5/5
Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson BRERE 4/4 - -
Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry** ERSR Al A 2/4 2/2 3/5-
Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin**  sRiEE L+ *# 3/4 2/2 5/5~
Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming RERLE 4/4 - -
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus** SRIKFR I A 4/4 2/2 5/5-
Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham EOBEE 4/4 - -
Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta e g X+ 4/4 - -
Dr QIN Xiao**@ REE L e 2/3 11 4/4-
Mr TANG Moon Wah BmE R L 4/4 - -
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline TEEELL 3/4 - -

* members of audit committee

# members of remuneration committee

- comprising 1 meeting and 4 rounds of circulated communication

@ appointed as INED and member of audit committee and remuneration
committee during the year on 22 July 2009
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of chairman, deputy chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company were exercised by two different individuals who are
brothers. Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson is the chairman and Mr CHA
Mou Zing Victor is the deputy chairman and managing director of the
Company.

There is no written responsibilities setting up for the chairman and
chief executive officer, the division of responsibilities of the two roles
of chairman and chief executive officer is established as a norm by
the Board with core duty of the roles duly set out in the Company’s
articles of association (“Articles”). The Board may consider to divide
the responsibilities in much detail and set out in writing the roles and
duties of chairman and chief executive officer in the future if there is
a need.

Delegation by the Board

The Board has set out level of authority and express terms of
reference of the relevant board committees and reserves the rights
to oversee all other matters not delegated, in particular, major
acquisitions or disposals, and connected transactions for its decision.

The Board also delegates certain management and administration
functions to management as it considers appropriate from time to
time, with directions as to the powers of management including
circumstances where management shall report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board. The Board may revisit such delegations
as from time to time to ensure clear directions and powers are given
and proper reporting procedures are followed.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company,
which includes formulating business strategies, directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Executive directors are in charge
of different businesses and functional divisions in accordance with
their respective areas of expertise.

Upon appointment, every Director is given comprehensive
documentations of the business operation of the Group and
regulatory and statutory requirements as director together with
briefing meetings with senior executives and department heads of
the Group.
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Directors are also provided with continuous updates on the
latest changes or material development in statues, the Listing
Rules, corporate governance practices relating to the duties and
responsibilities of directors and are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development seminars to update their
knowledge for discharging directors’ responsibilities.

Nomination, Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The Company has not set up a nomination committee and the Board
as a whole is responsible for the appointment of new directors.
However, the Board may on need basis establish committee
comprising board members for expediting the right candidate to fill
any vacancy in the Board.

During the year, the Board has delegated power to Mr CHA Mou Sing
Payson and Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor to look for a suitable candidate
to fill up the vacancy occurred subsequent to the redesignation of Mr
CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus as NED on 4 December 2008. On 22 July
2009, Dr QIN Xiao was nominated and appointed as an INED of the
Company.

The Articles have provided rotation and re-election for all Directors.
As required by the Articles, at each annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the time being, or
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and any Director appointed
by the Directors shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) or
until the next following AGM (in the case of an addition to the Board)
and eligible to offer for re-election. Accordingly, five Directors, namely
Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson, Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson, Mr CHEUNG
Tseung Ming, Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham and Ms HO Pak Ching
Loretta shall retire and stand for re-election at the forthcoming 2010
AGM.

All NEDs and INEDs of the Company were not appointed with
specific term, but are subject to the aforesaid rotation clause in the
Articles.
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Remuneration of Directors

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are subject
to shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is determined with
reference to market terms, their respective duties and responsibilities
in the Group and the Group’s remuneration policy. Under the terms
of reference of the remuneration committee, the remuneration
committee should make recommendation to the Board on the policy
and it has the delegated responsibilities to determine the specific
remuneration package of the executive directors and the senior
management.

The executive directors are entitled to salary and discretionary bonus
which are subject to individual and the Company’s performance and
contribution to retirement scheme under each of their respective
employment contracts as an executive of the Company. The non-
executive directors are entitled to a director's fee for their service
which was determined by the Board, pursuant to the authority given
by the shareholders at general meeting from time to time, with
reference to their duties and responsibilities in the Company and
the prevailing market situation. Currently, a sum of HK$100,000 per
annum being the basic fee for acting as a non-executive director and
an additional fee of HK$100,000 per annum will be paid to each
member of each of the audit committee and remuneration committee
of the Company.

In general, the managing director recommends proposals of the
remuneration of other executive directors for due consideration and
approval by the remuneration committee. However, he abstains from
voting when his remuneration is considered by the remuneration
committee. His remuneration is recommended by the chairman
and reviewed and determined by the remuneration committee.
No director will participate in the discussion and review of his own
remuneration.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2010 are disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 165 and 166.
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Board Committees

The Board has set up the remuneration committee, audit committee
and other executive committees and all of them have duly adopted
respective clear terms of reference. The Board will from time to time
review the terms of reference of such committees and reform and
renovate some of them to align with better corporate governance
standard. The composition of each board committee will also be
reviewed and updated upon changes of personnel. Each of the board
committees is entitled to seek independent professional advice,
at the Company’s expenses, if it considers necessary in order to
perform its duties. The Board will from time to time on need basis
pass resolutions to set up special executive committees with clear
terms of reference to deal with the business of the Company.

During the year, an independent board committee comprising all
the then INEDs of the Company has been set up by the Board to
advise the independent shareholders of the Company in relation to
continuing connected transactions and a connected transaction and
to make recommendations as to voting at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 9 March 2010.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established on 2
December 2004 and is regulated by the terms of reference approved
by the Board from time to time. The full text of the terms of reference
of the remuneration committee is available for viewing at the
Company’s website.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee require,
inter alia, the composition of the members of the remuneration
committee to comprise the managing director and three INEDs of
the Company with majority of the committee members being INEDs.
However, during the period from 4 December 2008 to 21 July 2009,
composition of the remuneration committee is below the requirement
of the majority of the members should be INEDs, as required by
the terms of reference of the remuneration committee and code
provision B.1.1 of the CG Code. Immediately after the appointment of
Dr QIN Xiao as an additional member to the remuneration committee
with effect from 22 July 2009, code provision B.1.1 of the CG Code
is fully complied with. The current members of the remuneration
committee are Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor, Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry,
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Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin, Mr CHEUNG Wing
Lam Linus and Dr QIN Xiao with Dr CHENG takes a lead role as
chairman thereof.

The principal role and function of the remuneration committee is
to exercise the powers of the Board to review and determine the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management members, including salaries, bonuses, benefits in kind,
share options and other plans. Such factors as remuneration paid for
comparable positions, time commitment and responsibilities of the
executive directors and senior management members as well as the
Company’s remuneration policy will be considered.

During the year under review, the remuneration committee held one
meeting and exchanged four rounds of electronic communication
to review and approve proposals in respect of (a) the extension of
employment contracts for executive directors; (b) the 2009/2010
bonus proposal for the Company including the executive directors
and senior management; and (c) the succession planning of the
Company. The attendance records of the remuneration committee
meeting held and communications circulated during the year are set
out in the above section headed “Board and Committee Meetings
and Attendances”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company was established on 17 July
1998 and is regulated by the terms of reference approved by the
Board from time to time. The full text of the terms of reference of the
audit committee is available for viewing at the Company’s website.

The terms of reference of the audit committee require, inter alia,
the composition of the members of the audit committee to comprise
NEDs with a majority (including the chairman) being INEDs of the
Company. However, during the period from 4 December 2008
to 21 July 2009, composition of the audit committee is below the
requirement of the majority of the members should be INEDs, as
required by the terms of reference of the audit committee and
rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. Immediately after the appointment
of Dr QIN Xiao as an additional member to the audit committee
with effect from 22 July 2009, rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules is fully
complied with. The current members of the audit committee are The
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Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI, Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry,
Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin, Mr CHEUNG Wing
Lam Linus and Dr QIN Xiao with Dr CHENG takes a lead role as
chairman thereof.

The principal role and function of the audit committee is to assist the
Board in meeting its responsibilities for ensuring an effective system
of internal controls and compliance, and in meeting its external
financial reporting objectives.

During the year, the audit committee held two meetings together with
senior management and independent auditor and had considered
the independent auditor's projected audit and non-audit services
fees, their independence and the nature and scope of the audit,
reviewed and discussed the continuing connected transactions and
internal controls, the interim and final financial statements together
with the management’s findings and responses and the independent
auditor’'s reviews and reports before submission to the Board for
approval. The attendance records of the audit committee meetings
held during the year are set out in the above section headed “Board
and Committee Meetings and Attendances”.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is the independent auditor of the
Company. The remuneration for audit services provided by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu to the Group for the year under review was
estimated at HK$6.6 million (2009 (actual): HK$5.6 million). In
addition to the audit fee, the Company had appointed Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu for other non-audit services including tax
compliance and the annual review on the continuing connected
transactions in respect of the construction and renovation
transactions with Hanison Group and the Broad Base Fund, for
around HK$2.5 million (2009 (actual): HK$2.6 million) in the year
under review.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal controls, which includes financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions. The Company
has an internal audit department which is responsible for performing
independent reviews on the effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal controls and reports audit findings to the audit committee
and the Board regularly.

During the year, the internal audit department carried out reviews
on (a) the bus service and tunnel operation system, (b) contractor
e-approval system and policy setting, (c) fare collection system
and its coupon issuing/redemption mechanism in Discovery Bay,
(d) operation of golf club, (e) tendering process and statistic
methodology improvement in Discovery Bay, (f) the operation of
marina club and its berthing mechanism and (g) other business units
with audit follow-up. With the implementation of follow-up measures
after the reviews, the effectiveness in area with irregularities
gradually improves. Findings on the reviews and the relevant
recommendations were presented to audit committee in December
2009 and June 2010. The audit committee agreed that the internal
auditor’'s reports are acceptable. From time to time, the internal
audit charter had been adopted to formulate the processes and
procedures of internal audit function for strengthening of the control
framework.

The Board, through the work of the audit committee and the
internal audit department, has conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Company and its
subsidiaries and considers that the Group’s internal control system
for the year ended 31 March 2010 was effective and adequate.
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REASONS FOR DEVIATIONS FROM THE
CG CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange except for certain deviations
from the code provisions A.2.1 (division of responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive officer be clearly established and
set out in writing), A.3 (minimum of three INEDs as per rule 3.10(1)
of the Listing Rules), A.4.1 (NEDs be appointed for a specific term),
B.1.1 (majority members of remuneration committee should be
INEDs) and E.1.2 (chairman of the board to attend annual general
meeting). Since the issue of Company’s interim report for the
six months ended 30 September 2009, there has been no other
deviation from the CG Code.

Apart from the considered reasons given above for deviations from
code provisions A.2.1, A.3, A.4.1, B.1.1, the Company had deviated
from code provision E.1.2 since Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson, the
Chairman of the Board of the Company and Dr CHENG Kar Shun
Henry, the chairman of the audit committee and remuneration
committee of the Company were unable to attend the AGM held on
3 September 2009. However, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor, the Deputy
Chairman of the Board and Managing Director of the Company, took
the chair of that meeting and two members of the audit committee
and one member of the remuneration committee were present
thereat to be available to answer any question.
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010 which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the results and cash flows of the Group. In preparing
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2010, the Directors have (i) selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently; (ii) made judgements and estimates that
are prudent and reasonable; and (iii) prepared accounts on the going
concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s independent auditor about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2010 is contained in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 105 and 106.
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2010 2009

—E-BF ZETNF

For the year ended 31 March BE=A=1+—HILFE HK$'M HK$'M
Results E BEBT BEAT
Turnover EER 1,839.8 2,593.7

Profit (loss) attributable to owners PA/NGIE ZE PN

of the Company w A (E518) 1,841.4 (224.1)
Dividends paid 2IRALE 81.0 121.5
Earnings (loss) per share (HK cent) GRREF) (BE) (BL) 136 (17)
At 31 March R=A=+—H HK$'M HK$'M
Financial Position BRI BEBRT BEAT
Total assets BEE 18,106.5 17,8489
Total liabilities BWEE 5,356.8 7,095.8
Net assets value BEFE 11,634.8 9,698.4
Net assets value per share (HK$) BREEE(ET) 8.6 7.2

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HK$)
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SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

As at 31 March 2010, the shareholders’ funds of the Group
significantly increased by HK$1,936.4 million to HK$11,634.8
million (2009: HK$9,698.4 million). The increase was mainly
attributable to change in fair value on investment properties, gain on
disposal of certain investment properties and income from operating
units. The overall gross profit margin for the Group was 28.1%
(2009: 34.7%).

MAJOR CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

The sale of property units of Le Bleu Deux in Tung Chung by Tung
Chung Station Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL”), in which
the Group has 31% interest, has been satisfactory. TCSDCL repaid
HK$297.6 million shareholders’ loan to the Group during the year.

MAJOR CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The sale of residential properties located in Discovery Bay, Hong
Kong, Nassim Road, Singapore and The Sukhothai Residences,
Bangkok contributed approximately HK$155.3 million, HK$196.9
million and HK$100.3 million cash respectively to the Group during
the year.

The Group has disposed certain residential investment properties
located in Discovery Bay and other areas of Hong Kong, as well
as in Shanghai, PRC, which contributed HK$235.5 million and
HK$1,326.6 million cash respectively to the Group.

Investment properties of the Group generated approximately
HK$253.5 million operating cash during the year.

FINANCIAL LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had total cash and securities
investment of HK$2,527.5 million (2009: HK$2,889.7 million) and
total bank borrowings of HK$1,570.6 million (2009: HK$3,382.1
million).
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GEARING

The Group’s gearing ratio maintained at a low level of 2.4% (2009:
22.3%) as calculated by the Group’s consolidated net borrowings to
the shareholders’ funds.

BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had adequate internal cash and
banking facilities, both secured and unsecured, to finance its
development projects and operations. As at 31 March 2010, the
unutilised credit facilities amounted to HK$5,141.1 million (2009:
HK$2,438.8 million).

The maturity profile of bank borrowings were 10.1% (2009: 30.2%)
falling within one year, nil (2009: 0.1%) falling between one to two
years, and 89.9% (2009: 69.7%) falling between two to five years as
at 31 March 2010.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions for the management of
funding requirements, interest rate and currency risk exposure. With
majority of assets and liabilities denominated in HK dollars and US
dollars and certain investments overseas, the Group has limited its
foreign currency exposure by maintaining naturally hedged positions
and through the use of currency swap arrangements. The Group's
banking facilities are principally on floating rate basis and interest
rate swaps will be employed to manage interest rate risk for its short
to medium term borrowings when appropriate and necessary.

It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial derivatives
for speculative purpose.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
g e

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had pledged property, plant and
equipment with a carrying value of HK$9.1 million (2009: HK$9.4
million), a property under development of HK$104.9 million (2009:
HK$95.3 million) and bank deposits of HK$59.3 million (2009:
HK$58.9 million) to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.
The banking facility relating to pledge of an investment property with
carrying value of HK$646.4 million as at 31 March 2009 has been
released. No investment property was pledged at the end of the
reporting period.

National Asset Limited, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, had
subordinated an inter-company debt due from one of its subsidiaries
for HK$35.6 million (2009: HK$26.8 million) to secure certain
general banking facility granted to the particular subsidiary.

During the year, the subordination of an inter-company debt due
to Royston Investment Limited, the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiary, from its subsidiary for HK$31.8 million as at 31 March
2009 to secure certain general banking facility granted was released.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At at 31 March 2010, the Group’s contingent liabilities relating to a
corporate guarantee given, to the extent of the Group’s proportionate
share, in respect of banking facility (or secured indebtedness,
if appropriate) granted to an investee company accounted for
HK$153.5 million (2009: HK$161.6 million).

Saved as aforesaid disclosure, the Group did not have other
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2010.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte.
=)

TO THE MEMBERS OF HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
ERAXEREEERAA

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of HKR
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 107 to 242,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZHETHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2010
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 June 2010
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 20102 = F—FF = F =+—HILF/Z

For the year ended 31 March
BE=RA=1t—HLHFE

2010 2009
—E-2F ZEENF
NOTES HK$'M HK$'M
BRE BEBT BEBAT

Turnover e 5 1,839.8 2,593.7
Cost of sales SHERAR (1,322.9) (1,692.5)
Gross profit EF 516.9 901.2
Other operating income HAL LA 6 154.7 117.8
Administrative expenses TR (400.4) (422.7)
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE 9 (75.3) (146.4)
Net gains (losses) from financial CREE/ABEFRE

assets/liabilities (E5t8) 9 86.6 (273.0)
Change in fair value of investment REYMEQNTFEED

properties

Realised gains on disposals HEZ BRIk 611.3 32.1

Unrealised gains (losses) RERU = (B518) 479.9 (462.7)
Finance costs V%ER 7 (82.2) (171.2)
Share of results of associates PaK [l /NI E 8 111.0 179.0
Share of result of a jointly controlled DGR B LA -

entity* 19 780.2 (0.3)
Profit (loss) before taxation BRI A (E51E) 9 2,182.7 (246.2)
Taxation B 10 (282.4) 8.6
Profit (loss) for the year REFE RN (BE) 1,900.3 (237.6)
Attributable to: T FE RS ¢

Owners of the Company RARER A 1,841.4 (224.1)

Minority interests DHRL R 58.9 (13.5)

1,900.3 (237.6)

Earnings (loss) per share EIREF (E1E) 13

— Basic (HK cents) — EARCEMW) 136 (17)

— Diluted (HK cents) — 58 (OB0) 130 (17)

* including unrealised fair value gain net of deferred taxation on * BECEEREMERSBEAFEREHNRE
investment properties under construction of HK$774.6 million. ERIB 2 7746 BEBTT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 =F—FF = =+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+—HLEE

2010 2009
—E-FF ZTThEF
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEAT BEAT
Profit (loss) for the year REE R (BE) 1,900.3 (237.6)
Other comprehensive income (expense): Hthzmkas (FX) -
Exchange differences arising from translation BRESINEBEEZER
of foreign operations =7 164.4 (228.9)
Share of exchange reserve of a jointly controlled DML HEIEFIE R B LFEE
entity 7.3 74.4
Share of asset revaluation reserve of an associate DMEHE R Rz BEEMFEE 0.4 =
Reclassification of exchange reserve to profitor loss ~ HEBE N BB D EEN
upon disposal of an associate FEYFa (0.3) -
Available-for-sale financial assets: AHHESREE
Fair value changes during the year FRARAFEEE 65.4 51.9
Reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal HERENHEEER (63.3) -
Deferred tax arising on fair value change NI EEFEE 2 RERTE (0.9 0.8
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RERERREBE - 3.1
Revaluation gain on land and buildings upon T RIEFE I EY R
transfer to investment properties EAEZEHRE 4.6 =
Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year — ZREEE b2 EWES (FIZ)

(net of tax) (HBrBIAR) 177.6 (98.7)
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year —~ ANFEE 2 E K (Fix) 4258 2,077.9 (336.3)
Total comprehensive income (expense) attributable T 7IfEE 2 E S (FA2)

to: #REE

Owners of the Company VNINCIETZEDN 2,017.4 (316.8)

Minority interests DR RS 60.5 (19.5)

2,077.9 (336.3)




ANNUAL REPORT 2009/2010 4F 1 09

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 March 2010 R=FE—FF=H=+—H

At 31 March
W=A=+-8
2010 2009
—2-FF —ETNF
NOTES HK$'M HK$'M
B sE HEBT BEEBTL
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment properties BEYF 14 5,298.6 5,367.3
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 15 2,345.7 2,488.5
Prepaid lease payments BREERR 16 99.5 143.1
Goodwill eSS 17 - 9.2
Interests in associates N 18 356.9 311.0
Interest in a jointly controlled entity EENEHIEE 2 s 19 4,918.5 41204
Held-to-maturity investments T\ ZEERE 20 52.4 21.8
Available-for-sale financial assets AEHESREE 20 79.2 108.8
Other assets Hith B 21 53.2 9.0
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 27 3.2 2.7
13,207.2 12,666.8
Current assets mBEE
Inventories FE 22 134.7 145.1
Properties held for sale REHEMSE 30.6 1213
Trade receivables e E 5 8RR 23 92.2 286.3
Deposits, prepayments and other Z& - BERIER
financial assets Hith e MEE 25 287.3 213.2
Properties held for/under development BIERRBEPYE 24 1,735.1 1,173.3
Amounts due from associates JRE Bt 5 ) R FRIR 18,25 211.5 4764
Amount due from a jointly controlled entity ~ FEUELRIIEHIE ”,*AIE 25 18.2 25.9
Taxation recoverable ARETK 1.7 12.8
Held-to-maturity investments REDIEIRE 20 135.5 23.7
Available-for-sale financial assets EHESREE 20 9.2
Financial assets at fair value through RAFEFTABRZ
profit or loss CREE 20 128.6 7417
Pledged bank deposits EHEPRITER 25 59.3 58.9
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRIE S 25, 37 2,055.4 1,903.5
4,899.3 5,182.1
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade payables, provision and ERBZRR - BiER
accrued charges EETER 26 933.4 849.0
Deposits received and other B REMEREE
financial liabilities 32 694.5 548.6
Amounts due to associates AN =N O 32 10.0 2.2
Taxation payable FERITIR 43.6 103.9
Bank loans due within one year —FRE|EZRITER 29 159.3 1,021.5
Other liabilities due within one year —FRE HHZE@EF 30 4.7 189
Convertible bonds - liability component AR ES - BE 31 830.5 -
2,676.0 2,544.1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R

At 31 March 2010 R=F—FF=H=+—H

At 31 March
R=ZA=+—H
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
NOTES HK$'M HK$'M
B aE BHEBT BEATL
Net current assets MENEEFE 2,223.3 2,638.0
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBARE 15,430.5 15,304.8
Non-current liabilities FRBAR
Bank loans due after one year —FRIBRITER 29 1,411.3 2,360.6
Convertible bonds - liability component AR ES - aEHfDs 31 - 777.3
Other liabilities due after one year —FRIBzEMAR 30 886.4 945.4
Deferred tax liabilities ERETIBAE 27 383.1 468 4
2,680.8 4551.7
12,749.7 10,753.1
Capital and reserves BARRGE
Share capital i 33 337.5 3375
Reserves (h 1R 11,297.3 9,360.9
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZNA BB A FE(GAHE 11,634.8 9,698.4
Minority interests DERR RS 1,114.9 1,054.7
12,749.7 10,753.1

The consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to 242 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23
June 2010 and are signed on its behalf by:

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director
BT fEFRE FAEAETE
BRER

F107EEF242E ISR A SRR ELE
EeN T ZFENA-+=AHEREHE
izt - IR THEEREREE

CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham
Executive Director
HITEE
#/0H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERERSEHRRK

For the year ended 31 March 20102 = F—FF = F =+—HILF/Z

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ANRERARR
Investment Convertible
property Asset  Investment bonds Capital
Share  Accumulated  revaluation General Share revaluation  revaluation equity Distributable  Exchange  redemption Minority
capital profits resenve resene  premium resene resene resene resene Tesene resene Total interests Total
RENE HEE[f REER TERER  TRAK Eus [d YRR

BA Rt BHRE  EERR  RfER e B REGR fif  EXRR i it i it
HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HK$M HKSM HKSM HKSM HK$M HKSM HKSM HKSM
REET EEEn  BEAL  REET  BEET  BERL  ABAT  BEET  BEER  AEAT  ABEL  BEEL  EEAT  REMR

(nofe @) (nofe b) (notec) (note d)
(Kia)  (Hb) (Hike) (Mita)

At 1 April 2008 K25/ FRA-A 375 7,006.1 - 783 15379 1294 14 751 4507 534 31 101549 10007 11256
Loss for the year HERER - @) - - - - - - - - - () (135 (379)
Bichange diferences arising fiom HERIEHEE

iransiation of foreign operations JERES - - - - - - - - - (2230) - (230) (9) (2289)
Fair value changes on avaiable L ESREE

-for-sle financiel assefs JATERD - - - - - - 520 - - - - 520 01) 519
Impairment logs on avalableforsale ~ AEHESREE L

finencial assels HlEER - - - - - - 31 - - - - 31 - 31
Share ofreserves of a jinfy AERREHEE

controlled entty (note ) Ef(re) - - - - - - - - - 744 - 744 = 744
Deferre taxarsing from air valle THLESREE

changes on avaiable ATERREE

~for-sale financial assels LB - - - - - - 08 - - - - 08 - 08
Total comprehensive TEERE

(expense) income for the year ke - (24.) - - - - 59 - - (1486) - (3168) (195) (3%63)
Didens paid Eihe NVIT) - - - = - - - - BNIT) -y
Acaquiston of additional interest RN

in a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - 03 03
Capitalcontributon by minoriy DEBRLE

shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - 32 32
Rederpton and repurchase of EOREETARES

convertble bonds - 04 - - - = = (406) = = = (182) = (182)

At 31 March 2009 RIZENEZA=1-B 3975 6,819 - 783 15379 194 513 35 407 378 31 96984 10647 107831




1:L2 HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &8 E £ EFREE AR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERDRBEREK

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

Attributable to the owners of the Company

FNIREARE
Investment Convertible
property Asset  Investment bonds Capital
Share  Accumulated  revaluation General Share revaluation  revaluation equity Distributable  Exchange  redemption Minority
capital profits resene resenve  premium resene resene resene resne reseme resene Total interests Total
REnE EEE(,  REBf TEREZ  UHAR EXRE HBRR

BE  RiteW  EMBE  SEGR  ROER &% B REEE fif EXER % &t B &3t
HKSM HKM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HK$M HKSM HKSM
REET BB BEAT  REAT  BEET  EEAT  ABAT  EEET  BEER  AEAT  RRET BB EEAT REAR

(note a) (noteb) (note c) (note d)
(ita)  (Witb) (Mikc) (Wit d)

At 1 April 2009 R-ZENENA-A 3715 66819 - 783 15379 104 5713 345 1507 378 31 96984 10647 107531
Proft forthe year REREH - 18414 - - - - - - - - - 18414 589 1903
Exchange diferences arising RERINEREE

from translaton of foreign JERER

operations - - - - - - - - - 1652 - 1652 (08) 1644
Fairvalue changes on avallable A EEEESREE

-forsale financiel assefs PANTEL L) - - - - - - 3 - - - - 3 01 64
Reclassfed toproftorloss upon. - HETRHESR

disposal of avalable-for-sale BERENAR

financial assets Zha - - - - - - (633) - - - - (633) - (633)
Share ofreserve of a joinfy AEHRAEHER

controlled entty (note ) Gifh (Hizte) - - - - - - - - - 13 - 13 - 13
Sareofreseneofanassocale  DEBEATIRE - - - - - 04 - - - - - 04 - 04
Reclassfied to proft or loss HEBED A

upon disposal of an associate B EEER - - - - - - - - - (03) - (03) - 03)
Deferte tax arsing from fair THHECHARATA

value changes on avalable RYMELZEERE

for-sale financial assets - - - - - - 09 - - - - (09 - (09)
Reveluation gain on land and L RETEREE

budings upon transferto NEREL ENE

investment propertes - - - - - 23 - - - - - 23 23 46
Total comprehensive Income Pl

for the year - 18414 - - - 2] 11 - - 1722 - 20174 605 20779
Transfer to accumulated profs SRENREAR

on the expiry of the conversion Zitafl

option - U5 - - - - - (345) - - - - - -
Transfer to investment property ERERERENE

revaluation resenve during the year  EfffE

- relaingtonetfairvalue chenge.  ~BEAIHATEE

in previous periods 5] - (2469) 2469 - - - - - - - - - - -
- relainglo et fairvalue change. ~ —~BEEMATHE
during the year 29 - (10084 10084 - - - - - - - - - - -

Interim dividend paid ERtERE - (81.0) - - - - - - - - - (81.0) - (81.0)
Acquistion of addtionalnterestin BB ARES

asubsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - 03 03

At31 March 2010 WT-F=f=t-B 375 12015 1253 783 15379 1321 584 - 407 5600 31 116348 11149 127497
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &%

The investment property revaluation reserve represents Group’s
accumulated unrealised net fair value gain on the investment
properties of the subsidiaries, the jointly controlled entity and the
associates recognised in profit or loss. Upon the relevant investment
property being disposed of and the fair value gain becoming realised,
the relevant net fair value gain will be transferred to accumulated
profits.

General reserve mainly represents reserve created by way of capital
reduction in a scheme of arrangement of the Group under its former
listed vehicle namely HKR Properties Limited pursuant to special
resolution passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting (the “Scheme
of Arrangement”) in 1988.

Distributable reserve was arisen from the cancellation of the share
capital and the share premium account of HKR Properties Limited in
the year of 1989/1990 under the Scheme of Arrangement.

Capital redemption reserve is the amount equivalent to the nominal
value of the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company’s
shares which was transferred from accumulated profits. The reserve
may be applied by the Company in paying up its unissued shares to
be allotted to members of the Company as fully paid bonus shares in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company and the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

Share of reserves of a jointly controlled entity during the year included
an amount of HK$1.7 million (2009: HK$3.2 million) arising from
translation of interest in a jointly controlled entity and an amount of
HK$5.6 million (2009: HK$71.2 million) exchange gain arising from
loans that form part of net investment in foreign operations.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEREMRER

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 =F—FF = =+—HIFE

2010 2009
—E-BF ZTENE
NOTE HK$'M HK$'M
Bzt BEER BEAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEXK
Profit (loss) before taxation B AnR A (B1E) 2,182.7 (246.2)
Adjusting items, net FRIFE R () (1,839.8) 9421
Operating cash flows before movements Rt ABEE S EEAI
in working capital LRERENE 342.9 695.9
Decrease (increase) in inventories BERD (L) 23.4 3.1)
Decrease in properties held for sale RHELEMERD 90.7 564.5
Decrease in trade receivables BB 5 ERF0R > 202.7 3709
Decrease in sale proceeds by stakeholders RE AFHHEEE0ER D - 1.7
Increase in deposits, prepayments and e BITHEREM
other financial assets SREELM (66.4) (11.5)
Increase in properties held for/under development — #{E%E /AR RN (444.7) (336.3)
(Increase) decrease in amounts due from associates JE U 1\ R1ZIE (3 10) 5> (36.1) 33
Decrease (increase) in amount due R LRI B A
from a jointly controlled entity A (3E0) 7.7 (12.3)
Decrease in financial assets at fair value BATEABRZER
through profit or loss BERD 694.8 738.7
Decrease in mortgage instalment receivables FEWizIE B RS 9.6 118
Increase (decrease) in trade payables, ENESER - BEREFER
provision and accrued charges #EmCRD) 39.1 (41.6)
Increase (decrease) in deposits Blge REMERAR
received and other financial liabilities 02 146.0 (146.2)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to associates  FEfTEE& A BB AN ORi) 7.8 (12.3)
Decrease in derivative financial instruments fTESRIARD (3.2) (0.4)
Cash generated from operations 2EMGEHRE 1,014.3 1,823.1
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BRBENEH (44.9) (81.7)
Overseas tax paid BREINRIR (382.3) (17.1)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM EEXBMERERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 587.1 1,724.3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
;éiﬁé}ﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 —F—ZFF=F=+—HI-FE

2010 2009
—2-%F “BENF
NOTE HK$'M HK$'M
Bzt BBERT BEAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEK
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties HEREME L FBHA 1,440.4 3095
Repayment of loans from an assaciate BEAREEEN 355.0 6789
Proceeds on disposal of interest in associates HERE AR FTEFUE 75.6 =
Redemption of held-to-maturity investments BEEZERE 46.7 30.2
Redemption of available-for-sale financial assets ~ BEEIA[HESRIERE 30.1 =
Decrease in long term deposits with a bank RIRITZ KRR 23.4 23.3
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BERRE
equipment ZFSF0E 12.3 8.3
Interest received EHFIE 11.7 19.2
Dividends received from associates REA=YNSIEISS 8.7 6.5
Option fee refunded BREREEE 0.1 0.1
Additions of held-to-maturity investments REREIPRE (189.1) (60.1)
Additions of investment properties RERENE (165.5) 4.2)
Additions of property, plant and equipment RENZE - BE R (122.1) (561.9)
Loans to a jointly controlled entity BT HEALEHER (10.6) (1,69.8)
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries ~ 2E&H ﬁ% Al (5.8) (2.3)
(Increase) decrease in pledged bank deposits EHEARITEHRCEM) AL (0.4) 20.7
Increase in other assets HbBEEM - (16)
Addition of prepaid lease payments AEBNHEERR - (0.4)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) REXKME (FR)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BeFE 1,510.5 (1,230.6)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEK
New bank borrowings raised FgRITEE 834.6 2,695.7
Club debentures issued HEemES 5.1 2.5
Repayment of bank borrowings BERIIEE (2,649.1) (1,656.2)
Dividends paid BERRE (81.0) (121.5)
(Repayment to) advances from minority (B T) 2R PERE
shareholders (77.0) 2.1
Interest paid BERFIE (13.8) (85.2)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases BEREHERE (1.2) (0.6)
Club debentures redeemed BOerEs (6.0) -
Capital contribution from minority shareholders PYRRHE - 3.2
Redemption and repurchase of convertible bonds B8l K2 B5 /0] R 4% (B 25 - (866.1)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ REXBFARSTE (1,988.4) (26.1)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BeRBEEEER
EQUIVALENTS 2B INEEE 109.2 467.6
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FIzRERBE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR ZEER 1,903.5 1,481.2
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ExgE &
CHANGES 42.7 (45.3)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FR7BEREE
OF THE YEAR ZEEER 37 2,055.4 1,903.5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-FZF

2010 2009
e —ETNEF
NOTE HK$'M HK$'M
B e BHEBT BEBL
Note: Ff3E -
(@)  Analysis of adjusting items, net () WREBBFEZON

Share of results of associates BaN it /N (111.0) (179.0)
Share of result of a jointly controlled DG A

entity F-GEE (780.2) 0.3
Release of prepaid lease payments TENHEENRE L 24 2.3
Depreciation of property, plant and Wz - BER

equipment Bl e 152.4 151.5
Interest income FBUA (11.7) (19.2)
Interest expense A BFH 68.9 162.5
Allowance for doubtful debts AR 2.4 7.3
Gain on repurchase of BBl AT AR & 25

convertible bonds < Woas - (31.1)
Net (gains) losses from financial CRHEEARFE

assets/liabilities (s ) Esta 9 (86.6) 273.0
Change in fair value of wEMENTEE

investment properties (479.9) 462.7
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, LEME - BE&

plant and equipment Bapd i1 €)) 13.9 (2.5)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMSE 2 W

properties (611.3) (32.1)
Gain on disposal of an associate HERE AR 2 e (74.4) =
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE 9 75.3 146.4

(1,839.8) 9421
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2010 2 =F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

1. GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the development,
management and provision of essential and recreational
services for residential housing and leisure projects in
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island, other property development,
property investment, hotel operation, manufacturing, securities
investments and provision of healthcare services.

The Group’s associates and jointly controlled entity are
principally engaged in property development, property
investment and construction.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”s)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised standards, amendments and interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA").

1.

2.

ISR

AR ARHERBEMA T EHE
AREEAT  HROREEBARS
FAMRA R (B ]) £ o AARE
R R BRI 2 R
2 ARERPIRE -

BABTBERRIART 2N EESET
24 -

RAFRREEZER AR ENB AR 2
T2EBABRNIEBMNAKE L RS
B2 EERT MBRREL SRR
FLREERS - EMYERERR - MFER
BOBERE  gE - ERRARREH
B IRIEARTS

AEERLATREARHER T 5
HEAYLBE - WERAREE -

FE R #Te] AR IERT &8 B
s e

WEFE  AEEEEATIEEES
ST DG 2 375 RSIEETER) - |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = —FF = A =+—HIFFF

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of financial statements
HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)  Borrowing costs
HKAS 32 & 1 Puttable financial instruments and obligations
(Amendments) arising on liquidation
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly
(Amendments) controlled entity or associate
HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting conditions and cancellations
HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Improving disclosures about financial instruments
HKFRS 8 Operating segments
HK(IFRIC*) - INT 9 & Embedded derivatives
HKAS 39 (Amendments)
HK(IFRIC) - INT 13 Customer loyalty programmes
HK(IFRIC) - INT 15 Agreements for the construction of real estate
HK(IFRIC) - INT 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation
HK(IFRIC) - INT 18 Transfers of assets from customers
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2008, except
for the amendment to HKFRS 5 that is effective
for annual periods beginning or after 1 July
2009
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009 in

relation to the amendment to paragraph 80 of
HKAS 39

* IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee.

EASHENZ 1R
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BRI EAE23%
(ZZ2LFEBE)
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RAMBREENE IR
REBGIREAE 7S
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BANBRELAE 2R
(BFIR)
ERMBREENETHR
CHEY)
BAMBREENEHR
(AR RERER
58)-2BEITR
BT ERE 9%
(B3T%)
BA(ERIBRERRE
58)-2BE 135
%%(IF%TWQ#& %Ei

é (I%Wﬁi%u%
B%)-REZ18%
E%Mﬁﬁiﬁw
(B37%)

AHRRANZS)
fEERA

HESRIARERE
WAL
HHBAR  AREHE

BPBHE:TE
REREEHEN S
HRNFBFRENER
HEFEBEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

The adoption of these new standards has resulted in the
following changes and impact on the results and financial
position for the current year. The adoption of the other new and
revised standards, amendments and interpretations has no
material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In the current year, the Group has adopted Hong Kong
Accounting Standard (“HKAS”) 1 (Revised) “Presentation
of financial statements” which has introduced a number
of terminology changes (including revised titles for the
consolidated financial statements) and has resulted in a number
of changes in presentation and disclosure. The adoption of
HKAS 1 (Revised), however, has no impact on the reported
results or financial position of the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In the current year, the Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating
segments”. HKFRS 8 requires the presentation of operating
segments in a manner consistent with the internal reports that
are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision
maker. HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14 “Segment reporting” which
required an entity to identify two sets of segments (business
and geographical). Following the adoption of HKFRS 8, the
presentation of the segment results and segment assets has
changed (see note 5 for details). However, the adoption of
HKFRS 8 has not resulted in redesignation of the Group’s
reportable segments.

BRI 3T R AR 2 2 48 N B 7%
RRERA T EE R E o FRAE M
FIRERTER - BRI AR 2B EY
RAVBMREREATE

I HmERNZS

RAFE  AEBECRBB LS E
A% 15k RIER]) [ H R 251 ] -
ZAEEASIAZEEAEBZER(E
RIEREAMBHRERZEE) X EHH
BEUBHRRZET2IEEETR - A
m - MBS ERF 15 (FIER])
BAKE D 28 XA BRI &
TR E -

7 EBE R

RAFE  AEBERATEHERE
ERIFEQE [EENE - BBMBRE
HHESRERZED 2257 R
AEETREERRETHMEHLZ
NEPRE — B - BEMBHRE LA ES
SRR BB G RIS 14557 2 B
FrEREEALIIMAD B (EHEDH
K &R) o BRaNEE I 75 s 2R
F8WIK  NEWEEMDHEEZZT
EEHEE (FIF2HMEESL) - A -
RAB BV BHREEAF SR I EEH
AEBERATEHEHRDE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

In prior year, the segment information reported externally
prepared in accordance with HKAS 14 was based on risks and
returns approach. Segment turnover represents the turnover
of the Group. Segment results represents the profit (loss)
before taxation earned by each segment without allocation of
interest income, central corporate expenses, finance costs,
share of result of associates and a jointly controlled entity.
However, information reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purpose of resources allocation and assessment
of performance is different. Segment revenue includes the
turnover of the Group and associates, and sale proceeds of
investment properties located in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) and net sales proceeds of securities investment.
Segment results represents the profit (loss) for the year
attributable to the owners of the Company earned by each
segment without allocation of central corporate expenses,
finance costs and corporate level exchange difference, the gross
unrealised gain on fair value change of investment properties
net of deferred tax arising from unrealised fair value change,
attributable to the owners of the Company.

Segment information reported to the chief operating decision
maker is presented in note 5. Amounts reported for the prior
year have been restated to conform with the requirement of
HKFRS 8.

RBEFE  BINEHR2 D MERTIE
REBEFHERE 145 RIEE R 2O ¥R
TIEMREL - DEVERBRIEARE 2 &1

B o DEPEEEEE D BT R
ADER (B1R) - A gD #H SUWA -
REER  BHER  EBEAR R
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EERREUNBOEERNFIZEEZ
RHEMRERTE - 2 EBARRER
SENBERNRZERE  RPEAR
KB (T 2REMEHEKE
FIHERAFIRE 2 et F8 - DEbRAE
B ED #BER & PTRE . A E A
(BR)  ETEDBEARREEEZR
RARNER  BHERRAREEE
RER REVERAFEESH 2 RER
Bl s (HBRARERATVTEEHEL Y
EERIR) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE

The Group has applied HKFRS 7 (Amendment) “Improving
disclosures about financial instruments” which requires that, for
each class of financial instruments measured at fair value, an
entity should disclose the fair value measurements using a fair
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements. The fair values hierarchy are
classified into the following levels:

(@) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level
2); and

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The fair value for financial instrument classified as level 1 and
level 2 is based on quoted market prices and observable market
data respectively while for financial instrument classified as
level 3, the measurement of fair value can be based on inputs
that can be observed in the market in addition to unobservable
inputs such as company specific financial information. If the
observable market data is not available, the measurement of fair
value can be based on unobservable inputs.

The relevant comparative information based on the
requirements of HKFRS 7 (Amendment) has been presented for
the first time in the current year.

ERITARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

IMPROVEMENTS TO HKFRSs ISSUED IN 2008

HKAS 40 “Investment property” has been amended to include
within its scope properties under construction or development
for future use as investment properties and to require such
properties to be measured at fair value (where the fair value
is reliably determinable). In the past, the Group’s leasehold
land and building elements of investment properties under
construction were accounted for separately. The leasehold land
element was accounted for as an operating lease in accordance
with HKAS 17 “lLeases” and the building element was carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses in accordance with
HKAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment”. The Group has
applied the amendment to HKAS 40 prospectively from 1 April
2009 in accordance with the relevant transitional provision.
As a result of the application of the amendment, the Group’s
properties under construction for future use as investment
properties that include the leasehold land and buildings
elements, which were previously included in construction in
progress under property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments for land, have been reclassified as investment
properties. In addition, properties under development for future
use as investment properties of a jointly controlled entity had
been reclassified to investment properties. The impacts of the
adoption of HKAS 40 are as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

HK$'M
BEAT
Carrying value of properties under construction B RIEIREMF 2 EEMER
for future use as investment properties —EENFHA—HZERABERSRE :
at 1 April 2009 comprises:
— construction in progress included in —FTAYE - BERERERZERETRR(MFE15)
property, plant and equipment (note 15) 49.3
— prepaid lease payments for land (note 16) — T AR ER K (M 16) 422
At 1 April 2009 R-EEAENE—A 915
Additions during the year FHARNE 130.7
Constructions completed during the year FRNEKZIEE (71.0)
Carrying value of properties under construction B REREYF 2 EEMER
for future use as investment properties —E-EFE=R=t+—HBZKEE
at 31 March 2010 151.2
Fair value loss of the investment properties ERIETEME 2 N ERE
under construction (41.2)
Fair value of the investment properties under FREREMER_ZT—FTF=A=1+—H
construction at 31 March 2010 ZAE 110.0
Fair value loss of the investment properties ERITEMZE 2 N ERE
under construction (41.2)
Share of fair value loss of the investment VYRR GERIEEME 2 AERIE
properties under construction by a minority
shareholder 20.6
Fair value loss attributable to the owners of RREIHEB AELR AT ERE
the Company (20.6)

HAEE S ERNFA0R 2 EFT - £F

Certain properties under development for future use as
investment properties of a jointly controlled entity had
been reclassified to investment properties as a result of the
amendment to HKAS 40. The fair value gain net of deferred
taxation of those investment properties under construction
amounted to HK$1,549.2 million of which 50% thereof
(HK$774.6 million) is attributable to the Group (see note 19).

THERETHEREREME
BREMECETOEAREME - %ZF
FEREEMEZ AFENBRELCHEZ
W58 B1,54028 &L MARA
FEMMEAFBO% 2 W= AT7746 BEBET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

The effect of the adoption of amendment to HKAS 40 on the
Group’s basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the
current and prior year is as follows:

Impact on basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share

Impact on basic

KRB B EFERIFE 405 2 BRI AE A
SEERMBEFE 2 BRERNRES
aM(BER) 28D
HEREAREBERR (BR) 228

Impact on diluted

earnings (loss) per share earnings (loss) per share
HEREXER (H8) HERBEERR (BB)
=% 2
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-ZF —TENF —E-BF —ETNEF
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
Al AL =21 A
Figures before AR ZET
adjustments 80 (17) 78 (17)
Adjustments arising from  BRAERILEYE
change in accounting SEHRE
policy in relation to EEZAE
investment properties
under construction 56 - 52 -
Reported figures after AEE 2HET
adjustments 136 (17) 130 (17)

The Group has not early applied those new, revised and
amended standards or interpretations that have been issued but
are not yet effective.

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) “Business combinations”
may affect the Group’s accounting for business combination
for which the acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2010. HKAS
27 (Revised) “Consolidated and separate financial statements”
will affect the accounting treatment for changes in the Group’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary.

7o B 42 2 R R S S B ARG B R
2 BT BT RIS SR R
B

RANE BT s 2 RIS 3 5% (IERT)
[RFBE0] ATEEAKESERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The standard requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments:
recognition and measurement” to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that (i) are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows and (i) have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost.
All other debt investments and equity investments are measured
at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 might affect the
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009,
HKAS 17 has been amended in relation to the classification
of leasehold land. The amendments will be effective from 1
January 2010, with earlier application permitted. Before the
amendments to HKAS 17, lessees were required to classify
leasehold land as operating leases and presented as prepaid
lease payments in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The amendments have removed such a requirement.
Instead, the amendments require the classification of leasehold
land to be based on the general principles set out in HKAS
17, that are based on the extent to which risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or
the lessee. The application of the amendments to HKAS 17
might affect the classification and measurement of the Group’s
leasehold land.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = —FF = A =+—HIFFF

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEFTEBER

POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain properties and
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporated the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by
the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
their effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.
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Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those interests at the date of the original business combination
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of
the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under HKFRS 3 “Business combinations” are recognised at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the
business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.
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For business combination involves more than one exchange
transaction through successive share purchases. Each
exchange transaction are treated separately. The acquisition
of additional interests in subsidiaries is recorded at historical
cost and the excess of the cost of acquisition over the carrying
amounts of net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition of a subsidiary is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of
the associate, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and
a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
unrealised profits or losses are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the associate.

JOINT VENTURES
Jointly controlled asset

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture
arrangements directly, constituted as jointly controlled asset, the
Group's share of the jointly controlled asset and share of any
liabilities incurred jointly with other ventures are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements and classified according
to their nature. Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in
respect of interests in jointly controlled asset are accounted for
on an accrual basis.
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Income from the sale or use of the Group'’s share of the output
of the jointly controlled asset, together with its share of any
expenses incurred, are recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to/
from the Group.

Jointly controlled entity

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entity.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entity
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investment in jointly controlled entity is carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of
the net assets of the jointly controlled entity, less any identified
impairment loss. When the Group's share of losses of a jointly
controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly
controlled entity (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the jointly
controlled entity), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for
and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that jointly controlled entity.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amount receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of completed properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised on the execution of legally
binding, unconditional and irrevocable contracts.

When a development property is sold in advance of completion,
profit is only recognised upon completion of the development.
Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to this
stage are included in current liabilities.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised as services are rendered.

Hotel operation income is recognised upon the provision of
services and the utilisation by guests of the hotel facilities.

Dividend income from investments excluding financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss is recognised when the Group’s
right to receive payments has been established.

Interest income from a financial asset excluding financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes other than construction in progress
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress, over
their estimated useful lives from the date on which they are
ready for intended use and after taking into account of their
estimated residual values, using the straight line method.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, the term of the related lease.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for
its own use purposes as well as self-constructed investment
property. Construction in progress is carried at cost less
any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date of
transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in asset revaluation reserve. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve
will be transferred directly to retained profits.
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Prior to 1 April 2009, property that was being constructed
or developed for future use as an investment property was
included in construction in progress until construction or
development was complete, at which time it was reclassified to
and subsequently accounted for as an investment property. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at that date and
its previous carrying amount was recognised in profit or loss.
Upon adoption of amendments to HKAS 40, that property has
been reclassified as an investment property at 1 April 2009 (see
note 2).

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for
future owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes,
the leasehold land component is classified as a prepaid lease
payment and amortised over a straight line basis over the lease
term. During the construction period, the amortisation charge
provided for the leasehold land is included as part of costs of
buildings under construction. Buildings under construction
are carried at cost, less any identified impairment losses.
Depreciation of buildings commences when they are available
for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).
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IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TANGIBLE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING
POLICIES IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.
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Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction. Starting from
1 April 2009, investment properties under construction are
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period if their
fair values can be reliably determined. Any difference between
the fair value of the investment properties under construction
and their carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

INVENTORIES

Properties held for/under development

Properties held for/under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Costs relating to the development
of the properties include land cost, construction cost, borrowing
costs and other direct development expenditure.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are completed properties and are
classified under current assets. They are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

Other

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.
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The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rate that
has been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interest in jointly controlled entity, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on the tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively.

LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit
or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight line
basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss.
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Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building
are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification,
unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, in which case, the entire lease
is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of
the lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in
land are accounted for as operating leases and amortised over
the lease term on a straight line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item
that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal of the foreign operation. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (the translation reserve).
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BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees or points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) or payments through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments and interest expense are
recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the four
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments and available-for-sale financial assets. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL comprise financial assets held for

trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near future; or

e tis a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
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e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade receivables, other financial assets, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, and amounts due from
associates and amount due from a jointly controlled entity) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that
the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability
to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-
maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments.
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Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in investment revaluation reserve, until the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked
to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
instruments, they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of the reporting period (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its

cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

e  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

e default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables and other financial assets, assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed
for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables and other financial assets, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When trade receivables
and other financial assets are considered uncollectible, they
are written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit
or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses were recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve. For available-
for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of
the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities other than derivatives (including bank loans,
trade payables, deposits received, other financial liabilities and
other liabilities) are subsequently measured at amortised costs,
using the effective interest method.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group entity after deducting all of its
liabilities.
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Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both liability
and conversion option components are classified separately
into respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument.
Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are not
separated from the relevant host contracts when the economic
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are closely
related to those of the host contracts. On initial recognition,
the fair value of the liability component is determined using
the prevailing market interest of similar non-convertible debts.
The difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of
the convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the embedded call option
for the holder to convert the bonds into equity, is included in
convertible bonds equity reserve.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, representing the option to
convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible bonds equity reserve until
the embedded option is exercised, in which case the balance
stated in convertible bonds equity reserve will be transferred
to share premium. Where the option remains unexercised at
the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible bonds equity
reserve will be transferred to the accumulated profits. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.
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Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective
as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect is
material).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes/
state-managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are charged as expenses when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

Management had made the following estimations that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements and a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.

FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 March 2010 at their fair value of
HK$5,298.6 million (2009: HK$5,367.3 million) (note 14). The
fair value was based on valuation on these properties conducted
by independent firms of professional valuers using property
valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group's investment properties and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
income statement.

The valuation of the investment properties under construction
held by a jointly controlled entity was conducted by independent
firms of professional valuers which was derived by making
reference to recent comparable sales transactions as available
in the relevant property market (on the assumption they had
already been completed at the valuation date), and has also
taken into account construction costs already incurred as well
as the estimated costs to be incurred to complete the projects
including future land costs for obtaining land title certificate,
which are deducted in order to arrive at the value of the partially
completed project. The Group obtained the land title certificates
of two pieces of land out of three. The management considers
there is no material legal impediment for the Group to obtain
the land title certificate of the remaining one. The valuation
involves certain assumptions and estimation of future cost to
be incurred. The changes of these assumptions and estimation
would result in changes in the fair value of the investment
properties under construction held by a jointly controlled entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = —ZF# = A =+—HIFF/F

PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s properties
held for/under development amounted to HK$1,735.1 million
(2009: HK$1,173.3 million) (note 24) with reference to
current market environment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may exceed its net realisable value. Appropriate write-down for
estimated irrecoverable amounts is recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the net realisable value
is below cost. The estimates of net realisable value are based
on the evidence available at the time the estimates are made
of the amount the properties held for/under development that
are expected to realise. These estimates take into consideration
fluctuations of price or cost after the end of the year. Actual
realised amount may differ from estimates, resulting in a
decrease in the net realisable value of these properties held for/
under development and additional write-down may be required.

PROJECT INVESTMENT UNDERTAKEN BY A
JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

The Group has a 50% equity interest in a jointly controlled
entity, Dazhongli Properties Limited (“Dazhongli”), which is
engaged in the development of certain properties in Shanghai,
PRC. In considering the recoverability of the Group’s loans to
Dazhongli amounted to HK$3,916.9 million (2009: HK$3,906.3
million) (note 19), management takes into consideration the
recoverable amount of the underlying assets of Dazhongli
which is determined by reference to the costs to be incurred
to complete the development of the properties and the future
rental income to be generated therefrom. In this regard,
management considered that no impairment is necessary in
respect of the loans to Dazhongli.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

IMPAIRMENT OF AMOUNTS DUE FROM
ASSOCIATES

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 March 2010 is an amount of HK$930.7 million (2009:
HK$1,228.3 million) due from an associate, Tung Chung
Station Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL”), which
is engaged principally in property development activities (see
note 18). In determining whether an allowance for amount
due from the associate is required, the management takes into
consideration the recoverable amount of the underlying assets
regarding the amount due from the associate and the likelihood
of collection. Specific allowance is only made for the amount
that is unlikely to be collected from the associate. The carrying
value of the amount due from an associate in excess of the
present value of estimated future cash flows of the recoverable
amount is recognised as impairment loss. Estimated future cash
flows are determined based on the net realisable value of the
underlying developed properties, which in turn involves, inter-
alia, considerable analyses of current market price of properties
of a comparable quality and location, construction costs to be
incurred to complete the development and a forecast of future
sales are taken into account by management in the assessment
of the receivable amount. In this regard, the management is
satisfied that no further impairment is considered necessary in
respect of the amount due from an associate.

DEFERRED TAXATION

As at 31 March 2010, no deferred tax asset was recognised
in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
in relation to the estimated unused tax losses of HK$517.5
million (2009: HK$442.3 million) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future taxable profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future taxable profits generated differs
significantly from the expected, a material recognition or reversal
of deferred tax asset may arise, which would be recognised in
the consolidated income statement for the period in which such
recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT 5. MEERHPEE

INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” with
effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard
that requires operating segments to be identified on the basis
of internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of allocating resources to segments and assessing their
performance. In contrast, the predecessor standard (HKAS 14
“Segment reporting”) required an entity to identify two sets of
segments (business and geographical) using a risks and returns

1o U

approach, with the entity’s “system of internal financial reporting

|n

to key management personnel” serving only as the starting
point for the identification of such segments. In the past, the
Group's primary reporting format was business segments. The
application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a redesignation of
the Group’s reportable segments as compared with the primary

reportable segments determined in accordance with HKAS 14.

The Group is currently organised into seven operating divisions:
property development, property investment, services provided
(club operation, provision of professional property management
and transportation services to the residents of Discovery Bay),
hotel operation, healthcare (provision of medical and dental
care services, comprising cancer centres, dental clinics,
diabetic and cardiovascular centres and multi-specialty
outpatient centres), manufacturing (manufacturing and sales of
sanitarywares) and securities investment. Each of the operating
divisions represents an operating segment. An analysis of the
Group's revenue and results by operating segments for the year
is as follows:
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Property ~ Property  Semvices Hotel Securities
development investment  provided  operation Healthcare Manufacturing  investment Total
NXER  NXRE  ROBE EEXE  BRERR e BHRE a3t
HKS'M  HKSM  HKS'M  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HK$'M
FE#n HBEBn FEEn BEBn FEER BERn RAEER BEER

For the year ended 31 March 2010 BZ-E-E5=A=1-H

5§

TURNOVER g8
Segment revenue - sales derived fom A ERA - REBRBE AT

the Group and associates LHER 14785 17308 3796 2900  49%9 223 989  4,697.8
Excluding turnover of associates AEBEAR ERR (1,270.0)  (84.9) - - (84.9) - - (14399
Excluding sale proceeds of investment SRRl RENE ZHE

propertes located in PRC HiERE - (1,3259) - - - - - (1,3259)
Excluding sale proceeds of securities BRESRE  HEREIE

investment - - - - - - (989 (98.9)
Turnover E5% 208.5 3200 379.6 290.0 412.0 223.1 - 18332
Reconciling adjustment; AR

Others A 6.6
Total consolidated tumover, as reported ~ GRABEEEE - M2RK 1,839.8
RESULTS £
Segment results (note 1) AR (D) 1224 6807 2.4 9.1 274 (705 8.2 8827
Unallocated corporate expenses AORLAER (75.4)
Finance costs and corporate level HRERRAAERZER

exchange difference ] (80.2)
Net unrealised gains on fairvalue change ~ RAMEATEE AR

of investment properties (note 2) W (Wi 2) 3397

Net unrealised gain on fair value change of - REEfE(5 L RizsIEE
investment properties atfributable fothe  FMREMERER ¢ ATE
Group's interest in a jointly controlled entty  £%12 K& s ¥4 7746

Profit for the year atributable o the ARAEEAEERER SR

owners of the Company 18414
Minority shareholders' share of profi DERRA AR R
for the year 58.9

Profit for the year REERT 1,900.3
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

Property ~ Property  Services Hotel Securities
development investment  provided  operation  Healthcare Manufacturing  investment Total
MEER  MERE  RURE  BERE  BERR & EARE a5t
HKSM HKS'M HKSM HKSM HKSM HKS'M HKSM HKSM
BEST BEAT BB BEAT BEAT BEAT BEEAT BEAT
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE_2TNF=R=1-H
i
TURNOVER g8
Segment revenue - ales derived fom ~ AHRA-REBRBE AT
the Group and associates LHES 46793 436 3831 303 4511 1992 - 6496
Excluding turnover of assoclates Y NG P 3 (37313 (80) - - (%9.1) - - (39164)
Tumover EEE 9480 3496 381 3503 3520 1992 - 25822
Reconciling ajustment; AR
Others Kt 115
Total consolidated fumover, as reported ~~ SRAEEE - 2R 25037
RESULTS E
Segment results (note 3) PBEE (H3) 502 281 21 29 (369) (685  (4036) 2683
Unallocated corporate expenses AARAFER (74.6)
Finance costs and corporate level ABERRAREE RLES
exchange difference (89.3)
Net unrealised losses on fairvalue change ~ RENEATEEE .
of investrment properties (note 4) SRERFE () (3255)
Loss for the year attributable to the ARAREAEEAERER
owners of the Company (224.1)
Minoriy shareholders’ share of loss PERRAEAERER
for the year (135)
Loss for the year TEEER (2376)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 # 2.

Notes:

(1)

The segment results of property investment business included
realised gains on fair value change of investment properties, net
of the effect on reversal of deferred tax and recognition of current
tax upon disposal of investment properties, and withholding
tax on undistributed profits of a PRC subsidiary, attributable to
the owners of the Company, amounting to HK$611.3 million,
HK$162.0 million and HK$27.6 million, respectively.

The net unrealised gains on fair value change of investment
properties attributable to the owners of the Company of HK$339.7
million represented the unrealised gain on fair value change of
investment properties of HK$479.9 million net of the deferred tax
arising from change in fair value of HK$140.2 million.

The segment results of property investment business included
realised gains on fair value change of investment properties, net of
the effect on reversal of deferred tax and recognition of current tax
upon disposal of investment properties, attributable to the owners
of the Company, amounting to HK$32.1 million and HK$3.6
million, respectively.

The net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties attributable to the owners of the Company of HK$325.5
million represented the unrealised losses on fair value change of
investment properties of HK$462.7 million net of the deferred tax
arising from change in fair value of HK$137.2 million.

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external

customers.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating

segments is disclosed as they are not reviewed by the chief

operating decision maker nor otherwise regularly provided to the

chief operating decision maker for review.

(2)

(3

(4)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = —ZF# = A =+—HIFF/F

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION it 2pE L

For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE-_Z-ZEF=A=+—HLEFE

Property  Property  Services Securities Unallocated
development investment  provided  Hotels Healthcare Manufacturing investment  amounts Total
NERE MERE RUBE EEEE BRRE 0 RE BERE ROEEE 4
HKS'M  HKSM  HKSM  HKS'M  HKS'M  HKS'M  HKS'M  HKSM  HKS'M
BERT PBEBT PERT PERT PEERT BERT BERT BEERT AEER
Amounts included in the measure  3FEA SRFISER
of segment proft or loss: MRfEceE:
Revenue from infer-segment sales™ S SRR SHENE - 33 (44 - - - - - (77
Depreciation ik 53 88 459 46.8 305 114 - 37 1524
Impairment losses on property, 1%~ BERREZ
plantand equipment recognised  CEARESIE - - - - - 606 - - 606
Allowance for doubtful debts RERE - - 0.1 - 19 04 - - 24
Impaiment oss on goodwil NERER EE
recognised in proft or oss HEEE - - - - 94 53 - - 147
Net gains from financial assets) 4 BE&E/BEFH%
liabilities - - - - - - (86.6) - (86.6)
(Gain) loss on disposal of HENE - BEREAEL
property, plant and equipment bz ER (6.7) 03 104 6.0 38 0.1 - - 139
Realised gains on disposals of HERENEL
investment propertes EERNE - (6113 - - - - - - (6113)
Interest income FIEHA 02 (6.0 - 06 (1) - 33 (15 (L
Interest expenses MEFR 20 19 - 03 - 13 - 767 822
Income ta expenses (credt) Fil5Hi5 Elfz(%f%) 143 1380 53 (L) (4 - 104 1385 2824
Share of result of associate MBEAR ER (111.0) - - - - - - - (1110
Share of result of a HMERRZHER,
jointly controlled entity E+ - (5.6) - - - - - (7746)  (780.2)




For the year ended 31 March 2009
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &

e B RRME

P EFF=H=F—HIFFE

(E_TTENF=A=1T—HILEFE

Property  Property  Services Securities Unallocated
development investment  provided  Hotels Healthcare Manufactuing investment  amounts Total
NEERE MERE RURE BERE BERE 0 BE FA5RE AONEE 4
HKEM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKEM  HKSM  HKSM  HKEM
BEST EBEST BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT

Amounts included in the measure HENTE

of segment prafit or loss: s
Revenue from inter-segment sales* NPE EENR - 27 (06 - - - - - (33)
Depreciation & 51 17 482 470 280 111 - 44 1515
Impaiment losses on property, 0% - BERSELCER

plant and equipment recognised BEEH - - - - - 167 - - 167
Allowance for doubtful debts R 04 - - - 63 06 - - 73
Impairment loss on goodill REREA R

recognised in profit or loss FESE - - - - - 26 - = 26
Impairment loss on held-to-maturity BRI ENERTER

investrents recognised in profitorloss 2B - - - - - - 77 - 77
Impairment loss on avalable-for-sale T HERBNARRD

investrments recognised in profitorloss 2B - - - - - - 1194 - 1194
Net losses from financial assetsliabities £ BEE /BEFEHR - - - - - - 230 - M0
Loss (gain) on disposal of HENE - BREREREL

praperty, plant and equipment (B8) e 09 - 03) 01) - (30) - - (25)
Realised gains on disposals of HERENEEER

investment properties W - (32D - - - - - - (3
Interest income FBMA (55) (23) - 43) - on B9 B (192
Interest expenses ﬂﬁ' X - 57 - 10 16 14 - 1615 1712
Income ta expenses (credt) SHRx (WE) 700 168 46 15 21 12 - (1048 @86
Share of resul of associate 45 B %A (179.0) - - - - - - - (1790
Share of result of a AR

jointly controlled entity Z%%ﬁ - 03 - - - - - - 03
* Inter-segment sales are entered into in accordance with the ¥ DHEZHEIRBREZSFRIZA

relevant agreements, if any, governing those transactions in which
the pricing was the reference to prevailing market price or actual

cost incurred, as appropriate.

A ipaE (W08 )HETT x%fﬁﬂﬂﬂﬂ”ﬁ
T ENEREEKRAS RFERIE)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

Turnover from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover from its
major products and services:

ITREMRRE 2 ERE

T AAREEBERRRG 2 % 5£8
S -

2010 2009

—E-2F —ETNF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEERT BEATT

Sales of properties SHEYI 208.5 948.0
Sales of goods HEEm 223.1 199.2
Services rendered TR 1,081.6 1,085.4
Rental income MW A 320.0 349.6
Others Hith 6.6 115
1,839.8 2,593.7

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

For each of the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009, the
Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, South East Asia,
North America, PRC and Australia.

The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the
location where the sales occurred and information about its
non-current assets by geographical location of the assets are
detailed below:

HEER

Bz ZFERN_ZEZNEFE=H
=T HIERFE REEZZEEK
URES -~ Bigae ~ dbEM -~ PR R
M e

AEBRBINEES (CAHERMEL
ZiE SRR 2 WaE M EBEREE
WM BN 2 IERDEEZFIF

N
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REIIEEF 2 Wz FRBEE

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNF —E-=F —ETNEF
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BHEET BEAT BEER BEETT
Hong Kong B 1,143.9 973.7 6,611.3 6,251.7
South East Asia REde 458.2 1,389.5 1,263.7 1,248.0
North America JE=M 33.8 39.6 0.3 03
PRC H 28.4 451 5,140.8 4,936.8
Australia SEM 175.5 145.8 3.1 2.7
1,839.8 2,593.7 13,019.2 12,439.5
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred

tax assets.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The revenue from individual customer contributed less than
10% of the total turnover of the Group for both years.

M ERBAETRESETARETH
BEE -
BREIREFZEHR

REAMEFE - KAEFEEP 2 W
THEAAEEBERE L2 10% °

OTHER OPERATING INCOME 6. HM&ZEIWA
2010 2009
—E-=EF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEATT BEBTT
Other operating income HE AU A
includes the followings: BETHIEIE
Bank and other interest income ERIT R EAF B WA 11.7 19.2
Forfeited deposits received for T E Y B UER
sale of properties ZEWEE - 23.0
Gain on disposal of an associate HER &N B Z Yz 74.4 =
Gain on repurchase of convertible bonds MO MR ES 2 W - 31.1
Net exchange gain P 5 U e 58 28.6 =
Other income HHUWA 40.0 445
154.7 117.8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BI%EH
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBTT
Interest on T &IEZFE
Bank loans wholly repayable within ARRAFERNBEERZ
five years RITER 13.6 91.6
Other borrowings wholly repayable within ARRAFERNBEERZ
five years HEMEE 5.6 6.6
Convertible bonds — liability component AR ES — AR AEFEA
wholly repayable within five years THEECBESY 53.2 709
72.4 169.1
Less: Amounts included in the cost of W ETAERE ERF
properties held for/under development MK 2 &8 (3.5) (6.6)
68.9 162.5
Bank loans arrangement fees RITERLHEA 13.3 87
82.2 171.2
8. SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES 8. p{hEi#a N R%&
The share of results of associates is analysed as follows: DR E AR EEDITUOT
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT
TCSDCL TCSDCL 57.3 211.6
Others HAh 53.7 (32.6)
111.0 179.0
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9. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 9. BRBiaEF (EE8)
2010 2009
—E-2F ZETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBTT
Profit (loss) before taxation has been arrived B FERTHF (E518) B 40k
at after charging (crediting): (Gt A) T5&IE -
Auditor’s remuneration IZEREN B & 6.6 5.6
Cost of inventories and developed properties 175 & 23R EK A
recognised as an expense RREM 248.2 815.2
Operating lease rentals in respect of THREFEERERS
land and buildings 44.8 425
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEME - BENREZ
plant and equipment B8 (a) 13.9 (2.5)
Net exchange (gain) loss P (M) 518588 (28.6) 10.7
Allowance for doubtful debts (note 23) KRR (PRE23) 24 7.3
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) & LA (BIEZEEMS) 456.5 457.4
Release of prepaid lease payments FENAENRES 34 5.0
Less: Amounts capitalised and included B BAMERETAERA
in properties under development MEZ (1.0 (2.7)
2.4 2.3
Depreciation e
Owned assets BEEE 151.4 150.4
Assets under finance leases REHET EE 1.0 1.1
152.4 151.5
Net rental income under operating leases on ~ &ZFHE 2 S WA FEE
Investment properties LB (329.9) (364.9)
Other properties Hnz (5.1) (7.4)
Less: Outgoings e AE-gus 18.5 20.9
(316.5) (351.4)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

2010 2009
—E-2F —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEBT
Impairment loss recognised EERREE R
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y% - B Kk (95T 15) 60.6 16.7
Goodwill (note 17) 2 (fysE17) 14.7 2.6
Held-to-maturity investments (note 20) 52 5| HIIR & (FF5E20) - 7.7
Available-for-sale investments (note 20) Al ERE (F9EE20) - 119.4
75.3 146.4
Net (gains) losses from financial TREE BEF (KRR
assets/liabilities
Net realised (gains) losses on financial BEAFEFABGZEMEE
assets at FVTPL BEIE 2% (W) 1R (21.5) 145.4
Net unrealised (gains) losses on financial BATEFABRCSRMEE
assets at FVTPL AEE 2% (W) 1R (4.9) 1339
Net realised gains on available-for-sale AR EemEED IR
financial assets ZF I E (63.3) -
(89.7) 279.3
Net losses (gains) on derivative PTESRT A
financial instruments R (WE) 3.1 (6.3)
(86.6) 273.0
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

10. TAXATION 10.%i18
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBTT BEBT
The charge (credit) comprises: T (Ee)BE
Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at 16.5% REE (T ERT =
on the estimated assessable B K 16.5% 5tE
profit for the year BENEH 40.1 24.2
Overseas tax calculated at rates prevailing BEERAERERZ
in respective jurisdictions (note) REFTE 28N (M) 332.2 73.3
372.3 97.5
Deferred taxation (note 27) EERE (MR 27)
Current year REFE (89.9) (87.2)
Attributable to a change in tax rate MR E ML - (18.9)
(89.9) (106.1)
282.4 (8.6)

Note: The overseas tax charge for the year ended 31 March 2010
mainly includes the Land Appreciation Tax of HK$114.8 million
(2009: nil) and Enterprise Income Tax arising from disposal of
the investment properties in PRC.

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profits tax rate
from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment
2008/2009. Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

m
=
4

P BE-Z-THF=A=1+—HLFE
Z/ﬁl\%ﬁlﬁiﬁfx BEEEEMR
PR REYEEE 2 LG ER
148BHEBAT(ZZEZNF - 8#) X
REFMBR -

RZZEZNFAAZ+B - FBLE
@Eﬂ:ggﬂiﬂﬁv\ﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁ; R
2N/ ZETNRABERE B EERNG
TR <@ 17.5% FRZE16.5% ° At - &
PRSI AR M B F E (5t FE AR T a
BziFR%: 16.5% 1% °

REFBECEABRIATEEMAESH
B REXRMBBOEEMARD] - PEIM
BRAINZMEFRE 2B EF25% °

RE T AERE 2 BB RAE A
R RITHEKHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 —

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends in
respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January
2008 onwards. Deferred taxation of HK$27.6 million (2009: nil)
has been provided for in the current year.

The tax charge (credit) for the year can be reconciled to
the profit (loss) before taxation per the consolidated income

statement as follows:

—EF=FA=1—HIFE

ZIE

REBEEMRSVE B
— R - FRET BB LD F AT EREUE
AFMTEIT - NFE - BIED

—Z2ENF—H

BRIEHRIEREE276BEBT(ZTTAN

g

AEEHBET T (ER)
BrEAT @A (B1E) 2 ¥R ¢

AR A

2010 2009
—E-2F ZEENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEST
Profit (loss) before taxation BrEERTm A (E518) 2,182.7 (246.2)
Less: Share of results of associates B DRERE AR EE (111.0) (179.0)
Share of result of a jointly DG EFEIES B
controlled entity LR (780.2) 0.3

Profit (loss) before taxation attributable NN S @KL )N

to the Company and its subsidiaries FEMLBRBL AT & A (E518) 1,291.5 (424.9)
Tax charge (credit) at the domestic BARMETEHHIER 16.5%

income tax rate of 16.5% FIE MBS L (He) 213.1 (70.1)
Tax effect of income not taxable BARHUWA 2 52

for tax purpose (46.2) (24.3)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PRAIBRS 2 B &

for tax purpose 43.7 114.7
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERBIBEE 2 Big 2 21.9 28.4
Utilisation of tax losses previously BT RER Z THIEEE

not recognised (54.9) (2.1)
Effect of different tax rates of REMANEREREE L

subsidiaries operating in MEBRRBENR &

other jurisdictions 21.7 (13.6)
Effect of change in tax rate TREREE) 7 & - (18.9)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERAI I E R R 2

differences not recognised Mg E 21.8 7.2
Effect of Land Appreciation Tax in PRC AR R ER 2 R 42.1 (32.7)
Deferred tax arising from withholding tax FRMB AR ZRD K&

on undistributed profits of a PRC subsidiary 2 TEIRBE A 2 B IR 27.6 =
Others HAth, (8.4) 2.8
Taxation attributable to the Company AR REHBARFEAN

and its subsidiaries for the year FE(LFRIE 282.4 (8.6)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND MNESMERTEESFHE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ EZiE
REMUNERATION
() DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION () ESMEFBOT

ARE AS FOLLOWS:

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the thirteen ENSENT=R2(ZTFTNF:
(2009: twelve) directors were as follows: FTZR)ESZEAZHMEAT ¢

For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE-Z-EF=A=1+—HLFE

Cha Cha Cheung Chung HoPak  Tang  ChaWongCha Ronald Cheng Cheung Cheung
Mou Sing MouZing Tseung SamTin  Ching  Moon Mou Daid MayLung  Joseph Kar Shun Kin Tung Wing Lam Qin
Payson ~ Victor ~ Ming Abraham Loretta ~ Wah Johnson Madeline  Arculli ~ Heny Marvin  Linus  Xiao  Total
EHE ZHY REH BUB MKE HRE GRE TERE SAE BR4 RER ORI RE 4%
HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM
BE#R AEER BERT BEEN FAER REET BEER AAEN BERT BEER FAER RERT BEER EEER

Fees #e - 03 - - 0.1 - 0.1 0.1 0.2 03 03 03 0.2 19
Other emoluments At
Salaries and other benefits HeRAMRR 42 45 20 19 -2 - - - - - - - 158
Performance related incentive EE ()
payment (note) 15 45 05 04 - 14 - - - - - - - 83
Refirement benefits schemes TR
contribution 31 - 03 0.2 0.1 - 02 - - - - - - - 08
Total emoluments He s 5.7 9.6 2.7 24 0.1 48 0.1 0.1 0.2 03 0.3 03 02 268
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE_ZTNF=A=1+—HIFE

Cha Cha  Cheung  Chung  HoPak Tang Cha WongCha  Romald  Cheng  Cheung  Cheung
MouSing MouZing  Tseung SamTin  Ching  Moon MouDaid Maylung  Joseph KarShun  KinTung Wing Lam

Payson  Victor Ming Abraham  Loretta Wah  Johnson Madeline  Arculi  Henry  Manin Linus Total
B BN REM BUE  fME WRE TEE IDRE BEE O OFE ORER R &
HKEM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKEM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKM
BE#T AEHn BEAT BEAT PBEAT FAEAT BEAT BEAT AEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT AEATL

Fees e - 03 - - 01 - 01 01 02 03 03 03 17
Other emoluments Afide
Salaries and other benefis 56 REMER 41 45 20 19 05 32 - - - - - - 162
Performance related incentive AR (HE)
payment (note) 10 25 03 02 6.0 14 - - - - - - 114
Retirement benefts schemes  &éxfalst 2l
contribution #2 - 02 02 01 - 01 - - - - - - 06
Total emoluments Hees 51 75 25 22 66 47 01 0.1 02 03 03 03 29
Note: The performance related incentive payment is determined Miat : BN EFRNLEEELS -
with reference to the operating results, individual ERIFR3IR R Al LR Th S B IEE
performance and comparable market statistics during the TE ©

year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

(I EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

(I

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the five highest
paid individuals of the Group included four (2009: four)

executive directors, whose emoluments are disclosed

above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2009: one)

employee are as follows:

EEME

HE-_T-—ZTF-A=+—ALHF
B AEEREGERTMAL - E
ROE (ZTTNF - 0E) BT
EE FEZHMER EXEE - &
T—%(ZZThF: —R)EEZ
BT -

2010 2009
—F-TF _TTNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBER BEBT
Salaries and other benefits ¥re REMET 4.2 25
Performance related incentive R
payment - 1.0
Retirement benefits schemes RIRERFTEI K
contribution 0.1 0.1
4.3 3.6
12. DIVIDENDS 128
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAETL BEBTT
No final dividend paid for the year 2009 ZETNEWEIRMRERE
(2009: HK9 cents per share (Z22NE : ZETN\F
for the year 2008) FRR9BL) - 1215
Interim dividend paid for 2010 of ZE-TFEIRNPHRE —
HK6 cents per share (2009: nil) HREBI(ZZEZNLE : &) 81.0 -
81.0 121.5
Proposed final dividend for the year 2010  ##k — T —ZF KERE —
of HK12 cents per share (2009: nil) ERI12EBW(ZZEZNSE : &) 162.0 =
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13. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 13

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
share attributable to the ordinary owners of the Company is

e B RRME

—E—FF=/A=1—HIFFE

B3 (&B1R)

ARREBRIER AL BREAR N #
SBEF (Eﬁ?@ ) TRIE N OIBURRTE

based on the following data:

2010 2009
—E-2F ZETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEBTT
Earnings (loss) BF (E518)
Earnings (loss) for the purpose of calculating ~ sTEEAREARZRF (EE)
basic earnings (loss) per share 2 BF (E518) 1,841.4 (224.1)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: ABEEErE  TER
Interest on convertible bonds AR ES 2 F & 53.2 -
Earnings for the purpose of calculating FrESRE SR (EE)
diluted earnings (loss) per share 2 EF| 1,894.6 (224.1)
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating
the basic earnings (loss) per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
relating to convertible bonds

g
SEEREARN (BE)
Z BRI

AR ESERAE
EEERE 2 EBR

1,350,274,367

105,885,434

1,350,274,367

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating
diluted earnings (loss) per share

SAEEREERN (BER)
Z BRI

1,456,159,801

1,350,274,367

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 March 2009 did not include the effect of conversion
of convertible bonds since the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding convertible bonds would result in a decrease in loss
per share.

AEERE_TTENF=-A=1t—HIF
B 2 B EEEY B EER iR
B2 E  FRRRARRITEARET
& 2 AR ES R EHERERR D -
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14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BEYE
2010 2009
—E-2F ZEENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEBTT

FAIR VALUE NYE
At beginning of the year F4] 5,367.3 5,873.7
Currency realignment Bk 18.5 (5.9)
Additions NE 165.5 4.2
Investment properties under construction W - E L&l

reclassified from property, plant BB ER

and equipment (note 15) LEYE (K5E15) 49.3 =
Investment properties under construction TH IR E R

reclassified from prepaid lease ENOECERE

payments for land (note 16) wEWE (M3 16) 42.2 =
Transferred from property, plant and equipment — EEBY% « ME K&iE 5.0 187.4
Transferred from prepaid lease payments HEAENEENR - 480
Disposals k== (1,440.4) (277.4)
Change in fair value recognised REEER 2 A FE

in profit or loss BE) 1,091.2 (462.7)
At end of the year FIR 5,298.6 5,367.3

Investment properties of the Group held at the end of the

RBER - AEERB 2 REWMEMR

reporting period are situated on land as follows: IR Z MBI T -
2010 2009
—E-=EF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEBTT
Freehold outside Hong Kong MR BB AIMBIR 2 Sk A S 201.0 190.1
Long leases outside Hong Kong T RBEBIME 2 KA 131.9 646.4
Long leases in Hong Kong R ES 2 KAL) 343.2 278.1
Medium term leases in Hong Kong (note) M RAEB 2 PB4 (FsE) 4,622.5 4,252.7
5,298.6 5,367.3
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The fair value of the Group’s investment properties has been
arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out by the following
independent firms of qualified professional valuers not
connected with the Group who have appropriate qualifications
and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in
the relevant locations. The valuation was arrived at by reference
to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties
and by reference to net rental income allowing for reversionary
income potential using the applicable market yields for the
respective locations and types of properties as the discount
rates. The valuation of investment properties under construction
was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties and by capitalisation of income
potential of similar properties, on the basis that the properties
will be developed and completed in accordance with the
Group'’s latest development proposals, after taking into account
of the estimated construction costs to completion to reflect the
quality of the completed development.

Location of

Name of valuer investment properties

DTZ Debenham Hong Kong, PRC
Tie Leung Limited and Japan

N&A Appraisal Thailand
Company Limited

The net movement gave rise to an unrealised gain of
approximately HK$479.9 million (2009: an unrealised loss of
approximately HK$462.7 million) and has been recognised in
profit or loss.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

Note: At 31 March 2010, included in the medium term leases in
Hong Kong is an amount of HK$926.6 million (2009: HK$868.6
million), representing a jointly controlled asset which is jointly
owned by the Group and an independent third party and the
Group had 50% interest.

AEBZREMERNFETIEATER
R 130 48 B 0 EL (R B B AR MO A
BREE CBUMERGELSR 2B
BEBERMGEMTETHE ELET
8o BEDNARYERELELE
BZERTSREIERMAE - 2E8
PMERREZMZEBRR2EFEE
WA R BRI B EIR AR 2 THEHTT ©
EEBREMEZHEDZ2REUMEZ
MBRXHERKE - REBRUME 2K
ANEBNERE  UWOEKERBEAE
B &M BERDRER NN AERS
b BEPEFARBETEERS - AR
EERBRABZEE -

REWE
fH{ELRT & 78 EE &
Bz 21T i -

BRAA JNE=F:N
N&A Appraisal Z=H

Company Limited

I TE B ) SRR S BUR B IR W e 49479.9
BEET(ZZTNF : XEREEY
4627 BEBTT) ERNERER °

AEEMBKEHEE TRHERIER
SEENTHER B Z MEESIRAR
FERNAE - XDBERARINERE
E

izt : RZZ—ZF=HA=+—H  uURE
AR HENTEE266BERTT
(ZZEZT NG 8686 EBHBT) &
AEBERBYE=FHRAESR (K%
BEH 50% HEa) 2 HEIEHIEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

At 31 March 2010, the amount of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
relation to the Group’s interests in the jointly controlled asset are

R-E—TF=A=+-8

LA
gAY S

BRETUASERKRAZEGEE 2
BERCEE  BfE  WARFHX®

as follows: YN

2010 2009

—B-BF —TTNH

HK$'M HK$'M

BHEETT BHEBIT

Investment properties KB 926.6 868.6
Other non-current assets EMIEREEE 3.1 15
Non-current assets EMBEE 929.7 870.1
Current assets mBEE 1.1 0.7
Current liabilities nEBE 17.2 17.2
2010 2009

—E-FF —ZETREF

HK$'M HK$'M

BE®BTT ER=Ywm

Income WA 84.9 86.0
Expenses s (26.7) (26.2)
Profit for the year R[5 F 58.2 59.8
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y13 » BMEREE

Furniture, Plant, Ferries,

Construction ~ Commercial fitures  machinery  launches

Hotel ~ Freehold  Land and inandleisure  Leasehold and and  and motor
properties land  buildings progress  facilities improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total

KA TR HRR  AEME BA-2E REOHE BEROW

EENE  HELH Be RBEIR BERE 5 KRS FEG] khE a5t
HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM
BEET BEBL BEEL BEBET  BEAT BERL  BEAT  BEAT  BEET  BEARL

(notea) (note c) (note d)
(Biza) (fzke)  (Bska)
COST RE
At 1 April 2008 R=ZEN\E
mA—H 12979 3349 4671 3114 5859 1716 2517 2515 500.2 42442
Currency realignment L (1412) (406) 33 (3.0) = (25) 96) 26 (18) (1928)
Additions NE 345 - - 3955 260 316 K1 20 82 5619
Disposals e (37.6) = (36) = = (4.2) (6.7) (03) (9.5) (609)
Transfer foinvestment properties ~ ERZRENE 60 - 140 (207.5) - - 01 = S (187.4)
At31 March 2009 RZZENE
=A=t-H 1,159.6 2943 4808 562.4 6119 2025 2946 2618 4971 4,365.0

Currency realignment gHRE 1097 298 04 21 - 21 70 19 13 1543
Additions AE 165 - - 541 15 184 178 06 137 1226
Properties under construction EENFER

transferred fo investment ERENE

properties (nofe 14) (FisE14) - - - (493) - - - - - (493)
Disposals / write-off HE /M (132) = = (6.4) = (79 (22.4) (7.6) (332) (90.7)
Transfer to property held for/ ERTRIEER/

under development ERIE - (75.3) - - - - - - - (75.3)
Transfer to investment properties ~ EAZRENE - - (38) - - - - - - (38)
Transfer L 170 - 274 (693) - - (0J) %0 - -
At 31 March 2010 R=EB-2%

ZA=1-H 1,289.6 2488 504.8 493.6 6134 215.1 296.9 2817 4789 44228

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT # R HiE

At 1 April 2008 R=EEN\E
MA—H 5141 - 1619 - 290.2 1120 1620 2145 3763 1,831.0
Currency realignment AR (602) - 20 = - (18) 81) 17 (12) (67.6)
Provided for the year AEFEE 411 - 168 - 155 2.7 299 11 24 1515
Eliminated on disposals I EREE (368) - (12 - - 40) (40) - 91) (55.])
Impairment loss recognised EERRERE
(note b) (HizED) - - - - - - - 167 - 167
At31 March 2009 RZZENE
=A=t-H 4532 - 1795 - 3057 1309 1798 2340 3834 18765
Currency realignment EhRe 457 = 04 = = 13 57 15 09 555
Provided for the year AERERAE 405 - 174 - 147 263 330 13 192 1524
Eliminated on disposalsiwrite-off ~ Hi /i (106) - - - - (55) (202) (59) (223) (64.5)
Impairment loss recognised EERRERSE
(note b) (FizED) = = 345 - - - 12 249 - 60.6
Transfer to investment properties  EAZRENE - - (34) - - - - - = (34)
At 31 March 2010 R-E-3%
ZA=t-H 533.8 - 2284 - 3204 153.0 199.5 255.8 386.2 2,077.1
CARRYING VALUES BB
At 31 March 2010 RZZ-2%

ZA=1-H 7558 2488 2764 493.6 293.0 62.1 974 259 92.7 23457

At 31 March 2009 RIZZNE
“A=1-A 7014 2043 3013 5624 3062 716 1148 278 1087 24885
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 —

—EF=/A=1—HIFE

Notes:

(a)

Owner-occupied leasehold land is included in property, plant
and equipment as the allocations between the land and buildings
elements cannot be made reliably.

In the opinion of the Directors, certain of its property, plant
and equipment were impaired at 31 March 2010 as a result
of operating losses of an operation under the manufacturing
segment in PRC. The impairment loss of HK$60.6 million (2009:
HK$16.7 million) was recognised based on the recoverable
amount of the property, plant and equipment accordingly.

The recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment for
the manufacturing operation was estimated based on a value-in-
use calculation and the calculation was based on the budgeted
cash flow approved by the management covering a five-year
period at a discount rate of 6.66% (2009: 7.31%).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s plant, machinery and
equipment include an amount of HK$2.7 million (2009: HK$2.3
million) in respect of assets held under finance leases.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, a ferry of the Group was
damaged by fire beyond repair and its carrying value of HK$9.8
million was written off in the accounts. At 31 March 2010,
no amount has been taken of any insurance recovery in this
connection as the amount cannot be determined with any degree
of accuracy.

EEE/\¥£ BRZHE LT aER 5
oA THEEFE S - WETA
Y% - B Rk o

EZRA  ARRESBRREE
%z%%%ﬁ~ HETYE  BE
BEER=_E—ZTF=A=1—
Eﬁﬁﬂﬁoﬁﬁ%i%%~ﬁ%
B2 AU Bl FERER 2 R E RS
BARE06ABBT(—EEASE
16.7EB8BT) °

HEREXB 2R - BB R&
2 ATl B T IR AR R (B
TS ZARARE R EHE
BELFHZRERBMREE
£6.66% (ZTTAF : 7.31%) 5t
& o

RNEEME - #eS MR H 2 FEE
BREEARERETNEREEE
ZEE7TEEBT(ZETNE
23EEABTT) °

HE-T-FF=A=t+-BLF
B ARE R RE A
B EAEE - ABEEISTHS
BTEEREEREME - R=F—
TE=A=T—A - BRRBHE
SEEENEARRELET - &
AU AR ©

Items of property, plant and equipment, other than construction

in progress, are depreciated on a straight line basis, over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold land
Hotel properties
Land and building, commercial
and leisure facilities
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment
Ferries, launches and motor vehicles

No depreciation
30 — 86 years

10 — 40 years
5 years

3 -byears

5 - 15 years
5 - 20 years

W% -~ BERRBEE (

RE ﬁi%%?ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%i%ﬁ%=

KAZEREL M WiEHTE
BRI 30E864F
T REF -

EhEEEE i 10ZE40%F
HEMZERE 5%
&L B RS 3E5F
BB - #es MR 5E15%F
/&r%} * /Iﬁ &/WE 5;?:20@5
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

The carrying value of properties shown above comprises: L2 REESE
Hotel properties Freehold land Land and buildings
BIENE KAER L T REF
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

SE-FF “STAF SR-BF “TINF SE-FF CIINE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BESL BEAT AERT BAET BEST  BEET

Freehold outside Hong Kong IR BB E
LKAFRE 190.7 176.6 248.8 2943 - -
Long leases outside Hong Kong IR B BN E
Z REHAA 565.1 524.8 - - - -
Medium term leases outside IR EBLAIMEE
Hong Kong AR - - - = 35.0 67.3
Long leases in Hong Kong fIAE S 2 KEEH - - - = 107.9 110.0
Medium term leases in Hong Kong ~ fIAETS 2 FREAFAA] - - - = 117.0 1049
Short leases in Hong Kong fIAE S 2 S HEH - - - - 16.5 19.1
755.8 7014 2488 2943 2764 3013
16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. T HE
The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise: AEEZENHEENRELE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEATT
Leasehold land in Hong Kong UREBZBE LI
Medium term leases R HAFEAY 65.1 109.1
Short leases 52 AR AY 2.2 25
Leasehold land outside Hong Kong URBBUAIMNE 2 FHE L3
Long leases RHEIFEAY 16.5 15.3
Medium term leases R HAMEAY 15.7 16.2

99.5 143.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = —FF = A =+—HIFFF
The prepaid lease payment of HK$42.2 million was reclassified HREAEEG T EFE 0K 2 EET
to investment properties (note 14) at 1 April 2009 as a result of K WIEMNEENRI22BEEE TR
adoption of amendment to HKAS 40. TENFOA—BEHLEEREWME
A (H3E14) °
Leasehold interest in land is released over the terms of the Rtz HERREAANE R EE
leases on a straight line basis. i o
17. GOODWILL 17. &
HK$'M
BEAT
COST R{E
At 1 April 2008 R-ZTE/\EMA—A 24.0
Arising on acquisition of additional RN B A RESTELE
interests in a subsidiary 2.6
At 31 March 2009 R-EENF=A=+—H 26.6
Arising on acquisition of additional BERLE D B REBERED FHEAT
interests in subsidiaries of manufacturing e FTEE A&
segment and healthcare segment 5.5
At 31 March 2010 R-BE-ZF=A=+—H 32.1
IMPAIRMENT mE
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZEN\FNHA—H 14.8
Impairment loss recognised for the year FEWRBERE 2.6
At 31 March 2009 R-EZENF=A=1+—H 17.4
Impairment loss recognised for the year FEERZBEEE 14.7
At 31 March 2010 R-BE-ZF=A=+—H 32.1
CARRYING VALUE IREIE
At 31 March 2010 R-E-ZBF=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZNF=RA=+—H 9.2
The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 March 2009 of HE-_ZTZTNLF=A :+—EI FREE
HK$9.2 million had been allocated to the group of cash Q2EBEBTZEEE D HEPK B

generating units (“CGU”) comprising the healthcare segment. 1%1@%%%”45%%;2&;-;14

)
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e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

For impairment test purpose, the recoverable CGU has
been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projection based on financial budgets
approved by the management covering a five-year period and
discounted to their present value. The discount rates used
for the year ended 31 March 2010 are 6.50% (2009: 7.00%)
and 6.66% (2009: N/A) for CGU of healthcare segment and
manufacturing segment respectively. No growth rate is assumed
in the calculation. Another key assumption for the value-in-use
calculations is the budgeted gross margin, which is determined
on the units’ past performance and management’s expectation
for the market development.

The management of the Group determines that impairment
losses of goodwill of HK$9.4 million (2009: nil) and HK$5.3
million (2009: HK$2.6 million) for the year ended 31 March
2010 (see note 9) in respect of the subsidiaries in the
healthcare segment and manufacturing segment respectively be
recognised in profit or loss.

RRABEMS  REELEER 2T
Bl&EEIEFEREEFEHEAEE - %
i E E/fﬁ?mﬁﬁhzﬁi@‘ﬁﬂttﬁ/@%
TFHz MRS EPZEE:EM%E Al A
MEEREERE #HE_T—TF=
A=+— Etif“gﬂ%&”\*ﬁ&*']%_
DEBZ R EEABMN D RIFRA 2 AHIR X

DR 56.50% (ZZETNE : 7. OO%) )53
6.66% (ZZETNF : TER) - 5T EH
WEBRR TG RR 7:*1!1%?@%@
HAEAACEERRA/EEERN - ThiR
B ABEREREHMISERE ZEH
BT -

BE T TF-A=1t—HILFE"
AEBEEBETBRRED B NREE
DEZ B R RS R ERERED 5
ROAREBRTL(ZTTNF : E)N53
BEBL(ZZTNF 26A8ET)
(RMEE9) - EREmTER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/ 18. 0 & N\ Al Z Mzt HE L B
AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES ZNAIE
2010 2009
—E-=F —EThF
HK$'M HK$'M
BERAT BEBTT
Cost of investment in associates B E QR E 2 A
Listed in Hong Kong REB LM 160.2 160.2
Unlisted JE LT 0.1 24.3
Share of post-acquisition profits, FEIEW B R -
net of dividends received HBRE RS 196.2 126.2
Share of reserves FE(L R 0.4 0.3
356.9 311.0
Amounts due from associates (note 25) JE Lk B & X B RE (M5 25) 951.6 1,273.8
Share of post-acquisition losses of an associate FEMGEBRARES TR
covered by binding obligation (note) — it & A a)Es e (fRE) (740.1) (797.4)
211.5 476.4
Fair value of a listed investment —IBETRE A AFE 234.6 76.0
Note: The Group is obliged to make good the net deficit of TCSDCL in BiisE : AEBAESIETCSDCL ZFEE -
proportion to its interest in TCSDCL. At the end of the reporting LB AER TCSDCL Z #Exs ° 1A%k
period, the Group’s obligation in this connection amounted to LHR AEEHELEBFBEZEME
HK$740.1 million (2009: HK$797.4 million) and accordingly, BI0IEEBT(ZEZENF -
the same amount has been recognised in the consolidated 797 4B EHBTT)  ZESTECE
statement of financial position and presented as an offset EPBERARERLBHANEE LS T
against the Group’s advances to TCSDCL. TCSDCL Z #v 514K 35 -
Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March AEER—_ZT—ZEF=HA=1+—H%

2010 are set out in note 43. FEEBE N R ZFIBERMIEAS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

BERAEERENR P BERE

associates is set out below: o -
2010 2009
—B-BF —TTNH
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BESBT
Investment properties REM*E 852.8 763.3
Properties held for/under development BIERE BETME 397.1 3335
Sale proceeds held by stakeholders RE AT HE TS 5IE 282.3 327.4
Bank balances and cash IRITEEBR RIS 437.8 377.4
Other assets Hh&EE 751.4 1,840.6
Total assets EERE 2,721.4 3,642.2
Other payables to shareholders HAb B AR R A (2.5) 4.1)
Loans from shareholders RERE R (3,168.4) (4,204.9)
Other liabilities HEMEE (1,192.5) (1,278.6)
Total liabilities REEHE (4,363.4) (5,487.6)
Net liabilities BEFE (1,642.0) (1,845.4)
Group’s share of net assets of associates AEBELBEAREEFE 368.5 3229
Group's share of net liabilities of associates AEEEGEE R BEFHE (742.4) (800.0)
(373.9) (477.1)
Unrealised profits IR A 9.3) (9.3)
(383.2) (486.4)
Turnover S 1,270.0 3,731.3
Profit for the year NEEm A 251.2 623.4
Group’s share of results of associates AEEELEE R R ANFE
for the year (net of unrealised profit FE (MBRARE IR & A
of HK$1.3 million 138EET(ZETNEF -
(2009: HK$2.9 million)) 29EREET)) 111.0 179.0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

19.INTEREST IN A JOINTLY 19. {EEFIER 2
CONTROLLED ENTITY

The Group had a 50% equity interest in Dazhongli. Dazhongli REER K BEHEH50% RAER ° K

and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli Group”) are engaged in the RERERMBAR([KPEEE)#RE

development of investment properties and hotel properties in BRMRTPE EFZRZIEEDER
the Jingan District of Shanghai in PRC. BTEEE o

2010 2009

—E-2F —ETNF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEAT BEATT

Cost of unlisted shares in Dazhongli AR EBIE ETmRD 2 AR 0.1 0.1

Share of reserves (note a) FEfh A% (Fiiata) 267.3 260.0

Share of post acquisition gains (losses) (note b) FE/E U Wz (B518) (MI3EDb) 734.2 (46.0)

1,001.6 214.1

Loans to Dazhongli BERTFAHE 3,916.9 3,906.3

4,918.5

4,120.4
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

The summarised financial information in respect of Dazhongli

Group as at 31 March 2010 is set out below:

R-B—TE=A=+—0 AHEE
B2 BERBERMT

2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEETT BHEBIT

Non-current assets IEMENE E

Investment properties under construction FRIGEME 9,799.1 =

Hotel properties under construction eSS  EYSE T

and equipment 467.6 3.1
Properties under construction (resettlement EEMZE O R 28
and other costs incurred) (note c) REMKA) (FiaEc) - 6,063.3

Other non-current assets HMIEmENEE 183.4 -
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 10,450.1 6,066.4
Current assets MENEE

Bank balances and cash IRTTERNIR S 198.2 2,371.7

Other current assets HEMREEE 72.9 747.7

271.1 3,1194

Current liabilities mENEE

Loans from shareholders IR E R (7,833.8) (7,812.6)

Other current liabilities EMREEaE (366.9) (945.0)
Net current liabilities FnEaE (7,929.6) (5,638.2)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDEE 2,520.5 428.2
Non-current liability JEREBEE

Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEE (517.3) -
Net assets FEE 2,003.2 428.2
Group’s share of net assets AEBDMGEEFE 1,001.6 214.1
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

For the year
ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2010 2009
—E-2F —ZEThF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BESBT
Change in fair value of investment properties RIS E Y
under construction NEEE 2,065.6 =
Other operating income less expenses HAp & EW AR ST 11.2 (0.6)
Deferred taxation EREFLIE (516.4) -
Net profit (loss) after taxation for the year REGRBIZ
Fom Al (E18) 1,560.4 (0.6)
Group’s share of result of a jointly controlled A& B Tk 2k [E 1
entity for the year ERTANFER 780.2 (0.3)

Notes:

(a) The increase in share of reserves represents exchange gains on

translation during the year.

The increase in share of post acquisition gains in the current year
mainly represents the fair value gain on investment properties
under construction (refer to note ¢ below).

The properties under construction as at 31 March 2009 relate to
resettlement and other costs incurred on a property project which
is being developed for further use as properties for rental purpose
and hotel operation.

Following the amendment of HKAS 40 “Investment property”, the
costs incurred for the development of investment properties for
rental purpose have been reclassified into investment properties
under construction at 1 April 2009 and are measured at fair
value at the end of reporting period. On the other hand, the
costs incurred for development of properties for further use as
hotel operation have been classified into hotel properties under
development and are measured at cost.

Certain land certificates in relation to the property project have
been obtained during the year ended 31 March 2010 and the site
clearance has been nearly completed as at 31 March 2010. The
fair value of investment properties under development for rental
purpose can be reliably determinable as of 31 March 2010.

R B R P T
B 34 g o

AEEAEERBREEIEMNER
BERREMELFERE (F2
BI T XX HizEe) °

ERERYWER_ZEZENF=H
=T ASRZBEREMKAANS
AR—BBREBELHERAREEE
¥z ERIER ©

TR BT ERFA0H [
BEYME & REMEERBARM
EEZKAERZZZNFEA—
BRERDBAERRENE I
RBERRBZATEAE - 5T
- BRBEEEE 2 MERR
BERELZKNAC BN DER
HRBEYSE - WRKAEAE -

BEEYFEEE 2 BH LHERER
HE—_ZT-TE=A=+—HILE
EES  MitBRBEETER _ZT—
TE=A=+—HEEEEK -
—Z-TE=A=+—08 - BAEH
ERRZERTPREMEZ AFE

RERSEEEE ©
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The investment properties under construction was measured at
31 March 2010 at fair value at HK$9,799.1 million which was
based on the valuation conducted by an independent valuer. This
gave rise to a fair value gain over cost of HK$2,065.6 million. The
attributable taxation in respect of the gain was HK$516.4 million.
Thus the net fair value gain after tax amounted to HK$1,549.2
million of which the Group’s 50% share was HK$774.6 million.

Further advances of HK$10.6 million (2009: HK$1,696.8
million) were made by the Group to the jointly controlled entity
to finance its share of development expenditure.

The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, non-interest bearing
and have no fixed terms of repayments. The Group has no
intention to exercise its right to demand repayment of these
loans within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. The directors believe the settlement of these
loans is not likely to occur in the foreseeable future as they are,
in substance, a part of the Group’s net investment in Dazhongli
Group as the proceeds of the loans have been substantially
used by the Dazhongli Group to inject as registered capital
into its PRC subsidiaries. Accordingly, the amount is classified
as non-current asset and included in the Group’s interest in
jointly controlled entity for the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The capital commitments of Dazhongli at 31 March 2010 were
as follows:

REBVAEMEE-_S—TF=
A=+—RE&ETZHERER £
BICEME L ATEARTNIE
EAT  IRERTATERAE - 85
2,065.6 A& B LA FERKE - £
MK EBETIES16.4EEBTE -
NFEZEERZEH15492H &8
TL o AKEEEERAFERZEZ
50% (774.6 BEBTT) °

REBRARZEF EREE — P EF106
BEET(ZZZNF  16968BEE
) ERENMZBRAXZER -

ERTAHENEERNEE - TEE
FER T - AEEN WS AR KRR
T A RTBTERER - ZREER
FTZER - AR KT EEEE K EFRA
B2 FIEE AR R BB A S
BAR BEREXFEFHIERAR
AKREER  BZEREL/AEERNAK
TERECHBOREFE - Wit - B
RRCINRIFRBDEEL T AREER
HREZEHIER 2 - AERERS M
ARER 25

AHER_ZE-—ZTF=-A=+—HZE
AT

2010 2009

—E-=F —EThF

HK$'M HK$'M

BERAT BEBTT

Contracted but not provided for BEENEREE 164.4 335.0
Authorised but not contracted for EHOEERZED 859.1 1,964.6
1,023.5 2,299.6

The capital commitments of the Group’s interest in Dazhongli
which represent 50% of the above will be financed by
shareholders’ loan or direct borrowings of Dazhongli.

AEBRATERS EARFAE (AL
A 582 50%) # B BCR B SR oA R B
ZEREERNES -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

20.INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY
SECURITIES

20. BB R IRAE S 2 IRE

Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2010 using:

R=®-%E=A=t-RHHATE:

2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
“Z2-%F% F-BR FBR F=BR
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBRT BEBRT BEBRT BEBT
Held-to-maturity investments BRI E
Unlisted debt securities (note a) FEmEBES (izEa)
Current Vi) 135.5
Non-current JEmE 52.4
187.9
Available-for-sale financial assets AN EEHEE
Equity securities: BRAES -
Listed, at fair value Fi e BATE
(note b) (K¥#ED) 77.7 77.7 - -
Unlisted, at fair value L BATE
(note ¢) (BdzEc) 10.7 - - 10.7
88.4 77.7 - 10.7
Analysed for reporting purpose as: BERBRZHOWAT
Current e 9.2
Non-current ik 79.2
88.4
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFAERZ
(held for trading) SMEE (FHEER)
Equity securities: BRAES -
Listed equity securities (note b) Ll AES (i) 0.2 0.2 - -
Unlisted managed investment FEMERKE
funds (note d) 2o (fisEd) 128.4 - - 128.4
128.6 0.2 - 128.4
Market value of listed equity securities: ~ FHIRAE Sz H{E :
Listed in Hong Kong REBLE™ 70.4 70.4 - -
Listed overseas RSN 7.5 7.5 - -
77.9 77.9 - -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2009 using:
R-BENF=A=+—-RBHEATHE:

2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ZETNEF E-ER FEHR E-BH
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEATL BEAT BEBT BEAT
Held-to-maturity investments REIHEE
Unlisted debt securities (note a) FLmEBES (HiTa)
Current mE 23.7
Non-current e 218
455
Available-for-sale financial assets A ESREE
Equity securities: BRAER
Listed, at fair value (note b) L BATE (D) 1073 1073 = =
Unlisted, at fair value (note c) JEEH - BATE(MC) 15 = = 15
108.8 107.3 - 15
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEARRZZ
(held for trading) SREE (FHEER)
Equity securities: RAES :
Listed equity securities (note b) ERAES (f3Eb) 0.2 0.2 - -
Unlisted managed investment ELEMEREE
funds (note d) 2% (fzEd) 3445 - - 3445
344.7 0.2 - 3445
Debt securities and managed bond EREFRERES
portfolios: REMHA
Unlisted managed bond FLMEREHRE
portfolios (note e) 184 (fste) 397.0 442 352.8 -
Total financial assets at BRAFEFAERZ
FVTPL SRBERE 741.7 444 352.8 3445
Market value of listed equity securities: LA ES A
Listed in Hong Kong R&EB LM 1034 103.4 = =
Listed overseas WEIh £ 41 41 = =
107.5 107.5 - -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

Notes: 5T -

(a) Held-to-maturity debt securities are measured at amortised (a)
cost less any impairment losses. The weighted average effective
interest rate is 2.6% (2009: 5.7%) per annum.

Details of the maturity of held-to-maturity debt securities at the

15 BRI HE 5 TR B S A AR T
REEIERTE - MEFHEREFRS
26%(ZFTNF :5.7%) °

RBEMR - HEDHEBES 2 EIH

end of the reporting period are as follows: BT :
2010 2009
—E-ZF T hEF
HK$'M HK$'M
AERR BEATL

Mature in: R THIEHEIE] :

2009 ZETNF - 9.6
2010 —ET—TF 135.5 14.1
2011 % 18.2 -
2012 = 8.0 =
2013 —T—=%F 16.6 15.6
2014 —ZT—mF 34 -
2018 —T-N\F 6.2 6.2

187.9 455
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The fair values of all listed securities are determined by reference
to the quoted market bid price available on the relevant
exchanges. During year ended 31 March 2009, the market price
of one of the equity securities classified under available-for-
sale financial assets declined significantly and the management
considered an impairment was required. An impairment loss of
HK$110.2 million was recognised in profit or loss, representing an
amount of HK$3.1 million reclassified from investment revaluation
reserve as at 31 March 2008 to profit or loss and an amount of
HK$107.1 million arising during the year ended 31 March 2009.

The movement in the listed equity securities included under
available-for-sale financial assets are as follows:

(b)

e B RRME

—E—FF=/=1—HIFFE

e LTEFZ A FEH2EERRS
FRETRAT 1 E R 2 TS L EEE - RE
E-RENF=A=+—HIFERN
DRERAIHEESREEZ —BRAE
HZMEKRE N BERERRTIIR
IE - PMERD ERBERE 110278
EET DHER-EENF=A=+—
BitREBAREER \*EK?E 52 81
BILABRATERBE_TTNF=
A=+—H JJ:EE%I%ZZ%(%,E 10718
BAETT -

AHHESREENZ EHRAESZ
g

2010 2009

—E-FF ZEENF

HK$'M HK$'M

BHEBT AEBT

Balance at beginning of the year F4E 107.3 162.5
Currency realignment e H TR 0.5 (0.8)
Additions during the year iﬁqibﬂ 1.4 =

Change in fair value recognised in RE M2 IR EER 2

other comprehensive income NEEE 56.2 52.7
Disposals during the year FREH (87.7) -
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RIERER BB RS - (107.1)
Balance at end of the year FRER 77.7 107.3

Unlisted equity securities include two investments in private
equities which are as follows:

(i)  Adirect investment in preferred shares of a private company
at HK$9.2 million (2009: nil) which were measured using
valuation techniques in which significant input was not
based on observable market data at 31 March 2009.
The Group entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of the investment with reference to a
valuation as at 31 December 2009 (see note 45 (ii)).

(i) An investment in a venture capital fund at HK$1.5 million
(2009: HK$1.5 million) which are measured using valuation
techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the
market in addition to unobservable inputs such as company
specific financial information.

(c)

I EMBRAE S B THIMERTLAR
RZIE -

() —EBRALARTEERZEZER
BOL2EBET(ZETNE : &)
Thi8 A E RIS o 2B
RZEABAZER _ZTNE
A=t By FEREATHEED
BHEEMEBET - AEEL2B T
TAF+_A=+—H2HER]
NERGEERS  AHERE

& (RMFE45()) °

(iy —HEREREAESZHRELLSA
ERT(ZFETNF: 15888
7o) THERMERMEE - %8
BT 2B AL BAREABE
T35 8 K OF A B R T 45 U 4D
RAFFEHHERMEE °
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—EF=FA=1—HIFE

The movement in the unlisted equity securities are as follows:

2010 2009

—E-ZfF ZETNF

HK$'M HK$'M

EX-3: 0 BEBIT

Balance at beginning of the year REY 2 48R 1.5 115

Total gains or losses: B kB8

— in profit or loss —E’\TE/\ - (9.2)
— in other comprehensive income REMZE S 9.2 (0.8)
Balance at end of the year FRER 10.7 15

Of the total losses for the year ended 31 March 2009 included in
profit or loss, HK$9.2 million (2010: nil) is related to available-for-
sale financial assets held at the end of the reporting period and
are included in net losses from financial assets.

Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of HK$9.2
million gain (2010: HK$0.8 million loss) relate to unlisted equity
securities held at the end of the reporting period and is reported
as changes of investment revaluation reserve for the year ended
31 March 2010.

These investments represented funds placed in prior years to a
fund manager, who is a related party (see note 44(A)(ii)), for the
purpose of making investments primarily on a joint basis with
fund-of-funds manager in a number of hedge funds.

(d)

REBE-_TTNF=A=+—HILFE
AEF A B2 BEIEFR - BEREREH

AFEZAHEESREEZ928HE8

BIL(ZE—ZF - &) HEMEE
NFEEE -

FRARMEEREREZ 92 B &S ETKE
(ZZE—Z2F:08E8BTER)DE
FRE MRS A 2 LA ESFAAE
REE_T-TFE-A=1t—HILFE
NZRBEMFERZESH 2R -

ZERBHENEFEFHR —BESRK

BrEE RR—RREAL(RHGE
44(A)iD) - ETREMEEESKLERS

B EDIELRRE -

The movement in the portfolio are as follows: BEZEmT -
2010 2009
—E-FF —TTNGF
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEBT AEBT
Balance at beginning of the year FHEER 344.5 1,536.8
Additions during the year F I N - 39.0
Proceeds from disposals & TS s0E (239.8) (959.8)
Realised gain (loss) recognised in the consolidated 5 AA4R & U R HERR
income statement during the year 2 BRI (E518) 18.7 (145.0)
Unrealised gain (loss) recognised FARGTE WK IER
in the consolidated income ZARER WS (E518)
statement during the year 5.0 (126.5)
Balance at end of the year FRER 128.4 3445
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During the year, the Group entered into a conditional sale and FRN - AEEEZEESLEET 7

purchase agreement with the fund manager to dispose the BIRGEER R  2RBZTTNF+=

remaining investments in hedge funds with reference to the A=+—BZ2HELEHHES ZHT

valuation as at 31 December 2009. K& o

Details of investments which have not been realised at the R BH R RE IR 2R EFBOT ¢

reporting dates represent the followings:

2010 2009
—E-FF —EENEF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBRT AEBT
Investment expected to be realised FEHERN @A A
within twelve months IR 2HE 128.4 176.4
Investment expected to be realised TEEN+ =@ A%
after twelve months BI85 - 83.4
Investment for which redemption R HiER RS L
has been suspended BEEEERZEE
at the reporting date by the underlying
fund managers - 84.7
128.4 344.5

Unlisted managed bond portfolios (e) IELEMEEEHES

Unlisted managed bond portfolios comprise two liquidity funds JEEMEERESES BB TRERE

and a bond fund as follows: Eek—EEFES :

(i) As at 31 March 2009, the two liquidity funds were managed () RZZEENF=RA=1+—H' %
by global financial institutions investing in time deposits, MERBIE S Ty A IRER S B iE
repurchase agreements, commercial papers, notes or B RERBINEEBUT - FK
bonds issued by foreign governments, quasi-government IR 1T 2 E AR
bodies and corporations, and certificates of deposits with BE®E  BERE - REkE
financial institutions. The underlying financial assets were FARSRIEE 2 FKE - 188
valued at quoted market prices in the open market and/or CREEZRARM S ZTIGME
the observable prices of comparable investments. During /SR A LB AEE 2 T B R (B 4K
the year ended 31 March 2010, the two liquidity funds were ETHE - REBEZT—TF=

redeemed.

B=+—BUIFEAR  ZMER
PELEEMD o
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(i) As at 31 March 2009, the discretionary bond portfolio was
managed by a licensed financial advisor and administered SEBFEEHFEMBERE
by an international financial institution. The fund invested BEREBEReEBRITITRE
in short to medium term notes or bonds issued by financial o ZESRERSBMBEERMIN
institutions and foreign corporations. Fair values of the BT rE R BERNE
investments were ascertained from quoted market prices % BEKREZ ATERSINTG
over-the-counter. During the year ended 31 March 2010, LHREETE BHE_T—ZTF=
the discretionary bond portfolio was liquidated. A=+—RHIFE 2#EHAE

AEEEE -

iy RZZEAF=A=+—H" &

21.OTHER ASSETS 21. Hitt & &

2010 2009
T—ZTF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBER BEBT
Mortgage instalment receivables (note a) e IZIE » HAtR K (FiisEa) 17.3 26.9
Long term deposits with banks (note b) R1T 2 KREAIFR (M5ED) - 313
Option fee refundable (note c) REREEE (Miikc) 7.6 75

Unlisted membership debentures and other FETEEEFREMEE
assets, net of impairment loss HRREEE 28.3 28.3
53.2 94.0

Notes: Bk -

(a)

The mortgage instalment receivables represent the financing
provided to buyers of development properties of the Group. The
amounts bear interest at prime rate minus 1% and are receivable
by instalments over a period of not more than 20 years from the
sale of the relevant flats. The receivables are secured by a second
mortgage over the properties. The portion of mortgage instalment
receivables due within one year of HK$1.2 million (2009: HK$1.7
million) is included as trade receivables in current assets.

At 31 March 2009, a long term deposit of HK$7.9 million at a
fixed rate of 2.3% per annum maturing in 2011 was classified as
current assets during the year. The remaining long term deposit
of HK$23.4 million maturing in 2015 and carrying a variable
interest rate of 6.3% per annum was uplifted during the year in
accordance to the terms and conditions of the deposit contract.

(b)

FEWZEE 5 AR IRt T AR E 3
HRE %Znﬂﬁ UE IR R BB X
WIERTE - UeERBETEMLEH
BB - TFADEYRE - R
FIAG B IEE — ISR - N —
FAT Pz BB BHRI2EE
BIL(ZZEENF : 1.7EBEBT) BAT
ANERENEE 2 BUE ZIRANA -

R-BTZNF=HA=+—8 " #23%
BEFMEAFAR T ——F3H

ZERHAGTRIOEEBTREANEA
MEBEE - N_ZT—RAFEIH Fix

6.3% FHMEFFEFENE 2 E KR
17523 AR BB TTRBEFRE K2 165K
RARIFREEE A0 o
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This represents an option fee of HK$14.0 million paid by the
Group to a related party, Castro Valley Properties, Inc. (“CVPI”)
in 1996 pursuant to a proposed property project which was
subsequently not proceeded with.

Under the terms of the termination agreement entered into
in 1997, the amount is repayable by CVPI to the Group in
instalments, the amount of each instalment being based on the
gross income of CVPI each year with interest accruing at 1%
per annum on the outstanding balance. Based on information
provided by CVPI, the amount is expected to be fully repaid by
2031.

The balance outstanding at 31 March 2010 represents (a) the
fair value of the amount receivable determined using the discount
rate applicable at the date of inception of 4.51% per annum (“the
adjusted outstanding principal”) and (b) less repayments received
attributable to the settlement of the adjusted outstanding principal
since that date.

Amounts received from CVPI are recognised as interest income
based on the discount rate of 4.51% per annum on the adjusted
outstanding principal and the balance is attributable to settlement
of the adjusted outstanding principal.

CVPl is a related party of a trust, the discretionary objects of which
include the issue of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late Chairman of the
Company and some of them are directors of the Company.

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group’s

mortgage instalment receivables, long term deposits with banks

and option fee refundable at the end of the reporting period

approximates their corresponding fair values.

(c)

PEEAREBMR — NN FERE—E
EEYZEIEE MR —4#& & AL Castro
Valley Properties, Inc.([CVPI]) S ft
140EER T2 RBEE  ZEEEE
BT IEUELEELT ©

BREBEN—NANEFIIL 2R W2 F
R CVPIZAS Bl AR E EE KR -
BHSBREBECVPIFFAERAGEL
FAAREIE 2 RIBIRBF 1%t ERE -
RIFCVPIHRH 2 B# - THHIZERUR
BR-_E=—FBHEE -

R ZF=A=1+—HRHEKREEZ
5 (a) (E BRI B AE A 2 B3R R
BEASI%ETZRESEAFEE
AEKREEAS])  (b)REEZBH
REMARKEERASTAEEZER
BUSEHK

fECVPIKWER 2 & RRIRIBARE IR K HE
R FIRTF451%B I RERRA
BWA - MSERENEHARREER

CVPIR—RERZBEEAL  HEIE
HREEARREREIFEERELH
‘& RELDRARRESE o

EERA RBEPRR AREZEK
RBOH  |ROTRBERRTRERE
BEREEREARAFERS
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22,

23.

INVENTORIES 2.7E8

2010 2009
—ZT-EfF —ZTTREF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEATT BEBTT
Consumables SEm 53.2 53.5
Raw materials R 7.1 10.2
Work in progress FBUAK h 3.2 3.2
Finished goods BURK i 71.2 78.2
134.7 145.1

TRADE RECEIVABLES 23.FENE F R

The credit period allowed by the Group to its customers is
dependent on the general practice in the industry concerned.
For property sales, sales terms vary for each property project
and are determined with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. Sale of properties are normally completed upon
the execution of legally binding, unconditional and irrevocable
contracts and the sale prices are usually fully paid when the
properties are assigned to the purchasers. Deferred payment
terms are sometimes offered to purchasers at a premium.
Property rentals are receivable in advance. Payments for
healthcare, clubs and hotel services are receivable on demand.
The general credit terms allowed for customers of manufactured
goods range from 30 to 90 days.

AEEGRTHEPZEERRTEAN—
REPIET - MMEHEMS - HEK
FREMEBAME - URBEERTR
BT MEXHEHE-BRRBELAEZY
RN~ EHEHERIEEA RETK -
EEABERDEERTETREZ2H
B - ERANEEN FRE - MR S
B - MERSAMN LH - BERERE -
S A NOB B AR 15 2 B R AR B SRS BN A
B - REEMARTELPN—REE
HH30E90RTE »
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The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at the
reporting date:

AT BRWE S RFNHE B 2Rk
#r

2010 2009

—B-BF —TTNH

HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEBTT

Not yet due i8] A 21 HA 24.5 219.0
Overdue: wHy

0-60 days 0—60X 59.1 56.5

61-90 days 61—90K 4.5 3.5

Over 90 days BB 90K 4.1 7.3

92.2 286.3

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are receivables
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$67.7 million (2009:
HK$67.3 million) which are past due at the reporting date for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group has provided allowance for receivables overdue
beyond 120 days because historical experience is such that
receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are generally not
recoverable. Management closely monitors the credit quality of
trade and other receivables and considers the trade and other
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be of a
good credit quality.

AEE 2 BWE HRAER BTN B R
B A E 21 HA i AN 5= B 3 R phURE B 1R 1F
HEE RERRE R RSB R67.7
BEET(ZTETNF :6738E8A
TT) o AEBEIW EL % FAERTT A EMA
Hfm e

AEEERBMEG 120K 2 U IA
REEE - WHHRNREEERLR - %
FRHEB 120 K 2 FEYRIE — R b A
A iE - EIRET Y B REWE SRR
REMEUFIAZEEEER  UR/Z
FWEBHSRE L B E SRR N E
YIRS RIFZEEE X -
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MOVEMENT IN THE ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL RERIBE 22T
DEBTS
2010 2009
—E-BF —ZEThEF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEATT
Balance at beginning of the year FH 2 i8R 19.8 15.2
Impairment loss recognised FE W SR IBFERR
on receivables (note 9) REEE (FIFE9) 2.4 7.3
Amounts recovered during the year FRUE 2z FIE (0.1) 0.7)
Amounts written off as uncollectible S A AW B 2 FRIE (2.5) (0.9)
Currency realignment B 0.5 (1.1)
Balance at end of the year FRER 20.1 19.8

The fair values of the Group’s trade and other receivables at 31
March 2010 approximate the corresponding carrying amounts
due to relatively short-term maturity.

24. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

RN AEE 2 U E 5 IR E b U
FIRZ BIH R ERE - MR FERAR

T TH=A=t+-RZAFERA

HEAERS -

24 ERRBRETWE

DEVELOPMENT
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEATT
Discovery Bay development project = EEERIE B 939.4 811.2
Other properties held for/under development outside  FE#SIBESNEL M 3{E
Hong Kong BEBRPYE 795.7 362.1
1,735.1 1,173.3
The carrying value of properties EXFNTRZME
shown above comprise: BREERLE
Freehold KA FERE 795.7 362.1
Medium term leases R EBFRAY 939.4 811.2
1,735.1 1,173.3
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At the end of the reporting period, total borrowing costs
capitalised in the properties held for/under development were
HK$123.6 million (2009: HK$133.4 million).The properties held
for/under development amounting to HK$1,015.7 million (2009:
HK$1,173.3 million) is expected to be recovered after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group’s
deposits, other financial assets, amount due from a jointly
controlled entity and pledged bank deposits to secure short-
term bank loans at the end of the reporting period approximate
their corresponding fair value due to relatively short-term
maturity.

Included in other financial assets is an amount of HK$0.1
million (2009: HK$0.3 million) as at 31 March 2010 which
relates to derivative financial instruments. Details of the
derivative financial instruments are set out in note 28.

The pledged bank deposits and bank deposits carry interest at
market rates.

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and have no fixed repayment terms. The directors
expected the amounts will be settled within twelve months
from the end of the reporting period and the carrying values
approximate their fair values due to relatively short-term
maturity.

RMBEBKR 1236BEET(ZEEE
NF 13BABEEETL) CBEBERK
ERIERIEER,ERPWE KA
1,015.7 BBET(ZEThF : 1,173.3
BEBL) 2 BIERER EEPMETE
HAR SRR+ — @A g Uk -

25. 5t EmEE

EERA RBEHRR  AEERS
HiemEE  BUHRZEHERER
BENARERERRITERZ S HER
RITFR REEREABEERE 25
HE - R ARG EEEE AT ER
2

R-ZZE-—TF=R=+—H " Etbe@
EERRE—20188ET(ZZEZTAN
F:03EEBET)ERZ2TESRT
B o TAESRT B2 FBENHE28

EEMRITFRMIRIT IR TS

KR o

FEWE & N BIFRTIEEM - R ELAR
I % [ FE & K - ER TR S IR
RBERRESF T —EAARNER - H
RZEFIA 2 B H B ARSI EAE - MEER
EEEAE RN EERS -
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, PROVISION AND 26.[ENEZRA > BERE

ACCRUED CHARGES

Included in trade payables, provision and accrued charges are
trade payables of HK$164.3 million (2009: HK$120.9 million),
an aged analysis of which is as follows:

T

ENEBSENR  BEREGTTERTBE
ERNESERERIAIEERBTL(ZEE
NE 1209 BEET) - AREKRSTNA
T

2010 2009

—E-2F ZEENF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEEAT BEATT

Not yet due i) R 21 HA 121.5 84.7
Overdue: BH -

0-60 days 0—60X 27.7 27.2

61-90 days 61 — 90X 1.2 2.0

Over 90 days BB 90K 13.9 7.0

164.3 120.9

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days.

The directors consider the carrying amount of trade payables at
the end of the reporting period approximate their corresponding
fair value due to relatively short-term maturity.

KEERZFHEERAIX -

EERR RBEHR - aRENES
R B MBS EE - E 2 AREE
EE RN FERS
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The trade payables, provision and accrued charges include
provisions for certain construction obligations of HK$280.0
million (2009: HK$310.0 million). In the course of the property
development activities, the Group is obliged to construct certain
common or public facilities within the development projects
in accordance with the development plans approved by the
relevant authorities. Provision for such construction costs
has been made when a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of this obligation and the details of the movement of the
provision are set out below.

ERNESER  BEREGFEBRBE
BB TEEAEMERFE280.0E 8%
T(ZZEZTNF :3100BBBT) o &
SEETYEERR TS 2BEF - AR
BEAERIECERERE - RERE
BAEEETARKARENME - ALt -
REBE DA ELIEMERIE SEIE
WA ST - B SR A E L B
1% o WIEBE  FEFFBEERIAT -

HK$'M

BEBTT

Balance at 1 April 2008 REZZEZN\FEA—H &% 3229
Utilised during the year FRBA (12.9)
Balance at 31 March 2009 RZEENF=A=F+—HZ&EH 310.0
Utilised during the year FRBA (30.0)

Balance at 31 March 2010 RZEBE-—EF=A=+—HBz#&t 280.0




196 HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &5 # 2 BB &= E G fR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

27.DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior reporting years:

27 BRI IR

ERRAEZEEHIA(BE) BEARE
RIRITRBERRFE 2 ZBIT :

Fair value Distributable
Accelerated  change of profits of
tax investment Tax Others aPRC
depreciation  properties losses (notea)  subsidiary Total
RENE Hit —-BENE
MERERE AVELED HEFR  (WTa)AFRT2RER @5t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$M  HKE'M
BERT BSAT HBEAT HBERT 2 BEAT AEAT

At 1 April 2008 R=EE\ENA—-H (190.9) (419.7) 29.5 100 - (571])

Currency realignment ERRE 31 (4.6) - - - (15)

Effect on change in tax rate flzgeze 94 11.7 (1.6) (0.6) - 189

(Charge) credit to profit or loss (note )~ (¥18)eF NIES (HizEDb) (207) 116.0 (9.8) 17 - 872

Credit to investment revaluation reserve s AR BB &l - - = 08 = 08

At 31 March 2009 R_EZNE=A=1+-H (199.1) (296.6) 181 119 - (4657)

Currency realignment ERRE (30) (03) 0.1 - - (32

Credit (charge) to profitor loss (note b) ~ sFA (318 ) B2k (D) 38 784 344 09 (276) &9

Credit to investment revaluation reserve st ARA B (M - - - (09) - (09)

At 31 March 2010 RZE-Z£=A=1+-H (198.3) (218.5) 52.6 119 (27.6) (379.9)

Notes: FieE -

(@) These mainly represent net deferred tax assets (liabilities) (@) WNHEERTETYHEZERIERREHE
recognised in relation to unrealised profit of certain property AR CEERIEEE (BE)F
development projects. o

(b) The credit (charge) to profit or loss for the year arising from (b) EREMFEEEZFAGIB)ARFERE

investment properties comprises amounts relating to investment
properties located in Hong Kong of a charge of HK$46.3 million
(2009: a credit of HK$58.7 million) and outside Hong Kong of
a credit HK$124.7 million (2009: a credit of HK$57.3 million)
respectively.

BHERERLNEEZREMFEIARN
REBAINZ REMED B R 46.3
BEAET(ZZTNF : 5FAS87HE

B BEt A 1247 AEBTT(

—EEH,

— ==

F:FtABI3EEEITL) LT o
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For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
(after offset) for financial reporting purposes:

RERGEEMBIRARME - ETELE
MBEEERABEERASEZ SR
HIH o AT BRI 15 B ¥ 2 IR AE T IR
g (IRIHR) DT -

2010 2009

—E-FF —ETAE

HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEATT
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE (383.1) (468.4)
Deferred tax assets FRIETIEE B 3.2 2.7
(379.9) (465.7)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$836.3 million (2009: HK$552.0 million) available
for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately HK$318.8 million (2009:
HK$109.7 million) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$517.5 million
(2009: HK$442.3 million) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses at 31 March
2009 were losses of approximately HK$47.1 million that will
expire in 2013. Such tax losses have been recognised in the
current year. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$152.0 million (2009: HK$51.0
million) arising from impairment losses recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

RBEHR - AEERERTHBEEES
8363EBETL(—FT/F :5520H
EETT) ATRREEARIEN - N&
EEemHEd43188FEBT(ZTTN
F:109.7 ABATT) BIEERRLERIEA
BE WX EMREESL/SAEET(Z
TTNF 44238 BT BREIT
BIREE - [REREETR AR TGN R
R Bt AZETAF=A=+—BX
ERREBRIRE SR _T—=F
FEEENA7T1BBET - 2EHIA
EHEENAFEAMER - HMER &
PR ER%S

RBEHR - AEERYE - BERER
12 B HERRUE B 18 5| Bz AT IR E B
ERA/I0BEET( T NF:
5lL.OBEETT) ° WENZS AT HRE
REEEIASECHREE  RARE
YR FE AR A A AT A A 1K 8 AT FORL D A
ER -
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28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 28.fTESRIT A
INSTRUMENTS
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE afE BE BfE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEEET BEBT B5ET @#ABAT

Foreign currency swap and forward SHEA4EE 7 Sk

contracts in net settlement EHREAEL
(notes 25 and 32) (FftzE 25 . 32) 0.1 - 0.3 0.1
Major terms of the foreign currency swap and forward contracts YNt HE N R HE A 49 7 & BN
are as follows: ™
Notional amount Maturity date Exchange rates
HE Z|H8 A Ex

31 March 2010
—E-ZEF=A=+—H
Exchange of SGD2,915,825 into

USD2,086,159.40 20 May 2010 USD1 to SGD1.3977
42,915,825 % 7T 3, 2,086,159.40 £ 7T —ZE-TFRHA_TH 1R H 1.3977 37T

31 March 2009
—EENF=A=+—H
Exchange of SGD2,915,825 into

USD1,934,340.59 20 January 2010 USD1 to SGD1.5074
42,915,825 % 7T 3, 1,934,340.59 7T —T-TFE-H-tH 1R7TH 1.50743% 7T

Exchange of THB143,600,000 into

USD4,000,000 29 January 2010 USD1 to THB35.90
A 143,600,000 Z=8k %, 4,000,000 7T —E-ZFF—-HA-+NH 13E7T 4, 35.90 =&k
The above derivatives were grouped into Level 2 fair value LiSTETEFRERRAERRER
measurements and measured at fair value at the end of the BB ME KT B AR 2 N EREMS
reporting period by using quoted forward exchange rates and MESHE NS RBEEEF_E
yield curves derived from quoted interest rates with matching BAFEFTEARRIZAFERE ©

maturities of the contracts.
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29. BANK LOANS 29. R 1T E K
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEART BEAT
Bank loans RITEN 1,570.6 3,382.1
Less: Amount due within one year included B EFARBBEZ —FA
under current liabilities EHAEER (159.3) (1,021.5)
Amount due after one year —FIRRHEH 1,411.3 2,360.6
Bank loans are repayable: IRITERER T HREE
Within one year —FR 159.3 1,021.5
Between one to two years —FEEMEN - 0.6
Between two to five years MEZRFNAN 1,411.3 2,360.0
1,570.6 3,382.1
Secured HHEMR 158.7 150.5
Unsecured B 1,411.9 3,231.6
1,570.6 3,382.1

At 31 March 2010, the Group’s bank borrowings of HK$3.4
million (2009: HK$22.7 million) carry fixed interest at 4.7%
(2009: 5.3%) per annum. The Group’s remaining bank

borrowings are variable-rate borrowings which carry interest at

an average margin of 0.37% (2009: 0.35%) plus Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) or other relevant interbank

offer rates.

N-ZB—TF=F=+—H KEER
TEEIAEERT(ZETNSF : 227
BEBT)REEFMNEL4TE(ZEE
NE B3E)ETE - AEBERRITRE
BEAZBIEE  H037% (ZTTNE :
0.35%) 2 ¥ 2B B R MBEARITE
¥R B R H AR R TR R B Rt

B o
i
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

In respect of a bank loan with a carrying amount of HK$870.0
million as at 31 March 2009, the Group had obtained from the
lender a one-time waiver on the breach of the interest coverage
ratio for the year ended 31 March 2009 and the consent to
revise the formula for the calculation of the interest coverage
ratio. Consequently, this bank loan was presented as non-
current liability in the consolidated financial statements. During
the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group had voluntarily
repaid the said bank loan.

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group’s bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period approximates their
corresponding fair value.

AR -_ETZNF=A=+—BEEER
8700 BB ETLZRITERME * AN
EREBE_ZTTNF=A=1+—HLF
BZMNEBELR  AEEBRBE AR
"Rt XRBEFFESEEL
RZFESRK - Bt - HRITEFER
FEMBRRPER/IFRDEE - B
ZZE-THE=A=+—HI  x%5H
BRAER FlsRITER -

EERR NBEPR - NEBRITE
EzRmERAEREAFERS -

30. OTHER LIABILITIES 30.Hftt A&
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEBT
Advances from minority shareholders (note) DB 2 Bk (FitEE) 30.4 101.8
Club debentures GfES 859.3 860.2
Obligations under finance leases BB ERIE 1.4 2.3
891.1 964.3
Less: Amount due within one year included under J& : st AREBIBEZ —FA
current liabilities EIHAFRIE 4.7) (18.9)
Amount due after one year — & B HiFRE 886.4 945.4

Note: The amounts represent advances from minority shareholders of
certain subsidiaries to finance operations of those subsidiaries.
Advances from minority shareholders at the end of the reporting
period are amounts aggregating HK$30.4 million (2009:
HK$101.8 million) which bear interest at a fixed rate of 7%
(2009: 7%) per annum and the amount is unsecured and is not
repayable within one year. The remaining balance is non-interest
bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand.

MieE « 2 ERBAL THBARZ LEREER
FrimEaasy - AN ZESHB AR
BB o RIEHIR - DB
REZBFBESEARIVAEEET
(ZZETNF:1018B&EBIT) A
ZREEEMRTI%(ZZETIE : 7%)
FTE  ZEFEAEEARDER—
FREE - B T ERABREE - &K
PR ERERKEHEE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

Club debentures are redeemable: SHESIN T HEEER
2010 2009
—E-TF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBET BEBT
Within 1 year —FR 3.7 17.8
Over 1 year but within 5 years —E EERFA 52.2 58.9
Over 5 years and before 2047 AFR R ZFI+F 2 H 14.2 2.7
In 2047 N_ZTM+F 789.2 780.8
859.3 860.2
These debentures are non-interest bearing, unsecured and WEEHE AR EREER - WETT
are issued to members of the following clubs operated by the THRAREMEE 2 SMNEE
Group:
2010 2009
—E-TF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEEBET BEBT
Discovery Bay Golf Club BRESRAIkE 654.4 650.2
Discovery Bay Marina Club REEEE 61.5 67.5
Discovery Bay Residents Club BRERES 143.4 142.5

859.3 860.2
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

Obligations under finance leases:

BEMEALE
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
BEBAENR BEAEARZRE
2010 2009 2010 2009

—g-25 "TINF -2-BF _TING

HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEEET ABAT BEERT  AEARL

Amounts payable under finance leases: BEREHERNEE

Within one year —FR 1.1 1.2 1.0 1.1
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEFNF(OEEEMT) 0.4 14 0.4 1.2
1.5 2.6 14 2.3

Less: Future finance charges B BERBER (0.1) (0.3)
Present value of lease obligations MEREZRE 14 23
Less: Amount due for settlement B —FREIHEE

within one year (shown under I (BfE

current liabilities) MEBEE) (1.0) (1.1)
Amount due for settlement after one year —FRIBER 2 0.4 1.2

The Group leases certain of its fixtures and equipment under
finance leases. The average lease term is 5 to 7 years. For the
year ended 31 March 2010, the average effective borrowing
rate was ranged from 2% to 5% (2009: 2% to 5%) per annum.
Interest rates are fixed at the contract date. All leases are on a
fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered
into for contingent rental payments.

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group'’s other
liabilities at the end of the reporting period approximates their
corresponding fair values.

AEERBEREHOHEEETERER
R FHHEMALELSF - REE
—E-TF=R=t+—HIFE  F15
EREEFNENF2EESE(ZTF
NE:2EBE5E) - FIRERLHBBET
E o TAMEYABREERAEE I
BRI BBIAEHE 2L -

EERA RNWEPRR AEEEME
Bz REEREREA T ERS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

In April 2005, the Company issued zero coupon convertible
bonds (the “Bonds”) at par in a principal amount of
HK$1,410.0 million maturing on 26 April 2010. Unless
previously redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled,
the Bonds will be redeemed at 128.948% of their principal
amount on the maturity date representing a gross yield of
5.15% per annum calculated on a semi-annual basis.

The Bonds are convertible on or after 6 June 2005 up to and
including 27 March 2010 into fully paid ordinary shares with
a par value of HK$0.25 each of the Company at the initial
conversion price of HK$6.50 per share. The conversion price
was adjusted in accordance with the terms of the offering
circular dated 22 April 2005 to HK$6.35, HK$6.20 and
HK$6.11 per share in August 2006, August 2007 and August
2008, respectively.

The holder has the right to require the Company to redeem the
Bonds on 26 April 2008 and the Company may redeem the
Bonds on or at any time after 26 April 2008 but not less than
seven business days prior to the maturity date of the Bonds.

At initial recognition, the nominal value of the Bonds was split
between the liability component and the equity component,
which represents the fair value of the embedded option to
convert the liability into equity of the Company, amounting to
HK$1,334.9 million and HK$75.1 million respectively. The
effective interest rate of the liability component is 6.73% per
annum.

31. R ESH

R-ZZEZTRFWNA  AQRIEEBERET
AEFELA00BBETZ T —FF
MAZ+RNBEBET SR ES([E
F]) o BRIESLATDALIER - i EE
B BRIEFBRIERELRS
B2 128.948% &l - HERIEFFE
BB SFHBKERD.15% °

BEHFAIR _TTRFNANAHEZIE
BEE_Z-TF=A_ttH(BE%
B) -2 #ifE - Y5 REER6.50
BLEBR AR NREREE2SE T
ZHREBE - HREERRERAS S
EERFMHA T B2 EEREHZIE
o ARIR-TERFNA  ZFFL
FNARZZEZNFN\ARABAER
6.35/87T * 6.2087TN6.1178TT °

FBABRERARRR _ZEZTN\FNH
AZtRBELRES  MARRAR=
TENFHA - HRNARZRERED
EREFIHACESEARED -

RNRHERE - B cmED RRERS
DR ERRS - A E EERAARL
A 2 IRARBRAE 2 A FHE - 25l
R13349B & BT R/SIBEET - &
BERD ZERFANERS6.73E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = —ZF# = A =+—HIFF/F

The movement of the liabilities component of the bonds for the FREHFBEHD 2 ZESWT :
year is as follows:

HK$'M
BEBTT
Liability component at 1 April 2008 REZZEZENFOA—HB2B8EHS 1,585.4
Liability component redeemed and FRERKELRBEES
repurchased during the year (879.0)
Imputed interest expense for the year FRFTAFEREZ 70.9
Liability component at 31 March 2009 RZZEZNF=RA=+—H )52
and 1 April 2009 —ETHEMA—ABESS 7773
Imputed interest expense for the year FREFTAFERE 53.2
Liability component at 31 March 2010 R-E—ZEF=A=+—HZAEH87 830.5
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EThEF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEATT
Current E 830.5 =
Non-current IERED - 7773
830.5 777.3
On 27 March 2010, the right of the holder to convert the Bonds nW= ﬁfﬁiiﬂ —+t+H EBEBEAB
into ordinary shares (the “Conversion Right”) expired pursuant Bk Tm Ik 2 B ([ ) B
to the conditions of the Bonds. No Bonds were converted during BIEESGEEEM - RNFEA - BEES

the year. e o
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At 31 March 2010, the principal amount of the Bonds with a
maturity date on 26 April 2010 amounted to HK$647.0 million
(2009: HK$647.0 million) remained outstanding. No Bonds
redemption and repurchase are made during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Company redeemed
upon exercise of early redemption options by the Bond holders
and repurchased from the market, convertible bonds of total
principal amount of HK$763.0 million for a total consideration
of HK$866.1 million pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Bonds. Details of the redemption and repurchase are as follows:

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

RZE-—ZF=A=+—H0 " 3HBEAR
—T-ZTFEMNAZTRBZEREER
647.0B BB T (ZZEZTNF : 647.08

BAL)EHDAWEE - SIEEFR
FAELEDRERE -

BE_TTNF=A=1T—HILFE "
AR ERIRES 2 R R MG - B
FAATERFERET  XHEMHS
NHaR{E8e6.1 A& BTy hIfEE ME
BIAREHEFR763.0BEETL AR KRE
7 o BEREE 2 FBIT

HK$'M
BEBTT
Carrying value attributable to: AT BIEE(GIREE :
Liability component of the Bonds BEL K EERES
redeemed and repurchased ZBEHD 879.0
Equity component embedded BEiEL K EERES
in the Bonds redeemed and repurchased ZBRARIRIEEL D 40.6
919.6
Consideration paid attributable to: AT ZRIBEGEMRE :
Liability component of the Bonds BEEL & EERES
redeemed and repurchased 2 BfEE D 8479
Equity component embedded in the EEE &ERES
Bonds redeemed and repurchased ZBA xS D 18.2
866.1
53.5
Represented by: REUTHIE :
Gain on repurchase of Bonds (see note 6) BOlES 2 W (RKMEE6) 31.1
Balance of equity component of Bonds S REin il
redeemed and repurchase transferred to Z EfEE KEEES
accumulated profits Z IRREER 7 #E A 22.4
53.5

The directors estimated that the fair value of the liability
component of the Bond at 31 March 2010 to be close to the
redemption price of the Bonds, the final maturity would be due

on 26 April 2010.

EEHHR - —ZEF=-A=+—H
EHZBBEXHP 2 ATFEEOESFE
BfE RRINPEA-_ZT—ZFNA
iy AN =
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

32. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES R2.HtEmARE

The directors consider that the carrying amount of the Group’s
deposits received and other financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period approximates their corresponding fair value due
to the relatively short-term maturity.

Included in other financial liabilities in 2009 was an amount
of HK$0.1 million (2010: nil) represented derivative financial
instruments. Details of the derivative financial instruments are
set out in note 28.

The amounts due to associates are unsecured and non-interest
bearing and have no fixed repayment terms.

EERA ARAKE 2B WIRE RE
& A E 2 B E BAAYEERE - RR
EHR  REFBAEAEREEARA
FERE -

RZZTNF  EteRmeEeRE—%
OlEEBET(ZZ—ZF: 8)e82
PTESMT A - STESR T A ZFFIFE
P EE 28 ©

FEATES S R BRI N 5 B A

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. x4
2010 & 2009
“E-EBER-TTNF
Number
of shares HK$'M
AR BN BEAT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each FRMEEQC.25 B TEMK

Authorised: SETERRAN 2,000,000,000 500.0

Issued and fully paid: BETRBEIRA

At 1 April 2008, RZZEZEN\FMWA—AB -
31 March 2009 —EZNF=A=+—H

and 31 March 2010 RZFE—FTF=A=+—H 1,350,274,367 3975
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company currently has a share option scheme adopted on
3 January 2002 which permits the directors of the Company
to grant options to all directors (including independent non-
executive directors), full-time employees and consultants of the
Company, its subsidiaries and/or its associated companies to
subscribe for shares in the Company. No option has yet been
granted under this scheme.

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes long-term bank loans, short-term bank loans and
other borrowings as disclosed in notes 29 and 30, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a periodic basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

34. (BT 2

ARRRBz - BEREAEN_-FF
“HE-A=HARA  ZETFARTE
EEERAARF ﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬁ@\ﬂ&/ﬁk/\

BERRZMAES (BREBIIFNT
%) zRBESKERRHATREAR
RERND Z BERHE - 1t AT &I BT E
{a] BB RSCHE

35. 84X EmEE

AR B T i TR
% AEEHHAAETEE  WES
{5 7 B A B 48 T R SR
BRAEE - A%EE Y EERAEEEF
BT -

AEE 2 ERRBREEEFRE - EP
BIEMIEE29 K2 30 P R 2 REAIRTT

R EHRTERLREMER ?DF?EE
ERREFEEBURKARFRE AR
s (BREBRITRA - BHEKRF
s Al) o

ARRIEFTERRIEARRE - (FRR
WHz—8n BEFCEREEUALE
BEARZ HRRER *E%Fﬁ%Z@%
AEBERBEBIRMIRE - BITHA
ﬁ%@ﬂxfﬁ%&?‘ﬁ%ﬂ\lﬁiﬁ EIREE
B HEATEEREARRRE -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36.€FTH
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SR T H 2R
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNEF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEBT
Financial assets ERIEE
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) BATER ABR
Held for trading RFEER 128.6 741.7
Held-to-maturity investments FEEEIEE 187.9 455
Derivative financial instruments, at fair value PTESMIT A BAYE 0.1 0.3
Loans and receivables (including cash ER K EWIE (B
and cash equivalents) ReMRE&EEER) 2,652.7 3,007.0
Available-for-sale financial assets, at fair value AEHESREE
BATHE 88.4 108.8
Financial liabilities TRIAE
Derivative financial instruments, at fair value PTESMIT A ZAYE - 0.1
Amortised cost BESHA AN 3,665.3 5,440.1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include held-to-
maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade
receivables, other financial assets, amounts due from
associates, amount due from a jointly controlled entity, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade payables,
deposits received and other financial liabilities, amounts due to
associates, bank loans, other liabilities and convertible bonds
(liability component). Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (interest rate risk,
currency risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

TRl AR EE B R RBER

AEETEZESHTIASEFSEZIHEK
B At ESREE RAFERA
BRzemEE BREZERR  H
e REE - U E R RIFUR - B
—EREZEFERIE  DEBARTF
R RITEHLRE  BENBSERN
BliEe  HtbemAE  BABER
AR - RITER - HhAERAT]AK
B (BERD) - ZFERMTAFEH
MR - 25T ARBRRE
EmSERE (FXER - E8ERNRE
ERRR)  FEERBRARRBDES
R o 2ADRUE % F BB 2 BUR BN T
X BEREEERERZFAR - DA
R A BIETEEE1E
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

Currency risk B E b

The Group does not have significant exposure to foreign BB TIR1THES  HERIEIRE RIRTT
currency risk as majority of the Group’s sales and purchases EETVINEBEETRINEEEE
are denominated in currency which is the functional currency of G REBAIHBEHNEBERST
the respective group entities except for certain bank balances, B2 EMIE - NS B A
held-to-maturity investments and bank borrowings which are BAINETE R R o

denominated in foreign currency, other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities.

The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency EEERNREBINETIEZEER
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as BEZRAMBENT :
follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =i
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-EF —TTNF ZE-BF —_TTNF
Currency HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
B BEBR B8t BEBx BT
US dollar ETT 4,698.3 4,786.2 223.9 154.4
Singapore dollar $IT 5.3 4.7 - =

Others =i 9.5 4.7 - =
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of US dollar
and Singapore dollar.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in the functional currency of the
respective group entities against the relevant foreign currencies.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnels and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. The analysis illustrates the
impact for a 5% weakening of the functional currency of the
respective group entities against the relevant currency and a
positive number below indicates an increase in profit for the
year/exchange reserve (2009: a decrease in loss for the year/
increase in exchange reserve). For a 5% strengthening of the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit for the year/exchange reserve.

Increase in profit/
decrease in loss

BREDH

AEE T EAERTT R TTEL 2N
PEE S5 L2 o

TRANAREHNBBEREER 2D
BEEM L AERIMNEER FTRES%
BRE - 5% RRAETREEABANEE
WINERBATAZHEE X HERE
EBHERAGEE T 2 A IENE - BURE
DMEBREUIMNEHEZ AAREESE
®IHE - WRFRFEELBE A RBRE
K2 5% B8 - THDHEMERESE
B YRR ARRINERES% 2
B TREBRTAFE R E
AEBZEN(ZTTNEF  FABHE
B EREEEN) - MEREEE
BB LEREEHIRG% 2Tt
B RIS eHAREERN ELFEEE
R EEFE -

Increase in
exchange reserve

A, BRI BE 5 R 1E n
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-BF ZTTNF —B-BF —TTNHF
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BHEET \BA88T BEBRT A8ET
US dollar ETT 27.9 36.3 195.8 195.3
Singapore dollar $IT 0.3 0.2 - =

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

EEERS  ANFRERIL R
FRZAR - BERESHILARKE
B ZINERER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank deposits and borrowings and fixed-rate advance
from minority shareholders (see notes 21, 25, 29 and 30 for
details of these deposits and borrowings). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank deposits and borrowings (see notes 21 and 29 for details
of these deposits and borrowings) and mortgage instalment
receivables (see note 21 for the receivables). It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR or
other relevant interbank offer rates arising from the Group’s
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments
at the end of the reporting period. For variable-rate bank
deposits and borrowings and mortgage instalment receivables,
the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability
and asset outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnels and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

AIESEN

REEAZTEBRITERARBEEARD
HRRIRME T ERER(ZEFERRE
EHELRME21 2529 30) 2 A
FEMERR - AEEIVETZBIRIT
BERREB(ZEEFEAREEFBEL2A
PFiEE21 & 29) K FE MR 1E 7 HR (LR (4 3K
HBE2RMF2D) 2 ReRFERR -
BEELZEA RGBT ARER 2K
K UEEREAFEFRER

AREAECREENERABEZINEX
Rz FEHR AN ERDECRARE
BEn c AREzHERMNEERER
STFRBBRITAEFREXIAEELZ
fEEREE 2 A RBRITRENR S X
KE o

BREDH

AT BRE DM RN R & AR IEDT
ETAZNEEBRMEE © gL RT
FR R EE REYIRB D BESRmE -
ZAMIBRNBERARFEZRER
BESBERBEFENATEMRE
IR A SO EER R EREEAE
PR B M) = L B AT R 2 BBURR R - 4R
EEEHN KRR IEEH 7T -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = —ZF# = A =+—HIFF/F

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s:

e  profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 would decrease/
increase by HK$7.5 million (loss for the year ended 31
March 2009: increase/decrease by HK$16.4 million). This
is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings and mortgage
instalment receivables.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased from prior
year due to increase in bank borrowing.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to market price fluctuation through
its investments in both listed and unlisted securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a
diversified portfolio. The level and volatility of the prices of
securities may be affected by general economic and market
conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation
rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including
taxation law), trade barriers, currency exchange controls, and
national and international political circumstances, if applicable.
In addition, the Group has regularly meeting with the fund
managers to review the performance and asset allocation of the
portfolio.

RIS, 5OEESS - TATAR
MR BT - AR

.  ZE_F-TF=A=T—HIF
B2 mMmd,1Em7.68 8%
TT(BREZZETNF=A=+—H
IFEEE 18R 16488
BT c W EEHRRAEEE
FEBRITEE REBIRE » Bt
Z F R R PTER o

AEREEHNA R 2 FREEREFRIR
MERIRITEEEZINPTER

HAu B

AEERER EHRIFLETESRZEKE
mAEMSERRB 2 ER - EEESE
BER D RAEESEEILRR - BHER
IR R R\ R BE X B EE AR A I M Th 35K
MEE - Pl FEREAFIE B
AR~ BB - >£1§‘J"“='% (& a*%
BIED) - BB HFE - Bl -
N2 B K B BR R ﬁ?%ﬁ“(ﬁﬂ;@ﬁﬁ) ° Jit
S AEBETFHRESKEER - i
MEAREMEENK -
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Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to price of securities investments at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective securities investments had
been 5% higher/lower:

profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 would
increase/decrease by HK$6.4 million (loss for the year
ended 31 March 2009 decrease/increase by HK$37.1
million) as a result of the changes in financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss; and

investment valuation reserve would increase/decrease
by HK$4.4 million (2009: increase/decrease by HK$5.4
million) for the Group as a result of the changes in fair
value of available-for-sale financial assets.

The Group’s sensitivity to available-for-sale investments and
held-for-trading investments has not changed significantly
from the prior year.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
and financial guarantees provided by the Group is arising
from:

the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position; and

the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to
financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in
note 39.

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E
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In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from
associates, the Group reviews the recoverable amount at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The exposure to
credit risk is limited.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk in connection with held-
to-maturity investment is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings and corporate with strong
financial position.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are
deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the Group
does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk
over trade receivables. Trade receivables consist of a large
number of customers, spread across diverse industries and
geographical areas.

AEMREREKEERR  AEEEEE
B —X&M - BEEBEREERRE -
SEHERNEMERER - AR
B8 HETASREBRAETTE) © Uhol - A&
EeNREHREHSEERNESER
Z P E SRR - DARECR LN BT W (B BEE
tEL TR RERRE - BUtmE - AR5
BEERA AEEZEERREAER
K -

ShRE A E i N R RS R 2 (E E AR T
5 AKERGZEHRRITKRE S
B LARECRFLT AT UR Bl & BR VE H TE R R
BEE AEEAZZEERBRER -

AEERBEI MR EAX 2 EERR
BR  AARZUFHLERSERT
2 AT REB RN 2 RF] °

BN R ZHH RERR(E BT REE
REEENRZET  WRBERZE
ERBRBR o

FERBESFRREREETRZH
RIRITAMS R ZEERBREFIN - &
SERKE SRR EERRDBINAK
EFRZEITRTEMIBEZER L
WAEERKE SHERL BEEMERSE
RZiEERE o
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Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31 March 2010, the Group has available
unutilised overdraft and bank loan facilities of approximately
HK$5.0 million (2009: HK$19.6 million) and HK$5,136.1
million (2009: HK$2,419.2 million) respectively.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the board of directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management of the Group’s
short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. For non-derivative financial liabilities, the
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows.

In addition, the following table details the Group’s liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual
net cash (inflows) and outflows on derivative instruments that
settle on a net basis. When the amount payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the
projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing
at the end of the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the
Group’s derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider that the
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows of derivatives.

REBES R

REERBESZRERME  AREER
MERFEEERRRENAAEEEER
HESRHERSRRBTE LR R
ReFEBEKYE - EEEERRTE
EZHABER - WHERNA BRI

AEEEBIRTEEESRBESCE
ERR -RN_T-—FF=A=+—8"
AEEFERRHERBERRSHZEX
FRITEFBEDBKS0BEBT(Z
TENF:196BEET) k51361
BEET(ZZTNF 24192B8%
D) ©

EEennPEcRREEAERKE
T REEAKEZES  PHEES
B2 R ESEEFTHEY —EEE
ZREBE SRR EEER o

DNRFIIAREBRIE W E N IR F
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2RMRZEFAH - SRAE IR
BRERIZIPITESHAR - RTE
EMERAEZHER

BAN s TRALEEAREZITES R
TAZRBEENN - REEBRZEH
HEEQUFREELH 2ITAETAZR
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NEBERAEE - MARESEC2E
WEHIRFAELZ AR E PRz R AR
BEINXETE - HREEERREHNB
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A& AKETLEERTAZRBE
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Liquidity and interest risk tables

REBESRFIER@EME

On demand Carrying
and Total amount at
less than undiscounted 31.3.2010
1 year 1-2 2-5 Over cashflows R-ZE-ZF
RERR years years 5 years KEH ZA=t+-8
SR-F -EmE g3t RENE RETEEB ZEEE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEAT BEBT BEAR BE®ET BEAR
2010 “E-%f%
Non-derivative financial liabilities T4 4 RMERE
Trade payables, provision and ENBIER - B
accrued charges RIETER 1785 - - - 1785 1785
Deposits received and other B REAM
financial liabilities cRAR 184.5 - - - 184.5 184.5
Amounts due to associates FERBEARINE 10.0 - - - 10.0 10.0
Bank loans %E TER
—fixed rate ~-E8 35 - - - 35 34
- variable rate %8 164.9 16.9 1,403.9 - 1,585.7 1,567.2
Other liabilities HiafE 35.1 7.1 455 803.5 891.2 891.1
Convertible bonds RRES 834.2 - - - 834.2 830.5
Financial guarantee contracts HBRERAY 153.5 - - - 153.5 -
1,564.2 240 1449.4 8035 38411 3,665.2
2009 “EENE
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfT4&RAE
Trade payables, provision and ERESER
accrued charges BERETER 1336 - - - 1336 1336
Deposits received and other BiRe R
financial liabilities cRAE 1806 - - - 1806 1806
Amounts due to associates ERBEARNIE 22 - - - 2.2 2.2
Bank loans RITER
— fixed rate -8 2.7 - = = 23.7 27
- variable rate -8 1,0233 22.0 2,381.8 - 3427.1 3,359.4
Other liabilities EthBfE 189 1167 50.2 7835 969.3 94.3
Convertible bonds —H‘Z‘fo S5 - 834.2 - - 834.2 7773
Financial guarantee contracts HBEREN 161.6 - - - 161.6 =
1,5439 9729 2,432.0 7835 5,732.3 5,440.1
Derivated-net settlement BREEETASE
Foreign currency swap SN
and forward contracts REHEH 0.1 - - - 01 0.1
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The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting
period.

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contract
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to
settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount
will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

FAIR VALUE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

e the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference to quoted market
bid prices and ask prices respectively;

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices or
rates from observable current market transactions as input;
and

e the fair value of foreign currency forward contracts are
measured using quoted forward exchange rates and
yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching
maturities of the contracts.

BREAAGHTESRABEIETAZS
B RRFEH R B8 EN RS MR
BECHAMNXEHAEZERRELE
) o
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RENEBREREERREEEE
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The consolidated financial statements include holdings in REMBBRBEFREERATEFEZ
unlisted shares which are measured at fair value (note 20). Fair I EHR%D (BH5E20) o AFE TR B
value is provided by independent financial institutions or fund TRIMBESCIBRME - HE—RB
managers. The valuation is generally based on the most recent BHBEREHRZETHE AT HER
financial and market information of the underlying investee or at BESLIBEMZKAIEDS °

cost as advised by the fund manager.

37. ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF 7. RERFAECEEHEREH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS paii]

2010 2009

—E-ZEF ZETNF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEAT BEATT

Bank balances and cash RITHEB AR S 2,055.4 1,903.5

Included in the bank balances and cash at 31 March 2010 R-E—ZTF=A=+—8 - R176%

were bank deposits with maturity within 3 months from the date KIS BEAEBA20043F8BT(=

of placement amounting to approximately HK$2,004.3 million TTNE :1,7859BEBT)R=A
(2009: HK$1,785.9 million). AEH 2 RIT17aR ©

The effective interest rate of the bank balances at 31 March RITEHSN=_E—ZF=A=+—H2

2010 were in the range of 0.01% to 2.38% (2009: 0.01% to ERANEEFFE0O0IEE238E (=

6.52%) per annum. The directors consider the carrying amount TENF:001EE62E) 2 &

of the Group’s bank balances and cash at the end of the N BEFRRBITHEBRKIBSNWED

reporting period approximates their corresponding fair value. A2 BREEEARE AT ERESE -
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38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 March 2010, the Group had pledged property, plant
and equipment with a carrying value of HK$9.1 million (2009:
HK$9.4 million), a property under development of HK$104.9
million (2009: HK$95.3 million) and bank deposits of HK$59.3
million (2009: HK$58.9 million) to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group. The banking facility relating to pledge of
an investment property with a carrying amount of HK$646.4
million at 31 March 2009 has been released. No investment
property was pledged at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2009, Royston Investment Limited and National
Asset Limited, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, had
respectively subordinated an intercompany debt due from one
of their subsidiaries of HK$31.8 million (2010: nil) and HK$26.8
million (2010: HK$35.6 million) respectively to secure certain
general banking facilities granted to the particular subsidiaries.

38.EEEH

RZZE—ZTF=H=+—H ' A&EEER
HES.IBEBIT(ZETNF 9485
BIT) 2% - BEREME - 104988
BIL(ZZETNE : B53BEBT) 2%
BEVEKRNIEEET(ZZTTNF
589BEEBIL) ZIRITHFRE K -
ERBETAKERITEEZER - F R
ERER-_ZETAF=A=+—HKHA
BARCLCABBBILZIREMEZRIT
BMECER - RERPARLEKIFRE
M o

MR-BEAFE=A=+—8 " K272
BB RARIMSEERESRAAK
National Asset Limited L&Y IR ZH B
REIZRED A EIISEEST(ZZ
—ZTF  E)N268EEBT(ZT—F
F:3b6ABEBIL)ERERE  ER
BTZEMNBARZ —RRITEEZE
o

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39.HARAE
2010 2009
—2-2F —TENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEATT
Guarantees given, to the extent of the Group’s ~ LAZNE= EIAR FE L 1 A BR

proportionate share, in respect of banking TIRE R A JERIRTT

facilities granted to an investee company SEED 2 ER 153.5 161.6

R BERZ A FELTEX - B3
BRI TSHELR

No financial guarantee has been recognised as the fair value for
the financial guarantee is insignificant.
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40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

40.8 A< 7R i

2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEBT
Contracted but not provided for in the RAEMBHRERPERL
consolidated financial statement BAREE
— capital expenditure in respect of — BB B Y%
acquisition of investment properties LB A 420.6 =
— capital expenditure in respect of — W IR S e 5%
acquisition of plant and equipment LB A 22.5 30.7
— capital expenditure in respect of —ERIAH
development projects BRI 1,326.8 1,034.1
1,769.9 1,064.8
Authorised but not contracted for in the e EmAPERE
consolidated financial statement BREFEL
— capital expenditure in respect of — B E Y
acquisition of investment properties BRI 48.1 =
— capital expenditure in respect of — B &%
acquisition of plant and equipment BRI 52.2 50.5
— capital expenditure in respect of — 3 RIAH
development projects 2 BAREIE 162.2 558.7
262.5 609.2
2,032.4 1,674.0
In addition, the outstanding capital commitments in respect of o AEEEM AR R Z R HER

the Group’s interest in Dazhongli is disclosed in note 19.

AR M EE 19 KEE -
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41.LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

THE GROUP AS LESSEE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payment under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of land and buildings which fall due

4. AEZH

REBEHFAEA

REHRHPR > AEEREL W REFZ
AAIREE L S E AR A T B S AS
ZARKREEREMNFAFESBMOT -

as follows:
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEABTT
Within one year —FR 28.6 326
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFERF(BIEEREMSE) 36.9 499
Over five years hFE 8.6 4.4
74.1 86.9

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for its office premises and staff quarters. Leases are
negotiated for an average term of two years and rentals are fixed
for an average term of one to two years.

In addition, the Group is committed to leasing land in Singapore
where a hotel is situated for 86 years up to February 2074. The
annual lease payment is at the higher of approximately HK$3.3
million or 5% of the total gross revenue of the hotel.

REHERS IARERERREYR
REIEEENz2ES - HEFHEAT
AERE - FEH—EMFARESTE -

AN - ARE B B AGEE BRI — 18
BIEFRE 2 i - MHARBEF 2 F
tHFEZ—AfEim - BFAME 433
BEBETIEERKEZ 5% AREE
RE) °
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—EF=/A=1—HIFE

THE GROUP AS LESSOR

Property rental income earned from investment properties and
other properties during the year was in aggregate HK$335.0
million (2009: HK$372.3 million), of which HK$329.9 million
(2009: HK$364.9 million) was generated from investment
properties of the Group. Investment properties and other
properties with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$5,331.1
million (2009: HK$5,405.1 million) were held for rental
purposes as at the end of the reporting period. Depreciation
charged for the year in respect of other properties was HK$1.3
million (2009: HK$1.3 million). The properties held have
committed tenants for a period from one to six years. At the end
of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants
for the following future minimum leases payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

REBEHEHEA

&iﬁ%%&ﬁl@%%ﬁ“ﬁmﬁﬁxzmi
HEWAEEA3BOAEET(ZEE
NF 37238 BT)  EH32997
EBET(ZETNF:36498EET)
FREARBEREYRE - REFRBFR ' R
HEAHS53BLIEGEET(ZZZT N
F:5405.1BBABL) 2 REMERE
I TIFERER R - XFERNEH
HiEZTESHAIIBEES (=
TTNF13BBBL)  IFEEYE
HEFABENBEBRE —EFAE - )‘5@%
WK - AREEEE TR
RIET A B A & 4R T 5 23R IJHJ%
ZARRFERSAROT ¢

2010 2009

—F-TF _TTNF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEAT BEAT

Within one year —FN 247.4 244.5
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EZFAF(BREEEMTE) 246.9 223.8
Over five years hFE% 16.7 7.5

511.0 475.8
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42. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

A.

HONG KONG

In order to comply with Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance, a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) with employer’s voluntary contributions has
been established on 1 December 2000.

For the members of the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme, which contribution is matched by the employee.

The amount charged to the profit or loss represents
contributions payable of HK$14.9 million (2009: HK$15.5
million) to the MPF Scheme by the Group at rates specified
in the rules of the schemes less forfeitures of HK$3.5
million (2009: HK$2.2 million) arising from employees
leaving the Group prior to completion of the qualifying
service period.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no forfeited
contributions, which arose upon employees leaving the
retirement benefits schemes and which are available to
reduce the contributions payable in future years (2009:
nil).

PRC AND OVERSEAS

The employees of the Group in PRC and overseas are
members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local governments in relevant
jurisdictions. The Group is required to contribute and
recognise a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligations of
the Group with respect to these schemes are to make
the specified contributions and recognise the respective
retirement pay in accordance with terms set out in the
schemes and relevant jurisdiction requirements.

The total cost charged to the profit or loss in respect of the
above-mentioned schemes in the relevant jurisdictions
amounted to approximately HK$8.9 million (2009: HK$8.9
million).

42 RRE RIS

A

&8

ARE BEIEATRESETENES - A
EEEN_ZEZETF+_A—HRK
S EE BREEFGETIEREEETE
([BFEesrEl]) -

BINARK BRTERFTEI KB 2B
BmME AKRENRIEREZ
5% SR TR S &1 SR - AT HK
TR B B PR RIBARTT

EEHENFTAZEBEATEEIRE
RIESFT R HREMAN Z K
149EEBT(ZZTEZTNSF : 155
BEBT) WRKRE THES BEER
745 B LA 51 B A AN 5 [ PR WL B ER
ZFBEISEEBTL(ZETNF :
22BBAT) °

REHBKR - WARBFHERE TIREZ
FRREFE BIPTR M 2 3K - T
I R AT IR SR B 2 IR SRR
RHIER (ZTTNF : &) ©

F L K2 S

AEETEHREIMER RRIEE A
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND 3. TEMB AR RBE R T
ASSOCIATES
(a) Details of principal subsidiaries incorporated and have their (a) EEAFME IR EEZEE
principal place of operation in Hong Kong are as follows: B ARIFFEAT :
31 March 2010 31 March 2009
“E-ZF=f=1-A I =
Nominal value  Equity interest Nominal value Equity interest
of issued attributable of issued attributable
share capital to the Group share capital to the Group
Name of company BRI FRERE BE&17 AEERE Principal activities
NS RAZER ZIRE RAzEfE LI TEXRE
HK$ % HK$ %
B BAK BT BaALt
Allmedco Group Limited 1,500,000 45,6 1,500,000 45.6¢ Medical and dental

equipment and supplies
BRELTRRERMLER

AmMed Cancer Center (Central) 2 100 2 100 Cancer treatment operator
Limited BIEREEHE

AmMed Hong Kong Limited 10,000 100 10,000 100 Investment holding

REEABRERAT] RERR

AmMed (Hong Kong Island Center) 868 92.17 868 R.17 Cancer treatment operator
Limited BIEREEHE

DbAY Service Limited 2 50* 2 50 Property agency services

WRENEERARAR NERBRS

Discovery Bay Commercial Services 2 50* 2 50* Property leasing
Limited mERS

RS EBZREERAR]

Discovery Bay Enterprises Limited 400,000 50* 400,000 50* Operation of a shipyard
BEms
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
“Z-E5=B=+-A I =
Nominal value  Equity interest Nominal value Equity interest
of issued attributable of issued attributable
share capital to the Group share capital to the Group
Name of company BRI KEEEE B¥T TEEREE Principal activities
NGESH RE2EfE IR BxzEfE JRE - IERK
HK$ % HK$ %
B BAK AL Bt
Discovery Bay Financial Services 2 50* 2 50* Provision of financial
Limited services to first hand
WEENBREERAT purchasers of properties
in Discovery Bay
ARARE-FEX
AR
Discovery Bay Golf Club Limited 2 50* 2 50 Provision of club facilities
%/gﬁm%ﬁ@ﬁ E ? fx\aﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘ﬂ
Discovery Bay Marina Club Limited 2 50* 2 50* Provision of club facilities
ﬁglgﬁéﬁﬁ/&ﬁ E T 1/\5%?&)5@
Discovery Bay Residents Club 2 50* 2 50* Provision of club facilities
Limited Rite ke
WREREEERAT
Discovery Bay Road Tunnel 2 50* 2 50* Road tunnel operation
Company Limited PAEH
WRERERRAR
Discovery Bay Services 2 50* 2 50* Estate management
Management Limited ERER
WREREERERAT
Discovery Bay Transit Services 2 50* 2 50 Provision of bus services
Limited REETRS
WREREREERA
Discovery Bay Transportation 2 50* 2 50 Provision of ferry services
Services Limited RALE SRR

hZEREREARA
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
“2-BF=A=1-H ZEENF=A=1-H
Nominal value  Equity interest Nominal value Equity interest
of issued attributable of issued attributable
share capital to the Group share capital to the Group
Name of company BRI KEEEE B¥T TEEREE Principal activities
yNGES B2 EE IR BxzEfE ZIBE FERE
HK$ % HK$ %
B BAtk BT Bt
Fame Wood Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
HEERAT UESE
Frosmate Company Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding
Bt EARAA BB
Grace Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
EERABRAT NERE
Greenyield Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
AABRAT] NERE
HKR Limited 2 100 2 100 Property management
BARENEERRT NEER
HKR Properties Limited 1,000 100 1,000 100 Investment holding and
BERE (M%) ERAT property development
REFREMEZER
Hagent Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
B RERRAT] NERE
Health & Care Dental Clinic 8,708,433 57.05 8,708,433 57.05 Development and operation
Limited of dental clinic
BRINBKMERAR] TROMBERREE
Health & Care Dental Services 800,000 57.05 800,000 57.05 Provision of dental and
Limited medical services

BRI REAR AR RE TN R ERRS
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
“E-ZF=f=1-H I =
Nominal value  Equity interest Nominal value Equity interest
of issued attributable of issued attributable
share capital to the Group share capital to the Group
Name of company BRI KEEEE B¥T TEEREE Principal activities
yNIES RE2EfE IR BxzEfE ZBE FERE
HK$ % HK$ %
B BAtk AL Bt
Health & Care Group Limited 1,133,334 57.05 1,133,334 57.05 Investment holding and its
EREEEEERAR subsidiaries are engaged
in operation of dental
clinic chain
RERR  MENBLRFE
ESS S P
Healthway Medical Centres 1 100 1 100 Provision of medical
Limited services
ReEETOERAR RAEERE
Hong Kong Health Resort 4 100 4 100 Property investment
Limited NERE
Hong Kong Resort Company 212,950,000.5** 50* 212,950,000.5** 50* Investment holding and
Limited property development
BARXERAA REEREMFER
ImagingMed Central Limited 20 100 20 100 Diagnostic imaging center
HETDEER L
Kellett Healthcare Training 100 57.05 100 57.05 Provision of dental training
Institute Limited Courses
S EREEPLARAR R TRIEIRE
Lam Island Development 2,000,000 99.99 2,000,000 99.99 Property development
Company Limited EE
HEBEERAT]
Lee Wo Company, Limited 300,000 100 300,000 100 Property investment
MAMBRAT NERE
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e M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
“2-2F=A=1-H ZEENF=A=1-H
Nominal value  Equity interest Nominal value Equity interest
of issued attributable of issued attributable
share capital to the Group share capital to the Group
Name of company BRI rEEEE B¥T TEEREE Principal activities
NGESH RE2EfE IR BxzEfE JRE IEXK
HK$ % HK$ %
B BAK BT Bt
Parocka Investments Limited 20 100 20 100 Property development
MEER
Pearl Development Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BEXRARAT] NERE
Qualigenics Medical Limited** 3,000 80 3,000 80 Clinic operator in diabetic
BEREERAT and cardio treatment
FERR R BRI BT
i
Quebostage Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BHARRA NERE
Rich Deal Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding
BRBRAT] REBR
Royston Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding
WREFREGRAT RERR
Scoot Development Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
RERR
TCS Project Management Limited 2 100 2 100 Property development
project management
WERRER R
Wells Estate Services Limited 100,000 100 100,000 100 Estate management
B EREERAR BRER
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e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
“2-FF=A=t-H “EENFZA=T-H
Nominal value  Equity interest Nominal value Equity interest
of issued attributable of issued attributable
share capital to the Group share capital to the Group
Name of company BRI rEEEE B¥T TEEREE Principal activities
yNSES RE2EfE IR BAzEfE JBE FERE
HK$ % HK$ %
B BAtk BT Bt
Wells Property Management 1,000 100 1,000 100 Estate management
Limited BRER
B R ERERAR
Yintaly Construction Company 2 100 2 100 Property investment

Limited
EFEETRARDA

* %

#i#

According to the shareholders’ agreement of Hong Kong
Resort Company Limited (“HKRC”), the Group is able to
control more than half of the voting powers of the board of
directors of HKRC and its subsidiaries.

In addition to 1 ordinary share of par value of HK$0.25
each, 100% in the value of HK$212,950,000 deferred
shares are also held by the Group (see note).

Note: The deferred shares held by the Group are shares
whose shareholders are neither entitled to receive
notices, attend, vote at any general meetings nor
to receive any dividend out of operating profit and
have very limited rights on return of assets of the
companies.

Allmedco Group Limited (“Allmedco”) is classified as a
subsidiary of the Company as it is a 80%-owned subsidiary
of Health & Care Group Limited (“H&C") which in turn
is a 57.05%-owned subsidiary of the Company. The
Company has control over the board of directors of H&C and
Allmedco.

Adoption of Chinese name “ it BB AR A F] " with effect
from 7 April 2009.

* %

#H

VESIE

REFEEXARAR ([HER
) 2R ARERAE
HEBRELRENBARCES
SHRBYHZRTE -

BREFSESKEES B TZ]
R AN - AEEIEE 100%
{81{&212,950,0005% 7T 2 dEEMLD
(MR ©

e - AERERE ZRERD Y
BEEMNBERANZERR
RERPBERAE L&
T REENUEE S E
@ A P Ik 2 AERRLE,
NREEBI AR EERR
ZEBEDBCAER o

B 7 Allmedco Group Limited
([Allmedco)]) BlEREEEES
RAR([MERE])HEH 80% w2
MEBAR  miEfAANA R
B57.05% = 2B AR - i
Allmedcot DR AARA T Z M S
AF o NATEBEEKE Allmedco
ZEESABIEGE

“EThFM AL ARERD
X & [HEBEERAR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

(b) Details of other principal subsidiaries are as follows: (b) EEEWBRARFBLT :
31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Z2-2FZA=+-H ZEENE=R=1-H
Nominal value Nominal value
of issued of issued
Place of share capital/ Equity interest share capital/ Equity interest
incorporation/ Principal registered capital attributable registered capital attributable
registration place of BRARE/ to the Group BE{IRA/ fothe Group
Name of company e,/ operation HMERz TEEEE HitER KEEEE  Principal activities
NZAE ik TERENY HE 2 Hfd JE EERR
% %
Al BAl
Abraham Holdings Limited Liberia Hong Kong Nil 100 il 100 Securities investment
% Bt & & EHRE
Abraham Investment British Virgin Note* Uss§1 100 US$1 100 Securities investment
Holdings Limited Islands i 1%7 151 FHRE
ZREARES
AmMed International Cayman Islands Note** US$179,999.96 100 1S$179,999.9 100 Investment holding and
Corporation Ltd. REHS it 179,999.96 £ 17999996 %7 its subsidiaries are
engaged in operation
of ambulatory cancer
diagnosis and
treatment centers

REZR  MAMEARR
BEEHPH AR

Bathroom & Kitchen Australia Australia A$329,861 100 A$329,361 8370 Marketing of bathroom

Supplies Pty. Ltd. il 2 329,861 &7 39861 AT products
AZRmiER
Beaufort Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Note ** HK$10,197,932 93.28 HK$10,197.932 9328 Investment holding
REHE iR 10,197,932 % 10197932/ RAER

Beautfort International Singapore Singapore $$1,000,000 100 $$1,000,000 100 Investment holding
Hotels (Singapore) PleLtd 0% g 1,000,000 3% 1,000,000%7 RAER

Beaufort Sentosa Singapore Singapore $$43,696,126 93.64 S$43 69,126 9364 Hotel operation
Development Pte Ltd TR TR 43,696,126 %70 4369,126% T BEEE

Broad Base International British Virgin Note * Uss$1 100 USs1 100 Securities investment
Limfed Islands it 157 E0 FHRE
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Z3-BFZf=1-F ZEENE=R=T-H
Nominal value Nominal value
of issued of issued
Place of share capital/ Equity interest share capital/ Equity interest
incorporation/ Principal registered capital attributable registered capital affributable
registration place of BRIRE/ to the Group B¥{TiRA/ tothe Group
Name of company L/ operation Rali-t.va FEEER Hfafz REEREE  Principal activies
Al CEwi TREENY i 2 Hf JhE FERK
% %
Bk BAlt
COW Building Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$5,100,002 100 HK$5,100,002 100 Property investment
REHE Bk 5,100,002 5,100,002 7 IESE
Clarity Aesthetic Center, Philippines Philippines PHP250,000 100 PHP250,000 100 Provision of
Inc. FEE FEE 250,000 250,000 dermatology sevices
FeEfRZ E ot R ERERS
Concord Management Thalland Thailand Baht2,000,000 100 Baht2,000,000 100 Serviced apartment
Co, Lid. %8 7 2,000,000% 2,000,000 %% management
s tEER
D.B. Properties Inc. British Virgin Note** Uss1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
Islands IS 137 %7 RESER
ABERRES
GenRx Holdings Limited British Virgin Note** Uss$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
ENERERAR Islands firzt = 157 17 RER
AREERES
(Great Wisdom Holdings British Virgin Note** Uss1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
Limited Islands iR 17 137 RERR
ABERRES
HK Resort International Cayman Islands Note ** HK$2 100 HKS2 100 Investment holding
Limited FEGE figk 257 25T RERR
HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Lid # Singapore Singapore $$5,000,000 100 $$5,000,000 100 Investment holding
BREEDABRATS il G 5,000,000 5,000,000% 7 RERR
HKR China Limited British Virgin Note ** Uss$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
BEEFPEERAR Islands iR 1£7 %7 RARR

ZRGARES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Z3-BFZf=1-F ZEENE=R=T-H
Nominal value Nominal value
of issued of issued
Place of share capital/ Equity interest share capital/ Equity interest
incorporation/ Principal registered capital attributable registered capital affributable
registration place of BRIRE/ to the Group BE¥{TiRA/ fothe Group
Name of company L/ operation Rali-p.va FEEER Rl YA REERE  Principal activies
NG Crwikd IERENY i 2 Hf JhE FERK
% %
BAk BAlt
HKR Japan Co,, Lid. Japan Japan JPY1,000,000 100 JPY1,000,000 100 Property investment
AR A% 1,000,000A 1,000,0008 VESE
HKRJ Investment Co., Ltd. ¢~ Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 - - Investment
A% A% 10,0008 %E
HKRJ Development Co., Lt~ Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 - - Investment
A% A% 10,0008 %&
HKR Shanghai Limited British Virgin Note ** Us$1 100 Uss1 100 Investment holding
BARE LEARAA Islands firzt = 157 e RERK
EBERREE
HMC Inc. Philippines Philippines PHP10,250,000 100 PHP10,250,000 100 Provision of medical
ez FEE 10,250,000 10,250,000 senvices
FRERZ Fezsz R EER
Hanbright Assets Limited British Virgin Note** Uss$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
Islands IS 147 IE3 RERER
ABERRES
Health & Care (Macau) Dental ~ Macau Macau MOP25,000 57.05 MOP25,000 5705 Operation of dental
Group Limited il i 25,0008 7 25,000 &7 clinic in Macau
ERFEE TR
Healthway Philippines Inc. Philippines Philippines PHP19,137,500 100 PHP19,137,500 100 Investment holding
e FEE 19,137,500 19,137,500 BBk
FRERZ gz
AE2EERAR* PRC PRC U$$22,000,000 100 1S$22,000,000 100 Manufacturing of
e | 22,000,000 %7 22000,000% bathroom products

EERERAm
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Z3-BFZf=1-F ZEENE=R=T-H
Nominal value Nominal value
of issued of issued
Place of share capital/ Equity interest share capital/ Equity interest
incorporation/ Principal registered capital attributable registered capital affributable
registration place of BRIRE/ to the Group B¥{TiRA/ tothe Group
Name of company L/ operation Rali-t.va FEEER Hfafz REEREE  Principal activies
Al ikl IERENY i 2 Hf JhE FERK
% %
Bk BAlt
Impulse Bathroom Products ~ United United £320,000 100 £320,000 100 Marketing of bathroom
Lid. Kingdom Kingdom 320,000 %8 32000058 products
B £ AZRRHER
Mantle Investments Limited British Virgin Note * Uss1 100 US$1 100 Securities investment
Islands iz 147 e FHiRE
ABERRES
Maxbright Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore 81 93.64 S$1 9364 Property holding
AR AR 147 LRI HESE]
National Asset Limited British Virgin Note** Uss1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding and
Islands iR 1£7 E3 is subsidaries are
AREAREE engaged in marketing
of bathroom products
RERER - MANBAR
et
Powerford Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore $$4,500,000 100 S§4,500,000 100 Property development
il R 4,500,000%7 4,500,000 NEER
Prinia Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore $§2 100 82 100 Investment holding
il R PX; ¥ V2 RER
Ruthin Investments Pte Ltd ~ Singapore Singapore §2 100 2 100 Property investment
R R 287 V2 WERE
Sathorn Park Company Limited  Thailand Thailand Baht933,600,000 96.47 Baht933,600,000 9.47  Hotel operation and
28 2 933,600,000 & 933,600,000 %8k owner

BETHBRRE
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
“2-FFZA=1-A ZZENEZA=T-H
Nominal value Nominal value
of issued of issued
Place of share capital/ Equity interest share capitall Equity interest
incorporation/ Principal registered capital attributable registered capital affributable
registration place of BRARE/ to the Group B¥{TiRA/ tothe Group
Narme of company i/ operation Rt FEEER a1 YA REERE  Principal activies
AR CEwil TREENY af R Af JBE IERK
% %
BAM Bt
Spa Botanica Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore $§2 100 82 100 Provision of spa
il R 287 W botanical services
KBRS
B2 (L8 ERERAA®  PRC PRC US$14,000,000 100 US$14,000,000 100 Property investment
e e 14,000,000 %5 14 000000£70 ERE
(L8 ERED PRC PRC US$1,500,000 100 US$1,500,000 100 Property management
BRAR el i 1,500,000 £7 1500000570 and consultancy
Services
WRERRERRS

* %

#i#

These companies are engaged in securities investment
business of the Group and have no specific principal place
of operation.

These companies act as investment holding companies and
have no specific principal place of operation.

“EBEE TG KAMR AR represents the Chinese business
name adopted for use in Hong Kong.

These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises.

Renamed to “HKRI Japan Co., Ltd.” with effect from 14
June 2010.

Renamed to “HKRI Japan Co., Ltd.” with effect from 28
April 2010 and then “HKRJ Development Co., Ltd.” with
effect from 14 June 2010.

* %

##

HERRREAEEZBLHIRE
X% AMREREZLTREE
HoEh

HERRREZER AR A
BRERELZ EBEEM -
[BEAEXTRERAR] BRRE
BERBZPXEFEEHE -

HHERRREINEDRE °

E-Z—ZEFNA+THARES
/4 [HKRI Japan Co., Ltd. | °

BE-_Z—ZFWNA-_+/\BHEE
# AIHKRI Japan Co., Ltd | R E1&
BT SFAATHEARESR
A[HKRJ Development Co., Ltd. ] °
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

(c) Details of principal associates are as follows: (c) EEBEARIFFEBAT ¢

31 March 2010 31 March 2009

Attributable Attributable
interest held interest held
by the Group by the Group
R=Z-ZF RZZTNF
Place of =A=+—-H —A=1+—H
Name of company incorporation KEE REE Principal activities
NSIEL EalllZAvE:ES P PEAL R 25 bR EEXH
% %
BAt Bt
Arrail Group Limited British Virgin Islands —* 53.89* Investment holding and
IRk EER AR RBHBARES its subsidiaries are
engaged in operation of
dental clinic chain
REER - mEHEAR]
Al S iE
TRIZ PR
Discovery Park Hong Kong 50.0 50.0 Property leasing
Commercial BE MERE
Services Limited
AT R IR
BRATR
Discovery Park Hong Kong 50.0 50.0 Provision of financial
Financial BE services to first hand
Services Limited purchasers of Discovery
TSR B TS AR A Park
ARAA =R —F BRI
BT AR TS
Hanison Construction Cayman Islands 49.0 49.0 Construction, property
Holdings Limited =S development, property
RS Bl AR investment and sales of
BRAA] health products

BE - MERER -
NERER
EFEmEE



236 HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /%5 #2€ B R &= E G fR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/ZF

31 March 2010
Attributable
interest held

31 March 2009
Attributable
interest held

by the Group by the Group
R-2—-FF RZZEZNFE
Place of =ZA=+—-H ZA=1+—8H
Name of company incorporation EH REE Principal activities
NCIE EEailiipAvE:kT s FEAL R 25 PR EEXD
% %
BAt Bkt
Polyoung Limited Hong Kong 31.0 31.0 Provision of financial
BRER AR s services to first hand
purchasers of Coastal
Skyline
AEXSH-FER
PR EBTTSARTS
Tung Chung Station Hong Kong 31.0 31.0 Property development
Development BB MEER
Company Limited

* On 5 January 2010, Chinadental Investments Ltd. and
GenRx Holdings Limited, wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company, entered into an agreement to dispose of its entire
interests in Arrail Group Limited (“Arrail”). The transaction
was completed on 5 March 2010. As at 31 March 2009, the
Group held 53.89% interest in Arrail and the directors of the
Company considered that the Group did not have control
over Arrail even though it could influence its operation.
Henceforth Arrail was treated as an associate of the Group.

All of the above principal subsidiaries and associates,
other than Abraham Holdings Limited, Beaufort Holdings
Limited, D.B. Properties Inc., Great Wisdom Holdings
Limited, Hanbright Assets Limited, HKR China Limited, HK
Resort International Limited and HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd,
are held indirectly by the Company.

* RZE-—ZFTF-HAAB-
Chinadental Investments Ltd. &2
GenRx Holdings Limited (¥5 A&7
ARIZEEMB AR ST
ERNHREEBERAR(HEA D)
ZEEER c RGN _E—F
FZARHATK - RZBENF
ZA=+—8 XEEFEIHB
53.89% 2 #t - MARBIEER
RAEERTRINRRELER
R B mEGE - Bt wmR
WARRNEB 2B ERT] o

Bk Abraham Holdings Limited *
Beaufort Holdings Limited ~ D.B.
Properties Inc. » Great Wisdom
Holdings Limited * Hanbright
Assets Limited * HEHEEFHE
[R/27] * HK Resort International
Limited R BB E T RKER A A
Hh - LiFrBEEMB AT REEE
ANRAEBEAAREERFE °
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #t2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFFE

The above tables list the subsidiaries and associates of the
Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries and associates would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Other than club debentures as set out in note 30, no other
loan capital has been issued by any of the subsidiaries.

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, other than balances with related parties as
shown in consolidated statement of financial position, the Group
had significant transactions with related parties as follows:

(A) Transactions with associates of Dr Cha Chi Ming, the
late chairman of the Company, and his issue including

four directors of the Company being discretionary
beneficiaries of certain discretionary trusts where the trusts
have beneficial interests in both the associates and the
Company:

EEZRR - ERAIIREE KB
NCINSE R NCIDEES RN S S
NEEEBTERE EFRA
PRS- FNCIINE L UNCTE
BRITEK e

BRETEE30FTSI 2 E FRE SO - AR
SEMBLREERTEABER
K o

44.FERT S

GEREEERBERATEBEALZE
RIN AT RAKEFNEEEALE
TZEARRS

(A) BARRFIEHEFEBEREL KK
ZIEMBENRRNRRERERE
TRBEEAZRBEEAZRS
HEARBMBEALMARRHEEE

NZddesNg
s PN

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEATT
(i) Transaction with Mingly Corporation (i) £ Mingly Corporation X
Limited and its subsidiaries: HBARIZRS :
Management service fee REEWEZ
received by the Group EEREE 1.2 1.1
Rental income received REEWEZ
by the Group A2 HA 1.6 2.0




238 HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &5 # 2 BB &= E G fR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

(i) The Group entered into an agreement with Cagen for
a term of 3 years effective from 1 April 2007 under
which Cagen was appointed as manager to invest
the Group’s funds jointly with Cagen’s own funds in a
number of hedge funds (“Funds”). Cagen is entitled
to receive for each semi-annual period a basic fee and

for each annual period an incentive fee.

The basic fee and incentive carried fee payable under

the agreement are as follows:

(a) basic fee per semi-annual period equal to 0.5%
of the value of the funds, subject to adjustments
for contributions or withdrawals made during
each preceding 6 month period; and

(b) incentive fee per annum equal to 10% of
the increase in the value of the funds under
management of Cagen, provided that such
payment will be made only if such increase
exceeds an amount equal to the value of the
funds multiplied by the last-quoted 180 days US
Treasury Bill rate plus 1% per annum.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the basic fee
payable by the Group to Cagen amounted to HK$9.0
million (2010: nil). No incentive fee was paid to Cagen

for both years.

The Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Cagen to sell its interest in the
Funds during the year ended 31 March 2010. The
transaction was completed on 6 June 2010 (note 45

(if)).

(ii)

N EH B Cagens] S —E 1
# H-TTLFMNA—AR
RN BER=4 - CagenEZ
EATEENEREA @ LR
@z E4HECagenKHEES
HEKRERZEEHES ([3%
Z£H2]) o Cagen BREFGEE
WER —IEEAE A kT FUE
—IREEA -

BEZWEENZELRBAR
REERWOT :

() BFFZERNERHEER
HeBEZ05%  Alst
REHERT 78 A H3RE A 1R
HZ T ERHEEL

&

(b) BEZREERBESENH
Cagen BB 7 ESNE—
FRINZEBEZ10% @ H
RIBERZILIREBAESE
RE S BET AR
180 HEHEEES B
EM1%FIBHRIEBEZIER
T AgXfte

BHE-_TTNF=A=+—H
LIEFE - AEEER Cagenz
EXRBRAIOBBAT(ZE
—ZF: &) MEFEAL
#17) Cagen [ HEENEF o

REBEZZT—FTF=HA=+—
HIEFE - AEEHE Cagensl
Y EEWHE  NHERZEHR
THIER  RRXHERZ
T—TFNANBER (KT
45(ji)) o
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(B) Transactions with associates and jointly controlled entity of (B) BEAREEBE AT R LRG| E
the Group 25
During the year, the Group had significant transactions RAREFEA - AREBHEEE R E] R
with associates and a jointly controlled entity of the Group HEAZEHEBCEARSHET ¢
as follows:
2010 2009
—2-2F —TENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BESBT

Aggregate transaction value in respect B AR E B[R

of the following transactions entered A (ELRE AR IR

into by the Group with an associate, BRAT]) REH B

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited,  AFETAT

and its subsidiaries: R 2R 511E

— construction service fees —BERSH 147.2 230.7

— renovation service fees —BEFR S 0.1 0.6
Sales of services to an associate [ B N B S AR A 0.1 0.2
Management fee and other operating MEEARBEIC EEE

service fees received from associates N H ARG E 0.2 0.2
Management fee and other operating [F) 2 [F) 428 1) B R

service fees received from a jointly ZEREREM

controlled entity K RIS B 12.7 12.0
Interest income received from associates  A1E & 2 BIURER 2 Fil UL A 0.7 0.9

Carpark rental paid to an associate MEE ARz EESHES 0.3 0.3
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—FF = =+—HI-F/Z

(C) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key

(C) TZEEAEMSE

EERHEMTIEEEKENFALZ

management during the year was as follows: e U
2010 2009
—E-BF —ZEThF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEAT
Short term employee benefits RHEEERET
Fees we 1.9 1.7
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF] 20.8 21.2
Performance related incentive payments — 4&%12% 10.3 12.8
33.0 35.7
Post-employment benefit BEER BB F
Retirement benefits schemes RIREFIFTEIHR
contributions 0.9 09
33.9 36.6

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

(i)  Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Bonds, the
Company has fully redeemed the Bonds in the outstanding
principal amount of HK$647.0 million at 128.948%
including the accrued interest on 26 April 2010 (the
“Maturity Date”) in an aggregate redemption amount of
HK$834,241,980.80 in cash (the “Redemption”). The
redeemed outstanding Bonds were cancelled upon the
Redemption and the de-listing of the Bonds from the Stock
Exchange took effect automatically on the Maturity Date.

EERERTHAR 2 i H

ZEg2EEHE IRR LTSS
DIREETE -

45.2 AR E1E

() WRBEHFZEREGESH - AARE
M-ZE—ZTE A —+x8 (55
B )% 128.948% B @ R 1TFE RS
BEAITOBEEBITL(BEEF
BIzESR BROeEAHEAES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 g2 = F—ZFF = F =+—HIFF/E

On 25 January 2010, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Cagen to sell its remaining
interests in the BC Investment LLC under which the
completion was scheduled to take place before 30 June
2010 provided that the conditions are required to be
satisfied by 30 June 2010 (or such later date as may be
agreed in writing between the parties). The consideration
is calculated by reference to the net asset values, as at 31
December 2009, of the underlying funds into which the
Group’s money has been invested.

On 4 June 2010, a waiver consent was reached between
the Group and Cagen that the conditions relevant to
completion had been fulfilled except for the receipt of the
audited accounts, as at 31 December 2009, of one of the
underlying funds constituting less than 5% of the total
consideration.

The sale and purchase transaction was completed on 9
June 2010 and the Group received a cash consideration of
HK$145.8 million.

On 29 March 2010, an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group had entered into the agreement with an
independent third party to acquire the trust beneficial
interest with a property located in Tokyo in Japan.
The consideration is HK$373.5 million and the trust
beneficial interest had been transferred to the Group upon
completion on 31 May 2010.

(if)

(iii)

RZZE—FTF—A=+HH ' A&
EHiCagens] VEEHZ - HER
BC Investment LLC Z #& Nz @ &
It ZRSEPR T —FF XA
=+ HAITEK - EGRGAER=ZF—
ZFENAZTH(SFTNEFEE
E 1 E 2 BR&BH) AIEK - KB
DN2EREEREZEBESN
TTNFE+_A=+—RHZEEF
B8 -

RIZ—FFANE  AEEE
CagenZXE@MRAEE @ KRIDARWK
FBAAZNO%BREZHP —
REBESBE_ZTTNF+A
=t+t—BzZREZRBI  REE
BTSRRI EZRK ©

EEXZGER_Z—ZFANA
SERK MASED KBRS NKE
1458 BEAT

RZZE—ZF=A-1+NHB &R
Az —HAFEZEEENBARE—F
BB =TTRI M ek o AR
BARRZYMRZEAE S o
RERITBLBEELT  MEFEE
ARG ER_T-TFRAA=1—
B R R E AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 = —ZF# = A =+—HIFF/F

46.INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL 46. 75 N Bl Z BRI TR E R

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information of the Company’s condensed statement of financial
position is as follows:

ARBZERAFBRARERAT -

2010 2009

—E-BF —ETNEF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEBTT

Non-current assets IEmENE E 2,927.6 4,456.0
Current assets MENE E 6,406.2 6,411.1
Current liabilities VIR (3,263.3) (4,298.2)
Net current assets MBNEE FE 3,142.9 2,1129
Non-current liabilities EmEBBE (2,241.8) (3,137.3)
3,828.7 3,431.6

Capital and reserves AR A R (e

Share capital %N 337.5 3375
Reserves G 3,491.2 3,094.1
3,828.7 3,431.6

Profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$478.1 million (2009: HK$624.0
million).

Under the Company Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for
distribution or paying dividends to shareholders subject to the
provisions of its memorandum or articles of association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividends,
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. In accordance with the Company’s
articles of association, dividends can only be distributed out of
the accumulated profits of the Company of HK$1,950.2 million
as at 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$1,518.7 million).

ARNRRBE_T—TF=A=1—
IFEEZSEMNOB4781BEBT (=
TNE : 6240BEBTT) o

uﬁm

BIBEFASHEE 2B RRNEKIELT) -

AR 2R RE DI TR KR
R RREM S - WA ARMABEER
4 N A BMRSCRTARIR - T BBEIREE
RARIBRNEERABERIH2E
%o BIBARRZ AR ERME
BRI EARRAR-E—ZTF=ZA=1+—
HAH1,950288F (=T hF :

1,518.7 B 8A L) 2 A5t M H 5k

H o
1SN
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B FIEEE

RESULTS E 5
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
“2-2F CZITTHNF ZTTN\F CZTTtHFE CZTTRF
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEBAT BEAT BEBAT BEAT
Turnover R 1,839.8 2,593.7 3,429.7 2,636.7 1,293.8
Profit (loss) from operations LB RH (B18) 1,373.7 (253.7) 1,576.7 1,217.0 650.7
Finance costs BIis &R (82.2) (171.2) (193.2) (199.7) (160.7)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR 2 W - - - 580.8 -
Share of results of associates PEBE N AIEE 111.0 179.0 300.2 854 506.1
Share of result of a jointly AMEEREHER
controlled entity E 780.2 03) (34.0) 120 =
Profit (loss) before taxation BREEATE R (B518) 2,182.7 (246.2) 1,649.7 1,695.5 996.1
Taxation I (282.4) 8.6 (383.3) (196.3) (85.0)
Profit (loss) for the year AEE R (BE) 1,900.3 (237.6) 1,266.4 1,499.2 911.1
Attributable to: oI -
Owners of the Company iNGIHEPN 1,841.4 (224.1) 924.8 1,1923 856.3
Minority interests DR R R 58.9 (13.5) 3416 306.9 54.8
Profit (loss) for the year AEE R (BE) 1,900.3 (237.6) 1,266.4 1,499.2 911.1
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION Bt AR R R E R
INFORMATION
At 31 March
R=ZB=+-H
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
ZE-2F —TTNF —TE\F —TTtF C—TTF
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEBAT BEAT BEBAT BEAT
Total assets BERE 18,106.5 17,8489 18,412.1 15,607.1 14,988.6
Total liabilities BEEE (5,356.8) (7,095.8) (7,186.5) (5,631.5) (6,433.7)
Minority interests DR RS (1,114.9)  (1,054.7)  (1,070.7) (723.8) (552.5)
Equity attributable to PiN/NCIEZEPN
owners of the Company FEfhHER 11,634.8 9,6984  10,154.9 9,251.8 8,002.4
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TERYERE

A. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

A FEBRR BRETWH

DEVELOPMENT
Gross floor Expected
area (sq. ft.) Stage of completion  Nature
Descriptions AEEEE completion date of property
BR (EAR) TER R R BHITHA MEME
1. The remaining phases, RIUEL
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island IS &84 T4 5
(a) Yi Pak, Discovery Bay, AU e =8
Lantau Island ==
— Residential — =
— Remaining Phases —BRTEH 357,034 Superstructure 2010-2011  Residential
in progress FE
FETRETH
— Commercial — A% 21,119 Completion of 2010-2011  Commercial
foundation/ EE3
Planning
in progress
SERHE
SEHEITH
— Hotel — BE 269,100 Superstructure 2011 Hotel
in progress i)
LETRERH
— Recreational — &t 48438 Superstructure 2010 Recreational
in progress R4t

FETRRETS
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

Gross floor Expected
area (sq. ft.) Stage of completion  Nature

Descriptions BEEER completion date of property
R (EAR) TR E BHITHRA MEME

(b) Others Hith 512,884 Not yet No definite  Retained for future

(Note) (B3E) commenced plan development
WAE) T BETHE BERREE

2. Plot No. 34, 174 and 257 ZHEA 124,000 Construction 2011 Residential

Soi Attakarnprasit 10120 Sathorn, Soi (site area) under progress FE

Thungmahamek, Sathorn Attakarnprasit (HhAEmETE) TR T

Bangkok 10120 Thungmahamek,

Thailand 34 - 174 & 25757 13t

BizE: MSEBERABEENA7T0R

Note: The Discovery Bay Project has a total site area of approximately
70 million sq. ft. The remaining development area comprises a
total of about 155,573 sq. ft. of gross building area for residential
and commercial development and about 357,311 sq. ft. for
gross building area for recreational development.

. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER
CONSTRUCTION

EFEFR - AN ERLTHBIEEE
SEMEIEH) 155,573 F HRZEER
PIEIRE A - AN EREEELY
357,311 FR 7 REEEEE At

B. 2Pz REW=

Gross floor Expected
area (sq. ft.) Stage of completion  Nature
Descriptions AEEEE completion date of property
R (EHR) TR B BHTHA MEME
3. Commercial Centre, Yi Pak, NI L= — g 49,956 Superstructure 2010 Commercial
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island PEERD in progress [

LETRETS
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

C. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD

C. FARENMHEFERESW

FOR RENTAL PURPOSES A B&
Attributable
Gross floor interest to Category
area (sq. ft.) Nature of the Group of lease
Descriptions HEAEE property AEH Gizh-
R (ERFR) MEME EExz 8
4. 2 houses located at Bijou Hamlet, AU =8 5,392 Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BME2ETREE = FHf
5. 5 houses located at Headland Village, — AELL=E 12,836 Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island 57 SIE R R FE FHj
6. 14 units comprising highrise, lowrise AU =8 20,934 Residential 100% Medium
and duplex apartments located at B 14 (B B0 B BEEERL - F=E ]
Peninsula Village, BEEERER
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island B ERIAARX
7. 3 highrise apartments located at AU g 52 2,361 Residential 100% Medium
Greenvale Village, Discovery Bay, B 3 fRlrm FE BB FE FHj
Lantau Island
8. 42 highrise apartments located at AU g 52 26,652 Residential 100% Medium
Parkridge Village, Discovery Bay, BHRE 42 EmEB % FHj
Lantau Island
9. 6 midrise apartments located AU 52 4522 Residential 100% Medium
at DB Plaza, Discovery Bay, =855 6 (8 B E % ]
Lantau Island
10. 14/F of Century Tower |l and BB FIREE 3,638 Residential 100% Long
Car Parking Space, No. 12.on Level 1, 15t R 15RA A RE 11418 K% = R
Century Tower, Nos. 1 and 1A, L SYNES
Tregunter Path, The Peak, Hong Kong 12835 12555 fu
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

FTEYERE
Attributable
Gross floor interest to Category
area (sq. ft.) Nature of the Group of lease

Descriptions HEAEE property XEH HeE

B (EHER) MEME EEs  E5

11. Flat 2 on 1st Floor, and Car Parking BBEZEETCH 3,000 Residential 100% Long
Space No. 19 and One Roof Space ETAE1B2EE FE RH
Marked “5”, Bowen Mansion, 1958 R [5] KA
7C Bowen Road, Hong Kong

12. 1 highrise apartment located at B/ 218 285 1,036 Residential 100% Medium
Island Resort, 28 Siu Sai Wan Road EEYS 1 EAnEEN fx FHj
Hong Kong

13. 10 highrise apartments located at RERREERI2% 10,223 Residential 100% Medium
Coastal Skyline, 12 Tung Chung EXEF 105 RS £ ol
Waterfront Road, Tung Chung

14. 7 highrise apartments located at FRERE2H 7413 Residential 100% Medium
Tung Chung Crescent, RIEM T (Es BB = FHj
2 Mei Tung Street, Tung Chung

15. 22 highrise apartments located at RERRSERSH 16,051 Residential 100% Medium
Seaview Crescent, 8 Tung Chung BIREN 22 fE= BB EES ol
Waterfront Road, Tung Chung

16. 9 residential units and i ARHAE 35,269 Residential 100% Long
11 car parking spaces of Chelsea, LEmREEELK1038F % R
No. 169 of Lane 1038, Huashan 169 = BEREE — &

Road, Changning District, Shanghai, (OBEEEEMR
the People’s Republic of China INKEEX )

17. 2 highrise apartments located at wREEE 1,438 Residential 50% Medium
Peninsula Village, 2 A= L % FHj
Discovery Bay

18. DIA Palace Il, Sapporo, Japan HZALIE DIA Palace Il 44 593 Residential 100% Freehold

FE KAZERE
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

FEYERE
Attributable
Gross floor interest to Category
area (sq. ft.) Nature of the Group of lease
Descriptions BEREEE property AEE HE
R (EHER) MEME EExz 8l
19. Commercial Centre, Discovery Bay, AU = 180,910 Commercial 50% Medium
Lantau Island EELN [EES FHf
20. Shop 401, Coastline Villa, AU =& 7417 Commercial 50% Medium
Phase IV, Discovery Bay, ENHE s [GES ]
Lantau Island 401 E
21. Commercial Centre, RIE L =& 97,490 Commercial 50% Medium
Yi Pak, Discovery Bay, ZHEREHRDL [GES ]
Lantau Island
22. 22nd Floor, China Merchants Tower, BB ThET 168-2005% 10,800 Commercial 100% Long
Shun Tak Centre, EERL [GES K
168-200 Connaught Road Central, BERAE2E
Hong Kong
23. Commercial Podium, Discovery Park, #1722 465,685 Commercial 50% Medium
398 Castle Peak Road, Tsuen Wan, S1Li3E 398 5% [EES i
New Territories EEsitaEk
24. West Gate Tower, No. 7 hERDE 146,432 Industrial 100%  Medium
Wing Hong Street and KR T HRIBMA 8 R I% ]
8 King Lam Street, Cheung Pzl
Sha Wan, Kowloon
25. Joyce Building, No. 38 B 89,157 Industrial 100% Long
Wong Chuk Hang Road, BRIEME3RR T R
Aberdeen, Hong Kong FEHL
26. CDW Building, 382-392 MASE 982,777 [ndustrial 100% Medium
Castle Peak Road, XIRE27-37% I% FHj
27-37 Mei Wan Street, 511138 382-3925%

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

PEAHAE
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

D. HEFHEZ W=

Attributable
Gross floor interest to Category
area (sq. ft.) Nature of the Group of lease
Descriptions HEREE property biE HE
R (EAFR) MEME FEfLRER %l
27. La Serene, Discovery Bay, AL 1,519 Residential 50% Medium
Lantau Island BSEEER = FH]
28. Neo Horizon, Discovery Bay, AU 791 Residential 50% Medium
Lantau Island SEEE FE FHj
29. Chianti, Discovery Bay, AL 10,022 Residential 50% Medium
Lantau Island S wR F=E ]
OTHER PROPERTIES E. Hftt¥)%
Attributable
Site area interest to
(sq. ft.) Nature of the Group
Descriptions R property AEE
R (EFR) MEME FEf R
30. Lot No. 373RP and 374 in D.D. 352 HTRREL 23,400 Residential 100%
Lantau Island XLE4352 57 Ex — refained for future
New Territories 3T3FERER K 374 5% development
FE-RBERRER
31. Lotnos. 1735, 1737, 1979 and R ME 154,106 Agricultural lots 100%
portions of Lot nos. 1978 and LEXNFEFHEL 17355 « 173757 » (no definite plan)
2012 in Demarcation District no. 91, 1979 %% EX B2 1978 [ 20125 2. B
Fanling, New Territories BB (BEEE)
32. Various lots in Demarcation District AU 150,282 Agricultural lots 50%

No. 363, Sam Pak, Lantau Island

ZAXBAE 3R (AR

(no definite plan)
EHE
(EEEE)
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TEYERE
Attributable
Site area interest to
(sq. ft.) Nature of the Group
Descriptions HEEE property A5E
B (EHER) MERE iy
33. Section B and the remaining portion N 57,935 Agricultural lots 100%
of Lot no. 5, Section A and the HBEY 555 B BX R HREAER « (no definite plan)
remaining portion of Lot no. 65 and 6555 A B K 655 EREX [t B
Lot nos. 61, 66, 67 and 69, Peng Chau ~ 615% + 66%% * 675 % 69%% (EEEEE)
34. Section C and the remaining M 35,266 Agricultural lots 100%
portions of Lot nos. 354 and 346, HIER S 354 5% K (no definite plan)
Peng Chau 3465 CER R BB B
(EEEE)
35. Various Lots in Demarcation District AU 222,592 Golf course 50%
No. 354, Diana Farm, Hang Sui, 477K Diana Farm (completed)
Lantau Island X EXNE 3545 % R BRXRG
(£T)
36. The remaining portion of Lot no. 317 FRA 1,394 Agricultural lots 50%

in Demarcation District no. 132,
Tuen Mun, New Territories

LENF 13257 MR 317 2R

(no definite plan)
B
(E[EEEE)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND INVESTORS’

Board of Directors

28

Chairman Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
*E SRELE
Deputy Chairman & Managing Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
Director ERKEE
BIEFERESALE
Executive Directors Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming
HITES REATE
Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham*
EOAKAE
Mr TANG Moon Wah
HmErt
# Also alternate to Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
tRIBRELLEZEREE

Non-executive Directors

FHTES

Independent Non-executive

Directors

BUFHTES

Audit Committee

BHZEE

Remuneration Committee

¥HzESE

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI
BEEEEE

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson

EHERE

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
RAKFRIE

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
FEERELT

Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry
BxRaEEL

Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
REREL

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
Bl e,

Dr QIN Xiao

REEL

Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry (Chairman)
BREEL(FE)

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI
EffEzE

Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
RERET

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
RAKFRTE

Dr QIN Xiao

FEEL

Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry (Chairman)
BREELT (FE)

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor

ERAEE

Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
REREL

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus

RAKFRIEE

Dr QIN Xiao
FEGL

CALENDAR

NEERRREZEB®

Company Secretary
ARE
Registered Office
=R

Principal Office
IERER

Independent Auditor
BYREE

Principal Bankers
FTEERET

Share Registrars

ktBFECE

Hong Kong
i3

Cayman Islands

HERE

Legal Advisors
EERM

Hong Kong Laws

BRER

Cayman Islands Laws
RERBEE

HKEx Stock Name
Bk G £ 8
Stock Code
R

Website
a3t

Mr LO Tai On
BRLHAE
P.0. Box 309, Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

23/F, China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong

BB T#ET 168-200%:
EEALEBRAE23E

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

&Y o WERRLHAT

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited

B LOEERTARAH

Standard Chartered Bank

BITIRTT

Hang Seng Bank Limited

BERTERAH

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

AP RERELERAA

EBERAERISBHFAMBLITE

1712-1716

Maples Corporate Services Limited

P.0. Box 309, Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

Richards Butler
E{ag &
JSM

FF LT 2RNTT
Kjo, Lee & Yip
mEERMT
Maples and Calder

HKR Int'
BERZER

00480 (shares &{7)

www.hkri.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND INVESTORS’ CALENDAR

RAEREREER®

Investors’ Calendar for Final Dividend

REERZ-RBKE

Closure of Registers
EERNER

Latest Time for Lodgment of Share Transfers
EXRMBF X RE R

Record Date

osad=kl

Payment Date

4=k

Tuesday, 10 August 2010 to

Thursday, 12 August 2010 (both days inclusive)
“T-ZEN\ATH(EHD)RE
“Z-TENATZR(EHM) It (BRMABEEAN)

4:30 p.m. on Monday, 9 August 2010
“T-FF/\ANA(BH-) TFIB=15
Thursday, 12 August 2010
—T-ZFNATZA(EHm)

Thursday, 2 September 2010
“Z-ZFENAZA(EHM)
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www.hkri.com

BFRAZREREERRAT
(RASRSEMR T 2 BERAR)
BT BT 1685151 L AR B AE231E

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,

168 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong




	COVER
	CONTENTS
	COMPANY HISTORY
	HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
	OPERATIONS REVIEW
	HONG KONG
	MAINLAND CHINA
	ASIA
	HEALTHCARE & OTHERS

	BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
	FINANCIAL REVIEW
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
	CORPORATE INFORMATION AND INVESTORS’ CALENDAR
	INSIDE BACK COVER
	BACK COVER



